
UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

______________________
FORM 10-K

SANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED December 31, 2014

OR

£TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the transition period from _____ to _____

Commission file number 001-36001

UCP, Inc.
(Exact Name of Registrant as Specified in Its Charter)

Delaware
(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation)

90-0978085
 (IRS Employer Identification No.)

99 Almaden Boulevard, Suite 400, San Jose, CA 95113

(Address of Principal Executive Offices)

Registrant’s Telephone Number, Including Area Code
(408) 207-9499

Securities Registered Pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

Title of Each Class Name of Each Exchange On Which Registered
Class A Common Stock, Par Value $0.01 New York Stock Exchange

Securities Registered Pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act: None

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined by Rule 405 of the Securities Act.
Yes ¨ No ý
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Act. Yes ¨ No ý
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12
months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes ý No ¨
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, every Interactive Data File required to be submitted and posted
pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§ 232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such
files). Yes ý No ¨
Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is not contained herein, and will not be contained, to the best of registrant’s
knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by reference in Part III of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K.  ¨

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting company. See definition of “large
accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer” and “smaller reporting company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act (check one):

Large accelerated filer Yes ¨ Accelerated filer ý Non-accelerated filer ¨ Smaller reporting company ¨

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12-b of the Act).  Yes ¨ No ý

At June 30, 2014, the aggregate market value of shares of the registrant’s Class A common stock held by non-affiliates of the registrant (based upon the closing sale price of such
shares on the New York Stock Exchange on June 30, 2014) was $76.5 million, which excludes shares of Class A common stock held in treasury and shares held by executive officers,
directors, and stockholders whose ownership exceeds 10% of the registrant’s Class A common stock outstanding at June 30, 2014. This calculation does not reflect a determination that
such persons are deemed to be affiliates for any other purposes.

On March 10, 2015, the registrant had 7,925,161 shares of Class A common stock, $0.01 par value, outstanding.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Portions of the Definitive Proxy Statement for our 2015 Annual Meeting of Stockholders are incorporated by reference into Part III of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.  We
expect to file our Proxy Statement within 120 days after December 31, 2014.

1



ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K
TABLE OF CONTENTS

 

  Page No.
 PART I  
   

Item 1. BUSINESS 4
Item 1A. RISK FACTORS 17
Item 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS 41
Item 2. PROPERTIES 41
Item 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 41
Item 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES 41
   

 PART II  
   

Item 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES
OF EQUITY SECURITIES

41

Item 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA 42
Item 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 44
Item 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISKS 69
Item 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA 71
Item 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE 105
Item 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES 105
Item 9B. OTHER INFORMATION 107
   

 PART III  
   

Item 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS, AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 107
Item 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION 107
Item 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER

MATTERS
107

Item 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTORS' INDEPENDENCE 107
Item 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES 107
   

 PART IV  
   

Item 15. EXHIBITS, AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES 108
   

 SIGNATURES 109

2



SPECIAL NOTE ABOUT FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

We make forward-looking statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K that are subject to risks and uncertainties. These forward-looking statements
include information about possible or assumed future results of our business, financial condition, liquidity, results of operations, plans and objectives. When
we use the words “may,” “might,” “will,” “should,” “expects,” “plans,” “anticipates,” “believes,” “estimates,” “predicts,” “potential” or “continue,” or similar
expressions, we intend to identify forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties that may cause actual results to be
materially different from the results predicted. Factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those indicated in any forward-looking
statement include, but are not limited to:

• economic changes either nationally or in the markets in which we operate, including declines in employment, volatility of mortgage interest rates
and inflation;
 

• downturns in the homebuilding industry, either nationally or in the markets in which we operate;
 

• volatility and uncertainty in the credit markets and broader financial markets;
 

• our future operating results and financial condition;
 

• our business operations;
 

• changes in our business and investment strategy;
 

• availability of land to acquire and our ability to acquire such land on favorable terms or at all;
 

• availability, terms and deployment of capital;
 

• continued or increased disruption in the availability of mortgage financing or the number of foreclosures in our markets;

 
• shortages of, or increased prices, for labor, land or raw materials used in housing construction;

 
• delays in land development or home construction or reduced consumer demand resulting from adverse weather and geological conditions or other

events outside our control;
 

• the cost and availability of insurance and surety bonds;
 

• changes in, or the failure or inability to comply with, governmental laws and regulations;
 

• the timing of receipt of regulatory approvals and the opening of communities;
 

• the degree and nature of our competition;
 

• our leverage and debt service obligations;

• our future operating expenses;

• access to resources to achieve operational efficiencies with revenue growth;

 
• availability of qualified personnel and our ability to retain our key personnel.

The forward-looking statements are based on our beliefs, assumptions and expectations of our future performance, taking into account all information
currently available to us. You should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements. These beliefs, assumptions and expectations can change
as a result of many possible events or factors, not all of which are
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known to us. Some of these factors are described under the caption Risk Factors in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. If a change occurs, our business,
financial condition, liquidity and results of operations may vary materially from those expressed in our forward-looking statements. Any forward-looking
statement speaks only as of the date on which it is made. New risks and uncertainties arise from time to time, and it is impossible for us to predict those events
or how they may affect us. Except as required by law, we are not obligated, and do not intend, to update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as
a result of new information, future events or otherwise.

PART I

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

As used in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, unless the context otherwise requires or indicates, references to “the Company,” “we,” “us,” “our” and
“UCP” refer (1) prior to the July 23, 2013 completion of the initial public offering of Class A common stock, par value $0.01 per share (“Class A common
stock”) of UCP, Inc. (the “IPO”) and related transactions, to UCP, LLC and its consolidated subsidiaries and (2) after our IPO and related transactions, to UCP,
Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries including UCP, LLC.

Our Company

We are a homebuilder and land developer with land acquisition and entitlement expertise in California, Washington State, North Carolina, South
Carolina, and Tennessee. Dustin L. Bogue, our President and Chief Executive Officer, founded our company in 2004. In January 2008, we were acquired by
PICO Holdings, Inc. (“PICO”), a NASDAQ-listed, diversified holding company, which allowed us to pursue opportunities resulting from the residential real
estate downturn. In 2010, we formed Benchmark Communities, LLC (“Benchmark Communities”), our wholly owned homebuilding subsidiary, to design,
construct and sell high quality single-family homes. On July 23, 2013, we completed our IPO. Since our acquisition by PICO, through the completion of our
IPO, we operated as a wholly owned subsidiary of PICO. Subsequent to our IPO, PICO holds a majority of the voting power of UCP, Inc. and of the economic
interests of UCP, LLC, the subsidiary through which we operate our business under the name UCP. As of December 31, 2014, PICO owned 57.2% of the
economic interests of UCP, LLC and UCP, Inc. owned 42.8% of the economic interests of UCP, LLC.

On April 10, 2014, we completed the acquisition of the assets and liabilities of Citizens Homes, Inc. (“Citizens”) used in the purchase of real estate and
the construction and marketing of residential homes in North Carolina, South Carolina and Tennessee, (the "Citizens Acquisition") in order to position us to
expand our operations into markets located in North Carolina, South Carolina and Tennessee. The Citizens Acquisition provides increased scale and
presence in established markets with immediate revenue opportunities through an established backlog. Additional synergies are expected in the areas of
purchasing leverage and integrating the best practices in operational effectiveness.

In California, we primarily operate in the Central Valley area (Fresno and Madera counties), the Monterey Bay area (Monterey County), the South San
Francisco Bay area (Santa Clara and San Benito counties) and in Southern California (Los Angeles, Ventura and Kern counties). In Washington State, we
operate in the Puget Sound area (King, Snohomish, Thurston and Kitsap counties). In North Carolina, South Carolina and Tennessee, our operations are
predominantly in the Raleigh, Charlotte, Myrtle Beach and Nashville markets. We believe that these areas have attractive residential real estate investment
characteristics, such as favorable long-term population demographics, a demand for single-family housing that often exceeds available supply, large and
growing employment bases, and high home affordability levels. We continue to experience significant homebuilding and land development opportunities in
our current markets and are evaluating potential expansion opportunities in other markets that we believe have attractive long-term investment
characteristics.

Our Business Strategy

We actively source, evaluate and acquire land for residential real estate development and homebuilding. For each of our real estate assets, we
periodically analyze ways to maximize value by either (i) building single-family homes and marketing them for sale under our Benchmark Communities
brand, or (ii) completing entitlement work and horizontal infrastructure development and selling lots to third-party homebuilders. We perform this analysis
using a disciplined analytical process, which we believe is a differentiating component of our business strategy.

As of December 31, 2014, we owned or controlled 6,368 lots, providing us with significant lot supply, which we believe will support our business
strategy for a multi-year period. We believe that our sizable inventory of well-located land provides us with a significant opportunity to develop
communities and design, construct, and sell homes under our Benchmark Communities
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brand. While we expect to opportunistically sell select residential lots to third-party homebuilders when we believe that will maximize our returns or lower
our risk, we expect that homebuilding and home sales will constitute our primary means of generating revenue growth for the foreseeable future. As of
December 31, 2014, we had 100 completed homes and 250 homes under construction including 50 model homes, which we believe to be appropriate for our
current growth plans.

When acquiring real estate assets, we focus on seeking maximum long-term risk-adjusted returns. Our underwriting and operating philosophies
emphasize capital preservation, risk identification and mitigation, and risk-adjusted returns. Our operations have resulted in consolidated gross margin
percentages of 17.4%, 23.1% and 26.5% for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012, respectively; and consolidated adjusted gross margin
percentages of 19.0%, 24.7% and 29.0% for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012, respectively. Consolidated adjusted gross margin
percentages are non-U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“U.S. GAAP”) financial measures. For a discussion of consolidated adjusted gross margin
and a reconciliation of these percentages to the most comparable U.S. GAAP financial measure, see “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations” included elsewhere in this report. We seek to mitigate our exposure to market downturns and capitalize on market
upturns through the following key strategies:

• identifying the risks associated with our assets and business, including market, entitlement and environmental risks, and structuring transactions to
minimize the impact of those risks;

• maintaining high quality in our construction activities;
• maintaining a strong balance sheet, using a prudent amount of leverage;
• leveraging our purchasing power and controlling costs;
• attracting highly experienced professionals and encouraging them to maintain a deep understanding and ownership of their respective disciplines;
• maintaining a strong corporate culture that is based on integrity, honesty, transparency, value, quality and excellence; and
• maintaining rigorous supervision over our operations.  

Segments

As a result of the Citizens Acquisition in April 2014, the Company evaluated the ongoing management of its homebuilding and land development
operations to ensure that resources were appropriately allocated to maximize its overall results. Based on this evaluation, the Company has segmented its
operating activities into two geographical regions and currently has homebuilding reportable segments in the West and Southeast and a land development
reportable segment in the West. As such all segment information for fiscal years 2013 and 2012 has been reclassified and is shown under the West
homebuilding and land development reportable segments.

 

Segment State
Homebuilding  
   West California, Washington
   Southeast North Carolina, South Carolina, Tennessee
Land development California, Washington

For a more detailed description of and financial information about our segments, see Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements included
elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Homebuilding Operations

We build homes through our wholly owned homebuilding subsidiary, Benchmark Communities. Benchmark Communities operates under the principle
that “Everything Matters!” This principle underlies all phases of our new home process including planning, construction, sales and customer service. We are
diversified by product offering, which we believe reduces our exposure to any particular market or customer segment. Target home buyers vary by project and
geographic market, in part
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dictated by each particular asset, its location, topography and competitive market positioning, and the amenities of the surrounding area and the community
in which it is located.

We believe our target home buyers look for distinctive new homes; accordingly, we design homes in thoughtful and creative ways to create homes that
we expect buyers will find highly desirable. We seek to accomplish this by collecting and analyzing information about our target home buyers and
incorporating our analysis into new home designs. We source information about target home buyers from our experience selling new homes and through
market research that enables us to identify design preferences that we believe will appeal to our customers. We target diverse buyer segments, including first-
time buyers, first-time move-up buyers, second-time move-up buyers and move-down buyers. Most of our communities target multiple buyer segments,
enabling us to seek increased sales pace and reduce our dependence on any single buyer segment.

We contract with third party architects, engineers and interior designers to assist our experienced internal product development personnel in designing
homes that are intended to reflect our target customers’ tastes and preferences. In addition to identifying desirable design and amenities, this process includes
a rigorous value engineering strategy that allows us to seek efficiencies in the construction process.

                     
Customer Service

We seek to make the home buying experience friendly, effective and efficient. Our integrated quality assurance and customer care functions assign the
same personnel at each community the responsibility for monitoring quality control and managing customer service. As a standard practice, we seek to
communicate with each homeowner multiple times during their first two years of ownership in an effort to ensure satisfaction with their new home.
Additionally, we monitor the effectiveness of our service efforts with third-party surveys that measure our home buyers’ perception of the quality of our
homes and the responsiveness of our customer service. Our customer service program seeks to optimize customer care in terms of availability, response time
and effectiveness, and we believe that it reduces our exposure to future liability claims. We believe that our continuing commitment to quality and customer
service provides a compelling value proposition for prospective home buyers and reduces our exposure to long-term construction defect claims.

Homebuilding, Marketing and Sales Process

We typically develop communities in phases of four to twelve homes based upon projected sales rates. In order to reduce labor and material costs and
administrative inefficiencies in the construction process, we adhere to an “even flow” construction methodology that allows us to standardize the timing of
new home starts. Our even-flow method provides visibility to our material suppliers, vendors and subcontractors, helping them balance their labor and
material needs consistently over time, which we believe results in higher-quality craftsmanship and lower production costs to us. Our even flow method
provides us enhanced visibility, oversight, and control of the production process, and allows us to more effectively manage our working capital accounts.

We routinely monitor and actively manage our even flow production process to align with prevailing and expected future unit absorption trends. In the
event our inventory builds faster than homes are sold, we will typically halt construction when homes are structurally complete, but prior to the selection of
certain amenities, such as flooring and counter tops, until we have entered a sales contract and received a non-refundable customer deposit. This process
allows us to reduce the amount of capital invested in our inventory of homes until homes are under contract for sale and allows buyers to select and
customize certain non-structural elements of the home.

Our sales and marketing process uses extensive advertising and promotional strategies, including Benchmark Communities’ website, community
marketing brochures, and the use of billboards and other roadside signage. Brokerage operations are conducted through our wholly owned subsidiaries in
each state, as follows:  (1) BMC Realty Advisors, Inc. (“BMC Realty”) in California and Washington; (2) Builders BMC, Inc. in North Carolina; (3) BMCH
Tennessee, LLC in Tennessee; and (4) Benchmark Communities, LLC in South Carolina.

.

We typically staff two professional sales personnel at each of our communities. Our in-house sales teams have offices in their respective model complex
and are responsible for selling homes, interfacing with customers between the time a sales contract is executed and the home sale closes, and coordinating
with our escrow management department. Our sales personnel work with potential buyers by demonstrating the functionality and livability of our homes with
floor plans, price information, development and construction timetables, tours of model homes and the selection of amenities. Our sales personnel are
internally
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trained, generally have prior experience selling new homes in their respective markets and are licensed by applicable real estate oversight agencies.

Because we routinely introduce new home designs for most of our markets, model homes are one of our primary sales tools. Depending on the amount
of time we expect it will take to complete sales at a community and the number of different homes we are offering, we typically build between two and ten
model homes. As of December 31, 2014, we owned 37 completed and 13 under construction model homes. Our marketing staff uses interior designers,
architects and color consultants to create model homes designed to appeal to our targeted home buyers. Our models typically include features that are
included in the base price of the particular home model, and options and upgrades that a home buyer may elect to purchase with a price increase. We often
use an on-site design center that offers our customers the opportunity to purchase various options and upgrades and provides additional revenue
opportunities.

      
Home Buyer Financing

The majority of home buyers finance a significant portion of the purchase price of their home with long-term mortgage financing. We assist prospective
purchasers in obtaining mortgage financing by providing referrals to one of our preferred lenders. These are reputable lenders that typically have provided
financing for multiple homes that we have sold. Through our referral process to lenders that have financed homes that we have built, we seek to reduce the
challenges that may be encountered when trying to obtain mortgage financing for homes that are under construction.

Quality Control and Customer Service

We pay particular attention to the product design process and carefully consider quality and choice of materials in order to attempt to eliminate
building deficiencies. The quality and workmanship of the subcontractors we employ are monitored and we make regular inspections and evaluations of our
subcontractors to seek to ensure that our standards are met.

We have quality control and customer service staff who seek to provide a positive experience for each home buyer throughout the pre-sale, sale,
building, closing and post-closing periods. These employees are responsible for providing after sales customer service. Our quality and service initiatives
include taking home buyers on a comprehensive tour of their home prior to closing and using customer survey results to improve our standards of quality and
customer satisfaction.

Warranty Program

We provide a “fit and finish” warranty on our home sales that covers workmanship and materials (2 years in the West operating segment and 1 year in
the Southeast operating segment).  As is customary in the homebuilding industry, our trade partners who build our homes sign contracts with the provision to
provide warranty repairs inside the fit and finish warranty period.

Along with our homeowners receiving warranty information, they also receive important home maintenance guidelines in an effort to help prolong the
durability built into the home, along with minimizing long-term risk that is normally associated with the lack of homeowner maintenance.

The limited warranty covering construction defects is transferable to subsequent buyers not under direct contract with us and requires that home buyers
agree to the conditions, restrictions and procedures set forth in the warranty.  We accrue estimated warranty costs based upon our estimates of the amount we
expect to pay for work under warranty.

There can be no assurance, however, that the terms and limitations of the limited warranty will be effective against claims made by home buyers; that
we will be able to renew our insurance coverage or renew it at reasonable rates; that we will not be liable for damages, the cost of repairs, and/or the expense
of litigation surrounding possible construction defects, soil subsidence or building related claims; or that claims will not arise out of uninsurable events or
circumstances not covered by insurance and not subject to the effective indemnification agreements with our subcontractors.
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Raw Materials

When constructing homes we use various materials and components. It has typically taken us four to six months to construct a home, during which time
we are subject to price fluctuations in raw materials.

Land Development

As a homebuilder and land developer, we are positioned to either build new homes on our lots or to sell our lots to third-party homebuilders. While our
business plan contemplates building new homes on the majority of our lots, we proactively monitor market conditions and our operations allow us to
opportunistically sell a portion of our lots to third-party homebuilders if we believe that will maximize our returns or lower our risk. We believe that our
ability and willingness to opportunistically build on or sell our lots to third-party homebuilders afford us the following important advantages:

• exploit periods of cyclical expansion by building on our lots;

• manage our operating margins and reduce operating income volatility by opportunistically selling lots as operating performance and market
conditions dictate; and

• manage operating risk in periods where we anticipate cyclical contraction by reducing our land supply through lot sales.  

We benefit from the long-standing relationships our executive management team has with key land owners, brokers, lenders, and development and real
estate companies in our markets that have provided us with opportunities to evaluate and privately negotiate acquisitions outside of a broader marketing
process. In addition, we believe that our financial position, positive reputation in our markets among potential land sellers and brokers as a homebuilder and
land developer, as well as track record of acquiring lots since 2008 provide land sellers and brokers confidence that we will consummate transactions in a
highly professional, efficient and transparent manner, which in turn strengthens these relationships for future opportunities. We believe our relationships with
land owners and brokers will continue to provide opportunities to source land acquisitions privately, helping us to maintain a significant pipeline of
opportunities on favorable terms and prices.

The land development process in our markets can be very complex and often requires highly-experienced individuals that can respond to numerous
unforeseen challenges with a high degree of competency and integrity. We actively seek land acquisition opportunities where others might seek to avoid
complexities, as we believe we can add significant value through our expertise in entitlements, re-entitlements, horizontal land planning and development,
and by designing and selling homes to targeted home buyer segments that are attracted to our differentiated new home products.  

Acquisition Process

Our ability to identify, evaluate and acquire land in desirable locations and on favorable terms is critical to our success. We evaluate land
opportunities based on risk-adjusted returns and employ a rigorous due diligence process to identify risks, which we then seek to mitigate.

We leverage our relationships with land owners, brokers, developers and financial institutions, and our history of purchasing land since 2008, to seek
the “first look” at land acquisition opportunities or to evaluate opportunities before they are broadly marketed. We use a variety of transaction structures,
including purchase and option contracts, to maximize our risk-adjusted return, with particular emphasis on reducing our risk, conserving our capital and
accommodating the particular needs of each seller.

We combine our entitlement, land development and homebuilding expertise to increase the flexibility of our business, seek enhanced margins, control
our lot deliveries and maximize returns. Additionally, we believe that the integration of the entitlement, development and homebuilding process allows us to
deliver communities that achieve a high level of customer satisfaction. Our entitlement expertise allows us to add value through the zoning and land
planning process. Our land development entitlement expertise allows us to consider a broader range of land acquisition opportunities from which to seek
superior risk-adjusted returns.
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We selectively evaluate expansion opportunities in our existing markets as well as new markets that we believe have attractive long-term investment
characteristics. These characteristics include, among others, demand for single-family housing that exceeds available supply, historically high single-family
home affordability, well regarded educational systems and institutions, high educational attainment levels, desirable transportation infrastructure, proximity
to major trade corridors, positive employment trends, diverse employment bases and high barriers to the development of residential real estate, such as
geographic or political factors.

Construction Management Services
In addition to homebuilding and land development, with the completion of the Citizens Acquisition, we now provide construction management

services whereby we build homes on behalf of property owners. Generally, the property owners fund all project costs incurred by us to build the homes. We
primarily enter into “cost plus fee” contracts whereby we charge property owners for all project costs plus a negotiated management fee. In the course of
providing construction management services, we routinely subcontract for construction services.
       

Owned and Controlled Lots

As of December 31, 2014, we owned or controlled, pursuant to purchase or option contracts, an aggregate of 6,368 lots. The following table presents
certain information with respect to our owned and controlled lots as of December 31, 2014.
 

 As of December 31, 2014

 Owned  Controlled(1)  Total

West 4,410  469  4,879
Southeast 1,033  456  1,489

Total 5,443  925  6,368

  (1) Controlled lots are those subject to a purchase or option contract.

Our Financing Strategy

We intend to use debt and equity as part of our ongoing financing strategy, coupled with redeployment of cash flows from continuing operations, to
provide us with the financial flexibility to access capital on attractive terms. In that regard, we expect to employ prudent levels of leverage to finance the
acquisition and development of our lots and construction of our homes. As of December 31, 2014, the Company had approximately $134.5 million in loan
commitments, of which approximately $87.3 million was available to us to draw upon.

Our indebtedness is primarily comprised of our 8.5% Senior Notes due 2017, (the "Senior Notes"), project-level secured acquisition, development and
constructions loans. Substantially all of our project debt is guaranteed by UCP, LLC and UCP, Inc. Our board of directors considers a number of factors when
evaluating our level of indebtedness and when making decisions regarding the incurrence of new indebtedness, including the purchase price of assets to be
acquired with debt financing, the estimated market value of our assets and the ability of particular assets, and our Company as a whole, to generate cash flow
to cover the expected debt service. Though we intend to remain prudently capitalized, our charter does not contain a limitation on the amount of debt we
may incur and our board of directors may change our target debt levels at any time without the approval of our stockholders.

We intend to finance future acquisitions and developments with the most advantageous source of capital available to us at the time of the transaction,
which may include a combination of common and preferred equity, secured and unsecured corporate level debt, property-level debt and mortgage financing
and other public, private or bank debt.
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Revenue by Geographic Region

The following table sets forth our revenues and units delivered by geography for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012:

 Year Ended December 31,
 2014  2013  2012

 Sales Revenue  
Units

Delivered  Sales Revenue  
Units

Delivered  Sales Revenue  
Units

Delivered 
Home Sales In thousands    In thousands    In thousands   
West $ 128,334  309  $ 72,511  196  $ 14,060  41
Southeast 27,083  123  —  —  —  —
  Total Home Sales $ 155,417  432  $ 72,511  196  $ 14,060  41
            

Lot Sales            
West 32,513  348  20,215  253  44,066  560
  Total Land Sales $ 32,513  348  $ 20,215  253  $ 44,066  560
            

Other (1)            
Southeast 3,253  n/a  —  n/a  —  n/a
  Total Other 3,253    —    —   
    Total Revenue $ 191,183  780  $ 92,726  449  $ 58,126  601

 

(1) Other revenue relates to construction management services, which began in April 2014 with our Citizens Acquisition.

Government Regulation and Environmental Matters

We are subject to various local, state, and federal statutes, ordinances, rules, and regulations concerning zoning, building design, construction, and
similar matters, including local regulations which impose restrictive zoning and density requirements in order to limit the number of homes that can be built
within the boundaries of a particular locality. In addition, we are subject to registration and filing requirements in connection with the construction,
advertisement, and sale of our communities in certain states and localities in which we operate. We may also be subject to periodic delays or may be
precluded entirely from developing communities due to building moratoriums that could be implemented in the future in the states in which we operate.
Generally, such moratoriums relate to insufficient water or sewerage facilities or inadequate road capacity.

In addition, some state and local governments in markets where we operate have approved, and others may approve, slow-growth, or no-growth
initiatives that could negatively affect the availability of land and building opportunities within those areas. Approval of these initiatives could adversely
affect our ability to build and sell homes in the affected markets and/or could require the satisfaction of additional administrative and regulatory
requirements, which could result in slowing the progress or increasing the costs of our homebuilding operations in these markets. Any such delays or costs
could have a negative effect on our future revenues and earnings.

We are also subject to a variety of local, state, and federal laws and regulations concerning protection of health and the environment. The particular
environmental laws which apply to any given community vary greatly according to the community site, the site’s environmental conditions, and the present
and former uses of the site. These environmental laws may result in delays, may cause us to incur substantial compliance, remediation, and/or other costs; and
prohibit or severely restrict development and homebuilding activity.

Despite our past ability to obtain necessary permits and approvals for our communities, we anticipate that increasingly stringent requirements will be
imposed on developers and homebuilders in the future. Although we cannot predict the effect of these requirements, they could result in time-consuming and
expensive compliance programs and in substantial expenditures,
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which could cause delays and increase our cost of operations. In addition, our ability to obtain or renew permits or approvals and the continued effectiveness
of permits already granted or approvals already obtained is dependent upon many factors, some of which are beyond our control, such as changes in policies,
rules, and regulations and their interpretation and application.

Seasonality

The homebuilding industry generally exhibits seasonality. We have historically experienced, and in the future expect to continue to experience,
variability in our operating results and capital needs on a quarterly basis. Although we enter into home sales contracts throughout the year, a significant
portion of our sales activity takes place during the spring and summer, with the corresponding closings taking place during the fall and winter. Additionally,
our capital needs are typically greater during the spring and summer when we are building homes for delivery later in the year. Accordingly, our revenue may
fluctuate significantly on a quarterly basis, and we must maintain sufficient liquidity to meet short-term operating requirements. As a result of seasonal
variation, our quarterly results of operations and financial position at the end of a particular quarter are not necessarily representative of the results we expect
at year end.

Competition

The homebuilding and land development industry is highly competitive. We compete with numerous large national and regional homebuilding
companies and with smaller local homebuilders and land developers for, among other things, home buyers, financing, desirable land parcels, raw materials
and skilled management and labor resources. We also compete with sales of existing homes and, to a lesser extent, with the rental housing market. Our homes
compete on the basis of design, quality, price and location. In addition to home sales, we sell lots to third-party homebuilders. We compete for land buyers
with other land owners. Our land holdings compete on the basis of quality, market positioning, location and price. The homebuilding and land development
industry has historically been subject to significant volatility. We may be at a competitive disadvantage with regard to certain of our national competitors
whose operations are more geographically diversified than ours, as these competitors may be better able to withstand any future regional downturn in the
housing market.

We compete directly with a number of large national homebuilders such as D. R. Horton Inc., Hovnanian Enterprises, Inc. and Lennar Corporation who
are larger than we are and may have greater financial and operational resources than we do. This may give our competitors an advantage in marketing their
products, securing materials and labor at lower prices and allowing their homes to be delivered to customers more quickly and at more favorable prices. This
competition could reduce our market share and limit our ability to expand our business.

Employees

As of December 31, 2014, we had 173 employees consisting of 33 executive, management or administrative personnel, 93 construction personnel and
47 sales and marketing personnel. Although none of our employees are covered by collective bargaining agreements, certain of the subcontractors engaged
by us are represented by labor unions or are subject to collective bargaining arrangements. We believe that we have good relations with our employees and
subcontractors.

Executive Officers

The executive officers of UCP, Inc. are:

Name  Age  Position
Dustin L. Bogue  40  President, Chief Executive Officer and Director
William J. La Herran  49  Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
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Dustin L. Bogue.    Mr. Bogue has served as our President and Principal Executive Officer since 2008 and, following our IPO, now serves as our
President and Chief Executive Officer and as a member our board of directors. Mr. Bogue was involved with the formation of our predecessor, Union
Community Partners, LLC in 2004. Mr. Bogue was instrumental in Union Community Partners, LLC’s acquisition and entitlement of several communities in
Northern California. In 2008, Union Community Partners, LLC was acquired by PICO and its name was changed to UCP, LLC. Mr. Bogue was instrumental in
creating our subsidiary, Benchmark Communities in 2010, with the goal of creating outstanding communities with exceptional value and sustainability.
Since Union Community Partners, LLC’s inception in 2004, Mr. Bogue has been principally responsible for developing the strategic direction of our
Company and our operations. Prior to joining our Company, Mr. Bogue was a vice president of development and sales at Landcastle Real Estate from 2001 to
2004. From 1999 to 2001, Mr. Bogue worked for Wellington Corporation of Northern California, a subsidiary of Triple Five National Development
Company. At Wellington, Mr. Bogue was a director of land acquisitions and development, managing Wellington’s California real estate portfolio, including
acquisition, disposition and development. Additionally, at Wellington, Mr. Bogue was actively involved in creating two technology start-ups: Bridgewater
Ventures, an early-stage venture capital company, and Cenatek, Inc., a solid-state storage device company where Mr. Bogue served as an executive vice
president.

William J. La Herran.    Mr. La Herran has served as our Chief Financial Officer since 2005 and, following our IPO, continues to serve in the same role
and as our Treasurer. Mr. La Herran has over 29 years of finance experience in a broad array of industries and financing structures. Prior to joining our
Company, Mr. La Herran was the Senior Vice President at United American Bank, a banking start-up located in San Mateo, California from 2004 to 2005.
Prior to working at United American Bank, Mr. La Herran spent more than six years, from 1998 to 2004, in the high technology industry at Deutsche Bank,
Sand Hill Capital and City National Bank. Mr. La Herran spent several years in international banking with Banque National de Paris and Westpac Banking
Corporation. Mr. La Herran was a co-founder and a board member of Envision Schools, Inc., a non-profit charter high school organization in San Francisco,
and was a board member at St. Matthew’s Catholic School in San Mateo. Mr. La Herran received his B.S. in Business from St. Mary’s College in Moraga,
California.

Our Reorganization and our IPO

Historically, we operated our business through UCP, LLC and its subsidiaries, which, prior to our IPO, were indirect wholly owned subsidiaries of
PICO. In anticipation of our IPO, UCP, Inc. was incorporated in the State of Delaware on May 7, 2013, as a wholly owned subsidiary of PICO. The amended
and restated certificate of incorporation of UCP, Inc. authorizes two classes of common stock: Class A common stock and Class B common stock, par value
$0.01 per share (“Class B common stock”). Shares of Class A common stock represent 100% of the economic rights of the holders of all classes of UCP, Inc.'s
common stock. Shares of Class B common stock, which are held exclusively by PICO, are not entitled to any dividends paid by, or rights upon liquidation of,
UCP, Inc. PICO holds 100 shares of Class B common stock of UCP, Inc., providing PICO with no economic rights but entitling PICO, without regard to the
number of shares of Class B common stock held by PICO, to one vote on matters presented to stockholders of UCP, Inc. for each UCP, LLC Series A Unit (as
defined below) held by PICO. Holders of the Company’s Class A common stock and Class B common stock will vote together as a single class on all matters
presented to the Company’s stockholders for their vote or approval, except as otherwise required by applicable law. As of December 31, 2014, PICO held
10,593,000 UCP, LLC Series A Units and 100 shares of Class B common stock, which provided PICO with 57.2% of the aggregate voting power of UCP,
Inc.'s outstanding Class A common stock and Class B common stock, which equals PICO’s economic interest in the Company. PICO effectively has control
over the outcome of votes on all matters requiring approval by the Company’s stockholders. As described in more detail below, each Series A Unit of UCP,
LLC can be exchanged for one share of Class A common stock.

Upon completion of our IPO, UCP, Inc. issued 7,750,000 shares of Class A common stock at a public offering price of $15.00 per share and received
net proceeds of $105.5 million after deducting the underwriting discount and other offering costs. UCP, Inc. invested these net proceeds into UCP, LLC and
acquired UCP, LLC’s newly-issued Series B UCP, LLC Units (as defined below), which represented a 42.3% economic interest in UCP, LLC; PICO, through
its ownership of UCP, LLC Series A Units, held the remaining 57.7% economic interest in UCP, LLC. UCP, Inc. is a holding company, and its sole material
asset is its equity interest in UCP, LLC. The net proceeds of $105.5 million from the IPO were used by UCP, Inc. for acquiring the 42.3% ownership in UCP,
LLC.

In connection with our IPO, UCP, LLC's Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Operating Agreement was amended and restated to,
among other things, designate UCP, Inc. as the sole managing member of UCP, LLC and establish a new series of units (“UCP, LLC Series B Units”), which
are held solely by UCP, Inc., and reclassify PICO's units into 10,593,000 UCP, LLC Series A Units (the “UCP, LLC Series A Units”), which are held solely by
PICO (and its permitted transferees). UCP, Inc. purchased 7,750,000 UCP, LLC Series B Units through its investment in UCP, LLC with the net proceeds from
our IPO. The UCP, LLC Series B Units rank on parity with the UCP, LLC Series A Units as to distribution rights and rights
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upon liquidation, winding up or dissolution. Subsequent to our IPO and related transactions, as the sole managing member of UCP, LLC, UCP, Inc., operates
and controls all of the business and affairs and consolidates the financial results of UCP, LLC and its subsidiaries.

Pursuant to the Second Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Operating Agreement of UCP, LLC, UCP, Inc. has the right to determine
when distributions (other than tax distributions) will be made to the members of UCP, LLC and the amount of any such distributions. If UCP, Inc. authorizes a
distribution, such distribution generally will be made to the members of UCP, LLC pro rata in accordance with their respective percentage interests. During
the year ended December 31, 2014, UCP, LLC made a distribution of $674,000 to PICO toward its tax liability and a pro rata distribution of approximately
$504,000 to UCP, Inc. There were no other distributions by UCP, LLC for the year ended December 31, 2014.

The holders of limited liability company interests in UCP, LLC, including UCP, Inc., generally have to include for purposes of calculating their U.S.
federal, state and local income taxes their allocable share of any taxable income of UCP, LLC. In general, taxable income of UCP, LLC will be allocated to
PICO and UCP, Inc. on a pro rata basis in accordance with their respective percentage interests. However, as a result of certain taxable “built-in gains” in the
assets of UCP, LLC that existed at the time of the IPO which, by statute, must be allocated solely to PICO, UCP, Inc. is expected at times to be allocated a
disproportionately smaller amount of net taxable income and PICO is expected to be allocated a disproportionately larger amount of net taxable income.
UCP, LLC is obligated, subject to available cash, applicable law and contractual restrictions (including limitations imposed by any financing agreements), to
make cash distributions, which we refer to as “tax distributions,” based on certain assumptions (including a combined federal, state and local tax rate of 41%
(or such other rate determined by UCP, Inc. to be the highest marginal effective rate of federal, state and local income tax applicable to corporations doing
business in California or such other jurisdiction in which UCP, LLC is doing business)), to its members (including UCP, Inc.). Generally, these tax
distributions will be pro rata in accordance with the respective percentage interests of PICO and UCP, Inc. and will be in an amount sufficient to allow PICO
and UCP, Inc. to pay taxes on their allocable shares of the taxable income of UCP, LLC. If, however, there is insufficient cash to make pro rata tax
distributions to PICO and UCP, Inc. in an amount that would allow PICO and UCP, Inc. to pay taxes on their allocable shares of the taxable income of UCP,
LLC, PICO and UCP, Inc. would receive distributions in proportion to their respective tax liabilities based upon their allocable shares of UCP, LLC’s taxable
income. It is expected in that case that PICO would receive a larger proportional distribution than UCP, Inc. would receive and, in some cases (for instance if
all of the taxable income is allocable to PICO), UCP, Inc. could receive no tax distributions. In any case in which UCP, Inc. received a smaller proportional
distribution than PICO, UCP, LLC would have an obligation to make future distributions to UCP, Inc. to eliminate the difference as soon as funds become
available and UCP, LLC would be required to pay interest to UCP, Inc. at a prevailing market rate on such difference.

As a result of the potential differences in the amount of net taxable income allocable to UCP, Inc. and to PICO described above, it is expected that
UCP, Inc. will receive tax distributions significantly in excess of UCP, Inc.’s tax liabilities and obligations to make payments under the tax receivable
agreement (as described below). To the extent, as currently expected, UCP, Inc. does not distribute such cash balances as dividends on our Class A common
stock and instead, for example, holds such cash balances or lends them to UCP, LLC, PICO would benefit from any value attributable to such accumulated
cash balances as a result of its ownership of our Class A common stock following an exchange of its UCP, LLC Series A Units (including any exchange upon
an acquisition of UCP, Inc.).
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The diagram below depicts our organizational structure immediately following our IPO:

 

  
(1) Excludes Class A restricted stock units ("RSUs") and Stock Options ("Options") granted to the members of our management team, other officers and

employees and our directors pursuant to our 2013 Long-Term Incentive Plan.

(2) We carry out our business generally through a number of operating subsidiaries and project-specific subsidiaries that are directly or indirectly wholly
owned by UCP, LLC.  Benchmark Communities, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, is our wholly owned general contractor subsidiary in all
states except North Carolina.  Benchmark Builders North Carolina, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, is our wholly owned general contractor
subsidiary in North Carolina.  BMC Realty Advisors, Inc., a California corporation, is our wholly-owned subsidiary through which we conduct real estate
brokerage activities relating to our business in California and Washington.  Builders BMC, Inc., a Delaware corporation, is our wholly-owned subsidiary
through which we conduct real estate brokerage activities relating to our business in North Carolina.  BMCH Tennessee, LLC, a Delaware limited
liability company, is our wholly-owned subsidiary through which we conduct real estate brokerage activities relating to our business in Tennessee. 
Benchmark Communities, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, is our wholly-owned subsidiary through which we conduct real estate brokerage
activities relating to our business in South Carolina. 
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Exchange Agreement

In connection with our IPO, UCP, Inc. entered into an Exchange Agreement, pursuant to which PICO (and its permitted transferees) have the right to
cause UCP, Inc. to exchange PICO's UCP, LLC Series A Units for shares of UCP, Inc. Class A common stock on a one-for-one basis, subject to equitable
adjustments for stock splits, stock dividends and reclassifications. As of December 31, 2014, giving effect to the Class A common stock that the Company
would issue if PICO were to elect to exchange all of its UCP, LLC Series A Units for shares of Class A common stock, the Company would have 18,515,216
shares of Class A common stock outstanding. Any UCP, LLC Series A Units being exchanged will be reclassified as UCP, LLC Series B Units in connection
with such exchange. Exchanges by PICO of its UCP, LLC Series A Units for shares of UCP, Inc. Class A common stock are expected to result, with respect to
UCP, Inc., in increases in the tax basis of the assets of UCP, LLC that otherwise would not have been available. These increases in tax basis may reduce the
amount of tax that UCP, Inc. would otherwise be required to pay in the future. These increases in tax basis may also decrease gains (or increase losses) on
future dispositions of certain assets to the extent tax basis is allocated to those assets.

Tax Receivable Agreement

In connection with our IPO, the Company entered into a tax receivable agreement (“TRA”) with PICO. When PICO sells or exchanges its UCP, LLC
Series A Units for shares of the Company’s Class A common stock, such a sale or exchange by PICO would result in an adjustment to the tax basis of the
assets owned by UCP, LLC at the time of an exchange. An increase in tax basis is expected to increase the Company's depreciation and amortization income
tax deductions and create other tax benefits and therefore may reduce the amount of income tax that the Company would otherwise be required to pay in the
future. Under the TRA, the Company generally is required to pay to PICO 85% of the applicable cash savings in U.S. federal and state income tax that the
Company actually realizes (or is deemed to realize in certain circumstances) as a result of sales or exchanges of the UCP, LLC Series A Units held by PICO for
shares of Class A common stock, leaving the Company with 15% of the benefits of the tax savings. Cash savings in income tax will be computed by
comparing the Company’s actual income tax liability to the amount of income taxes that the Company would have been required to pay had there been no
increase in the tax basis of the tangible and intangible assets of UCP, LLC as a result of the exchanges. If the Company would not have reported taxable
income in a given year had there been no increase in the tax basis of assets as a result of the exchanges, no payment under the TRA for that taxable year is
required because no tax savings will have been realized.

As of December 31, 2014, PICO has not exchanged any of its UCP, LLC Series A Units. Estimating the amount of future payments to be made under
the TRA cannot be done reliably at this time because any increase in tax basis, as well as the amount and timing of any payments, will vary depending on a
number of factors, including:

• the timing of any exchanges of UCP, LLC Series A Units for shares of the Company’s Class A common stock by PICO, as the increase in any tax
deductions will vary depending on the allocation of fair market value to the assets of UCP, LLC at the time of any such exchanges, and this value
allocation may fluctuate over time;

• the price of the Company’s Class A common stock at the time of any exchanges of UCP, LLC Series A Units for shares of the Company’s Class A
common stock (since the increase in the Company’s share of the basis in the assets of UCP, LLC, as well as the corresponding increase in any tax
deductions, will be related to the price of the Company’s Class A common stock at the time of any such exchanges);

• the tax rates in effect at the time the Company uses the increased amortization and depreciation deductions or realize other tax benefits; and
• the amount, character and timing of the Company’s taxable income.

The effects of the TRA on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet if PICO elects to exchange all or a portion of its UCP, LLC Series A Units for the
Company’s Class A common stock are expected to be as follows:

• an increase in deferred tax assets for the estimated income tax effects of the increase in the tax basis of the assets owned by UCP, LLC based on
enacted federal, state and local income tax rates at the date of the relevant transaction. To the extent the Company believes that it is more likely than
not that the Company will not realize the full tax benefit represented by the deferred tax asset, the Company will reduce the deferred tax asset with a
valuation allowance;
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• the Company may record 85% of the applicable cash tax savings in U.S. federal and state income taxes resulting from the increase in the tax basis of
the UCP, LLC Series A Units and certain other tax benefits related to entering into the TRA, including tax benefits attributable to payments under
the TRA as an increase in a payable due to PICO; and

• an increase to additional paid-in capital equal to the difference between the increase in deferred tax assets and the increase in the liability due to
PICO.

The Company has the right to terminate the TRA at any time. In addition, the TRA will terminate early if the Company breaches obligations under the
TRA or upon certain mergers, asset sales, other forms of business combinations or other changes of control. In either case, the Company’s payment
obligations under the TRA would be accelerated and would become due and payable based on certain assumptions, including that (a) all the UCP, LLC
Series A Units are deemed exchanged for their fair value, (b) the Company would have sufficient taxable income to fully utilize the deductions arising from
the increased tax deductions and tax basis and (c) the subsidiaries of UCP, LLC will sell certain non-amortizable assets (and realize certain related tax
benefits) no later than a specified date. In each of these instances, the Company would be required to make an immediate payment to PICO equal to the
present value of the anticipated future tax benefits (discounted over the applicable amortization and depreciation periods for the assets the tax bases of which
are stepped up (which could be as long as fifteen years in respect of intangibles and goodwill) at a discount rate equal to LIBOR plus 100 basis points). The
benefits would be payable even though, in certain circumstances, no UCP, LLC Series A Units are actually exchanged at the time of the accelerated payment
under the TRA, thereby resulting in no corresponding tax basis step up at the time of such accelerated payment under the TRA.

Transition Services Agreement and Investor Rights Agreement

UCP, Inc. also entered into a Transition Services Agreement with PICO, pursuant to which PICO provides certain services to UCP, Inc., including,
among other things, accounting, human resources and information technology services. The initial term of the Transition Services Agreement expired on July
23, 2014 after which we exercised the right to renew for two ninety day periods. These renewal terms expired on January 23, 2015 and the agreement will now
continue on a month-to-month basis until cancelled by us upon thirty days prior written notice or by PICO upon sixty days prior written notice. As of
December 31, 2014, we were mainly receiving human resources services under the TSA.

Additionally, pursuant to an Investor Rights Agreement that UCP, Inc. entered into with PICO in connection with our IPO, PICO has the right to
nominate two individuals for election to UCP, Inc.'s board of directors for as long as PICO owns 25% or more of the combined voting power of UCP, Inc.'s
outstanding Class A and Class B common stock and one individual for as long as it owns at least 10% (in each case, excluding shares of any of UCP, Inc.'s
common stock that are subject to issuance upon the exercise or exchange of rights of conversion or any options, warrants or other rights to acquire shares).
However, the Investor Rights Agreement does not entitle PICO to nominate individuals for election to UCP, Inc.'s board of directors if their election would
result in PICO nominees comprising more than two of UCP, Inc.'s directors (for as long as PICO owns 25% or more of the combined voting power of UCP,
Inc.'s outstanding Class A and Class B common stock) or one of UCP, Inc.'s directors (for as long as PICO owns at least 10% of the combined voting power of
UCP, Inc.'s outstanding Class A and Class B common stock).

Corporate Information
Our principal executive offices are located at 99 Almaden Boulevard, Suite 400, San Jose, California 95113. Our telephone number is (408) 207-9499.

Our website is located at www.unioncommunityllc.com. Our homebuilding subsidiary, Benchmark Communities, also maintains an Internet website at
www.benchmarkcommunities.com. The information that is found on or accessible through our websites is not incorporated into, and does not form a part of
this Annual Report on Form 10-K or any other report or document that we file with or furnish to the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC"). We
have included our website addresses in this Annual Report on Form 10-K as an inactive textual reference and do not intend it to be an active link to our
websites.

We make available on our website, free of charge, our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K
and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange
Act") as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such material with, or furnish it to, the SEC. We also make our Code of Business Conduct
and Ethics for our directors, officers and employees available on our website on the Corporate Governance page under the Investor Relations section of our
website.

This Annual Report on Form 10-K and other reports filed with the SEC can be read or copied at the SEC's Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, NE,
Washington, D.C. 20549. Information on the operation of the Public Reference Room can be obtained by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. The SEC
maintains a website that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other information regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC; the
website address is www.sec.gov
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ITEM 1A.  RISK FACTORS

Set forth below are the risks that we believe are material to our investors. You should carefully consider the following risks and the other matters in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K and incorporated herein by reference in evaluating our business and prospects. The occurrence of any of the following risks
could materially adversely impact our financial condition, results of operations, cash flow, liquidity, the market price of our Class A common stock and our
ability to achieve our objectives, which in turn could cause our stockholders to lose all or part of their investment. Some statements in this report including
statements in the following risk factors constitute forward-looking statements. Please refer to the section entitled “Special Note about Forward -Looking
Statements” elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Material factors that may adversely affect our business, operations and financial condition are summarized below. See “Special Note About
Forward-Looking Statements.”

Risks Related to Our Business

Our long-term growth depends, in part, upon our ability to successfully identify and acquire desirable land parcels for residential buildout, which may
become limited due to a variety of factors.

Our future growth depends, in part, upon our ability to successfully identify and acquire attractive land parcels in geographic areas in which we
operate for development of single-family homes at reasonable prices, either by ourselves, through Benchmark Communities, or by our third-party
homebuilder customers. Our ability to acquire land parcels for new single-family homes may be adversely affected by changes in the general availability of
land parcels, the willingness of land sellers to sell land parcels at reasonable prices, competition for available land parcels, availability of financing to acquire
land parcels, zoning and other market conditions. If the supply of land parcels appropriate for development of single-family homes is limited because of these
factors, or for any other reason, our ability to grow could be significantly limited, and our revenue and gross margin could decline. To the extent that we are
unable to purchase land parcels or enter into new contracts or options for the purchase of land parcels at reasonable prices, our revenue and results of
operations could be negatively impacted.

Our industry is cyclical and adverse changes in general and local economic conditions could reduce the demand for homes and, as a result, could have
a material adverse effect on us.

The residential homebuilding industry is cyclical and is highly sensitive to changes in general economic conditions, such as levels of employment,
consumer confidence and income, availability and cost of financing for acquisitions, construction and mortgages, interest rate levels, inflation and demand
for housing. The health of the residential homebuilding industry may also be significantly affected by “shadow inventory” levels during recessionary and
recovery periods.

“Shadow inventory” refers to the number of homes with mortgages that are in some form of distress but that have not yet been listed for sale. Shadow
inventory can occur when lenders put properties that have been foreclosed or forfeited to lenders or available for short sale (i.e. potentially available for sale
for an amount that is less than the unpaid principal balance on a related mortgage loan) on the market gradually, rather than all at once, or delay the
foreclosure process. A significant shadow inventory in our markets could, were it to be released, adversely impact home and land prices and demand for our
homes and land, which would have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, liquidity, financial condition and results of operations. In addition,
an important segment of our end-purchaser and customer base consists of first-time and second-time “move-up” buyers, the latter often purchase homes
subject to contingencies related to the sale of their existing homes. The difficulties facing these buyers in selling their homes during recessionary periods
may adversely affect our sales. Moreover, during such periods, we may need to reduce our sales prices and offer greater incentives to buyers to compete for
sales, and that may result in reduced margins.

Our long-term growth depends, in part, upon our ability to acquire undeveloped land suitable for residential homebuilding at reasonable prices.

The availability of partially finished developed lots and undeveloped land for purchase at reasonable prices depends on a number of factors outside
our control, including land availability in general, competition with other homebuilders and land buyers, inflation in land prices, zoning, allowable housing
density, the ability to obtain building permits and other regulatory requirements. Should suitable lots or land become less available, the number of homes we
may be able to build and sell could be reduced, and the cost of land could be increased, perhaps substantially, which could adversely impact us. As
competition for
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suitable land increases, the cost of acquiring partially finished developed lots and undeveloped lots and the cost of developing owned land could rise and the
availability of suitable land at acceptable prices may decline, which could adversely impact us. The availability of suitable land assets could also affect the
success of our land acquisition strategy, which may impact our ability to increase the number of actively selling communities, grow our revenue and margins,
and achieve or maintain profitability. Additionally, developing undeveloped land is capital intensive and time consuming. It is possible that we may
develop land based upon forecasts and assumptions that prove to be inaccurate, resulting in projects that are not economically viable.

Because of the seasonal nature of our business our quarterly operating results fluctuate.

We have experienced seasonal fluctuations in our quarterly operating results and capital requirements that can have a material impact on our results
and our consolidated financial statements. We typically experience the highest new home order activity in spring and summer, although this activity is also
highly dependent on the number of active selling communities, timing of new community openings and other market factors. Since it typically takes four to
six months to construct a new home, we deliver more homes in the second half of the year as spring and summer home orders convert to home deliveries.
Because of this seasonality, home starts, construction costs and related cash outflows have historically been highest in the second and third quarters, and the
majority of cash receipts from home deliveries occur during the second half of the year. We expect this seasonal pattern to continue over the long‑term,
although it may be affected by volatility in the homebuilding industry. In a recovering housing market, we expect the traditional seasonality and its impact
on our results of operations would become more pronounced. This seasonality requires us to finance our construction activities significantly in advance of
the receipt of sales proceeds. Accordingly, there is a risk that we will invest significant amounts of capital in the acquisition and development of land and
construction of homes that we do not sell at anticipated pricing levels or within anticipated time frames. If, due to market conditions, construction delays or
other causes, we do not complete home sales at anticipated pricing levels or within anticipated time frames, our liquidity, financial condition and results of
operations would be adversely affected.

If the market value of our land inventory decreases, our results of operations could be adversely affected by impairments and write-downs.

The market value of our land and housing inventories depends on market conditions. We acquire land for expansion into new markets and for
replacement of land inventory and expansion within our current markets. There is a risk that the value of the land owned by us may decline after purchase.
The valuation of property is inherently subjective and based on the individual characteristics of each property. We may have acquired options on or bought
and developed land at a cost we will not be able to recover fully or on which we cannot build and sell homes profitably. In addition, our deposits for lots
controlled under purchase, option or similar contracts may be put at risk.

Factors such as changes in regulatory requirements and applicable laws (including in relation to building regulations, taxation and planning),
political conditions, the condition of financial markets, both local and national economic conditions, the financial condition of customers, potentially
adverse tax consequences, and interest and inflation rate fluctuations subject land valuations to uncertainty. Moreover, our valuations are made on the basis
of assumptions, including assumptions relating to economic conditions and demographics, that may prove to be inaccurate. If housing demand fails to meet
our expectations when we acquired our inventory, our profitability may be adversely affected and we may not be able to recover our costs when we sell
homes that we build or land that we own.

We regularly review the value of our land holdings and continue to review our holdings on a periodic basis. Material write-downs and impairments
in the value of our inventory may be required, and we may in the future sell land or homes at a loss, which could adversely affect our results of operations and
financial condition.

The homebuilding industry is highly competitive, and if our competitors are more successful or offer better value to our customers our business could
decline.

We operate in a very competitive environment which is characterized by competition from a number of other homebuilders and land developers in
each of the markets in which we operate. Additionally, there are relatively low barriers to entry into our business and new competitors arise from time to time.
We compete with numerous large national and regional homebuilding companies and with smaller local homebuilders and land developers for, among other
things, home buyers, desirable land parcels, financing, raw materials and skilled management and labor resources. Our competitors may develop land and
construct housing units that are superior or substantially similar to our products, which could make our products less attractive to consumers.
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We may be at a competitive disadvantage with regard to certain of our large national and regional homebuilding competitors whose operations are
more geographically diversified than ours, as these competitors may be better able to withstand any future regional downturn in the housing market. Many of
these competitors have longer operating histories and greater financial and operational resources than we do. Additionally, many of these competitors also
have longstanding relationships with subcontractors and suppliers in the markets in which we operate. This may give our competitors an advantage in
marketing their products, securing materials and labor at lower prices and allowing their homes to be delivered to customers more quickly and at more
favorable prices. This competition could reduce our market share and limit our ability to expand our business.

Increased competition could hurt our business, as it could prevent us from acquiring attractive land parcels on which to build homes or make such
acquisitions more expensive, adversely affect our market share and cause us to increase our selling incentives and reduce our prices. An oversupply of homes
available for sale or discounting of home prices could adversely affect pricing for homes in the markets in which we operate. Oversupply and price
discounting can be exacerbated by supply from the resale, or “previously owned,” home market, with which we also compete. Oversupply and price
discounting have periodically adversely affected certain markets, and it is possible that our markets will be adversely affected by these factors in the future. If
we are unable to compete effectively in our markets, our business could decline disproportionately to our competitors, and our results of operations and
financial condition could be adversely affected.

If home buyers are not able to obtain suitable mortgage financing, due to more stringent lending standards, rising interest rates, changes in
regulation, reduced investor demand for mortgage loans and mortgage backed securities, changes in the relationship between Fannie Mae and
Freddie Mac and the federal government or other reasons, our results of operations may decline.

A majority of home buyers finance their home purchases through lenders that provide mortgage financing. Although there has been some
improvement amid a general lift in housing prices over the recent years, the availability of mortgage financing remains constrained, due in part to lower
mortgage valuations on properties, various regulatory changes and lower risk appetite by lenders, with many lenders requiring increased levels of financial
qualification, lending at lower multiples of income and requiring larger down payments. First-time home buyers are generally more affected by the
availability of mortgage financing than other potential home buyers. These buyers are a key source of demand for new homes. A limited availability of home
mortgage financing may adversely affect the volume of our home and land sales and the sales prices we achieve.

Additionally, housing demand is adversely affected by reduced availability of mortgage financing and factors that increase the upfront or monthly
cost of financing a home, such as increases in interest rates, insurance premiums or limitations on mortgage interest deductibility. Any decrease in the
willingness and ability of lenders to make home mortgage loans, the tightening of lending standards and the reduction in the types of financing products
available, will make it more difficult for home buyers to obtain acceptable financing. Any substantial increase in mortgage interest rates or unavailability of
mortgage financing may adversely affect the ability of prospective first-time and move-up home buyers to obtain financing for our homes, as well as
adversely affect the ability of prospective move-up home buyers to sell their current homes. The housing industry is benefiting from the current low interest
rate environment, which has allowed many home buyers to obtain mortgage financing with relatively low interest rates as compared to long-term historical
averages. While the timing of any increase in interest rates is uncertain, it is widely expected that interest rates will increase, and any such increase will make
mortgage financing more expensive and adversely affect the ability of home buyers to purchase our homes. The recent disruptions in the credit markets and
the curtailed availability of mortgage financing has adversely affected, and is expected to continue to adversely affect, our business, prospects, liquidity,
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows as compared to prior periods.

Beginning in 2008, the mortgage lending industry has experienced significant instability, beginning with increased defaults on sub-prime loans and
other nonconforming loans and compounded by expectations of increasing interest payment requirements and further defaults. This in turn resulted in a
decline in the market value of many mortgage loans and related securities. Lenders, regulators and others questioned the adequacy of lending standards and
other credit requirements for several loan products and programs offered in recent years. Credit requirements have tightened, and investor demand for
mortgage loans and mortgage-backed securities has declined. The deterioration in credit quality during the economic downturn caused almost all lenders to
stop offering sub-prime mortgages and most other loan products that were not eligible for sale to Fannie Mae or Freddie Mac or loans that did not meet
Federal Housing Administration (“FHA”) and Veterans Administration requirements. Fewer loan products, tighter loan qualifications and a reduced
willingness of lenders to make loans may continue to make it more difficult for certain buyers to finance the purchase of our homes.
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These factors may reduce the pool of qualified home buyers and make it more difficult to sell to first-time and move-up buyers who have historically
made up a substantial part of our homebuilding customers. Reductions in demand adversely affected our business and financial results during the downturn,
and the duration and severity of some of their effects remain uncertain.

The liquidity provided by Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac to the mortgage industry has been very important to the housing market. These entities have
required substantial injections of capital from the federal government and may require additional government support in the future. Several federal
government officials have proposed changing the nature of the relationship between Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac and the federal government and even
nationalizing or eliminating these entities entirely. If Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac were dissolved or if the federal government determined to stop providing
liquidity support to the mortgage market, there would be a reduction in the availability of the financing provided by these institutions. Any such reduction
would likely have an adverse effect on interest rates, mortgage availability and our sales of new homes.

If home buyers are not able to obtain FHA financing due to further tightening of borrower eligibility and future restrictions imposed by lenders on
FHA financing our results of operations may decline.

The FHA insures mortgage loans that generally have lower down payment requirements and qualification standards compared to conventional
mortgage guidelines, and as a result, continue to be an important source for financing the sale of our homes. In recent years, the FHA has significantly
tightened underwriting criteria and private mortgage insurance requirements. In January 2014, the FHA lowered loan limits in most markets, effectively
reducing the buying-power for a subset of the market that relies on FHA products due to credit and/or down payment motivations. These changes or any other
future restrictions may continue to negatively affect the availability or affordability of FHA financing, which could adversely affect our ability to sell homes.
In addition, changes in federal regulatory and fiscal policies aimed at aiding the home buying market (including a repeal of the home mortgage interest tax
deduction) may also negatively affect potential home buyers’ ability to purchase homes.

If suitable mortgage financing is not available to home buyers generally, our home buyers may not be able to sell their existing homes in order to buy
a new home from us, which would adversely affect our results of operations.

In each of our markets, decreases in the availability of credit and increases in the cost of credit adversely affect the ability of home buyers to obtain
or service mortgage debt. Even if potential home buyers do not themselves need mortgage financing, where potential home buyers must sell their existing
homes in order to buy a new home, increases in mortgage costs, lack of availability of mortgages and/or regulatory changes could prevent the buyers of
potential home buyers’ existing homes from obtaining a mortgage, which would result in our potential customers’ inability to buy a new home from us.
Similar risks apply to those buyers who are awaiting delivery of their homes and are currently in backlog. Our success depends, in part, on the ability of
potential home buyers to obtain mortgages for the purchase of homes. If our customers (or potential buyers of our customers’ existing homes) cannot obtain
suitable financing, our sales and results of operations could be adversely affected.

Lending requirements pursuant to the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act could reduce the availability and increase the
cost of mortgage financing, which could adversely affect out results of operations.

In July 2010, the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act was signed into law. This legislation provides for a number of new
requirements relating to residential mortgages and mortgage lending practices, many of which were to be developed further by implementing rules. These
include, among others, minimum standards for mortgages and lender practices in originating and servicing mortgages, limitations on certain fees and
incentive arrangements, and retention of credit risk. A majority of the implementing rules have been finalized and are now in effect. These rules have only
been in effect for a short time, so the effect of such provisions on lending institutions remains uncertain. Market reaction to these requirements could reduce
the availability of loans to borrowers and/or increase the costs to borrowers to obtain such loans. Any such reduction or cost increase could result in a decline
of our home and land sales, which could materially and adversely affect us.

Our geographic concentration could materially and adversely affect us if the homebuilding industry in our current markets should experience a
decline.

Our business strategy is focused on the acquisition of suitable land and the design, construction and sale of single-family homes in residential
subdivisions, including planned communities, in Northern California, Washington State, North
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Carolina, South Carolina and Tennessee. In California, we principally operate in the Central Valley area, the Monterey Bay area and the South San Francisco
Bay area; in Washington State, we operate in the Puget Sound area. During 2014, we began to expand our operations into North Carolina, South Carolina and
Tennessee. Because our operations are concentrated in these areas, a prolonged economic downturn in one or more of these areas, particularly within
California, could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, liquidity, financial condition and results of operations, and a disproportionately
greater impact on us than other homebuilders with more diversified operations.

Any limitation on, or reduction or elimination of, tax benefits associated with owning a home would have an adverse effect upon the demand for land
and homes for residential development, which could adversely affect our business.

Changes in federal income tax laws may affect demand for new homes and land suitable for residential development. Current tax laws generally
permit significant expenses associated with owning a home, primarily mortgage interest expense and real estate taxes, to be deducted for the purpose of
calculating an individual’s federal and, in many cases, state taxable income. Various proposals have been publicly discussed to limit mortgage interest
deductions and to limit the exclusion of gain from the sale of a principal residence. For instance, under the American Taxpayer Relief Act of 2012, which was
signed into law in January 2013, the federal government enacted higher income tax rates and limits on the value of tax deductions for certain high-income
individuals and households. If the federal government or a state government changes or further changes its income tax laws, as some lawmakers have
proposed, by eliminating, limiting or substantially reducing these income tax benefits, without offsetting provisions, the after-tax cost of owning a new home
would increase for many of our potential customers. Enactment of any such proposal may have an adverse effect on the homebuilding industry in general and
our business and profits in particular, as the loss or reduction of homeowner tax deductions could decrease the demand for new homes and land suitable for
residential development.

Difficulty in obtaining sufficient capital could result in an inability to acquire land for development or increased costs and delays in the completion of
development projects.

The homebuilding and land development industry is capital-intensive and requires significant up front expenditures to acquire land parcels and
begin development. In addition, if housing markets are not favorable or permitting or development takes longer than anticipated, we may be required to hold
our investments in land for extended periods of time. If internally generated funds are not sufficient, we may seek additional capital in the form of equity or
debt financing from a variety of potential sources, including additional bank financings and/or securities offerings. The availability of borrowed funds,
especially for land acquisition and construction financing, may be greatly reduced nationally, and the lending community may require increased amounts of
equity to be invested in a project by borrowers in connection with both new loans and the extension of existing loans. The credit and capital markets have in
the recent past experienced significant volatility. If we are required to seek additional financing to fund our operations, continued volatility in these markets
may restrict our flexibility to access such financing. If we are not successful in obtaining sufficient capital to fund our planned capital and other expenditures,
we may be unable to acquire land for development or to develop housing.

Additionally, if we cannot obtain funds required for the purchase of land under our purchase or option contracts, we may incur contractual penalties
and fees. Any difficulty in obtaining sufficient capital for planned development expenditures could also cause project delays and any such delay could result
in cost increases. Any one or more of the foregoing events could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, liquidity, financial condition and
results of operations.

We face potentially substantial risk with respect to our land and lot inventory.

We intend to acquire land parcels for replacement and expansion of land inventory within our current and any new markets we choose to enter. The
risks inherent in purchasing and developing land parcels increase as consumer demand for housing decreases. As a result, we may buy and develop land
parcels on which homes cannot be profitably built and sold. The market value of land parcels, building lots and housing inventories can fluctuate
significantly as a result of changing market conditions, and the measures we employ to manage inventory risk may not be adequate to insulate our operations
from a severe drop in inventory values. When market conditions are such that land values are depreciating, previously entered into option agreements may
become less desirable, at which time we may elect to forego deposits, option costs and pre‑acquisition costs and terminate the agreements. Land parcels,
building lots and housing inventories are illiquid assets and we may not be able to dispose of them efficiently or at all if we are in financial distress. In
addition, inventory carrying costs can be significant and can result in losses in a poorly performing project or market. In the event of significant changes in
economic or market conditions, we may have to sell homes at significantly lower margins or at a loss, if we are able to sell them at all.
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Because real estate investments are relatively illiquid, our ability to promptly sell one or more properties for reasonable prices in response to
changing economic, financial and investment conditions may be limited and we may be forced to hold non‑income producing properties for extended
periods of time.

Real estate investments are relatively difficult to sell quickly. As a result, our ability to promptly sell one or more properties in response to changing
economic, financial and investment conditions is limited and we may be forced to hold non‑income producing assets for an extended period of time. We
cannot predict whether we will be able to sell any property for the price or on the terms that we set or whether any price or other terms offered by a prospective
purchaser would be acceptable to us. We also cannot predict the length of time needed to find a willing purchaser and to close the sale of a property.

Supply shortages and other risks related to demand for building materials and/or subcontracted trade labor could increase costs and delay deliveries.
There is a high level of competition in the homebuilding industry and the housing market for subcontracted trade labor and building materials that

can, among other things, cause increases in land development and home construction costs, and development and construction delays. Shortages or upward
price fluctuations in lumber, drywall, concrete and other building materials, and subcontracted trade labor, whether due to a small supplier base or supplier
capacity constraints, increased residential construction activity, international demand, the occurrence of or rebuilding after natural disasters or other reasons,
can also have an adverse effect on our business. We may not be able to raise our selling prices to cover such increases in land development and home
construction costs because of market conditions, including competition for homebuyers from other homebuilders and resale homes. Sustained increases in
land development and home construction costs due to higher subcontracted trade labor rates or elevated lumber, drywall, concrete and other building
materials prices and/or our limited ability to successfully contain these costs may, among other things, decrease our housing gross profit margins, while
shortages of subcontracted trade labor or building materials due to competition or other factors may delay deliveries of homes and our recognition of
revenues. As a result, these negative items, should they occur, individually or together, could have a material and adverse impact on our consolidated
financial statements.

Risks associated with our real estate inventories could adversely affect our business or financial results.

Risks inherent in controlling or purchasing, holding and developing land for new home construction are substantial. In certain circumstances, a
grant of entitlements or development agreement with respect to a particular parcel of land may include restrictions on the transfer of such entitlements to a
buyer of such land, which would negatively impact the price of such entitled land by restricting our ability to sell it for its full entitled value. In addition,
inventory carrying costs can be significant and can result in reduced margins or losses in a poorly performing community or market. Developing land and
constructing homes takes a significant amount of time and requires a substantial cash investment. We have substantial real estate inventories which regularly
remain on our balance sheet for significant periods of time, during which time we are exposed to the risk of adverse market developments, prior to their sale. If
conditions in our markets were to deteriorate, we may be required to sell homes and land for lower margins than we have in the past. Additionally,
deteriorating market conditions could cause us to record significant inventory impairment charges. The recording of a significant inventory impairment
could negatively affect our reported earnings per share and negatively impact the market perception of our business.

Adverse weather and geological conditions may increase costs, cause project delays and reduce consumer demand for housing, all of which could
materially and adversely affect us.

As a homebuilder and land developer, we are subject to the risks associated with numerous weather-related and geologic events, many of which are
beyond our control. These weather-related and geologic events include but are not limited to droughts, floods, wildfires, landslides, soil subsidence and
earthquakes. The occurrence of any of these events could damage our land parcels and projects, cause delays in completion of our projects, reduce consumer
demand for housing, and cause shortages and price increases in labor or raw materials, any of which could affect our sales and profitability. For example, our
California markets are in areas which have historically experienced significant earthquake activity and seasonal wildfires. Other unique meteorologic and
geographic conditions exist in all of the markets in which we operate.

In addition to directly damaging our land or projects, earthquakes, wildfires or other natural events could damage roads and highways providing
access to those assets or affect the desirability of our land or projects, thereby adversely affecting our ability to market homes or sell land in those areas and
possibly increasing the costs of homebuilding completion.

22



There are some risks of loss for which we may be unable to purchase insurance coverage. For example, losses associated with landslides, earthquakes
and other geologic events may not be insurable and other losses, such as those arising from terrorism, may not be economically insurable. A sizeable
uninsured loss could materially and adversely affect our business, prospects, liquidity, financial condition and results of operations.

We may be unable to successfully integrate the assets we acquired in the Citizens Acquisition and realize the anticipated benefits of the acquisition or
do so within the anticipated timeframe.

The Citizens Acquisition involved the acquisition of assets used in the purchase of real estate and the construction and marketing of residential homes in
North Carolina, South Carolina and Tennessee. In addition, in connection with the Citizens Acquisition, and at the time of the acquisition, we increased our
number of employees by approximately 50 people, working at locations in three additional states. Even though the business conducted with these assets is
similar to the business we have historically conducted, we have devoted, and we expect to continue to devote, significant management attention and
resources to integrating these assets, related systems, and these new employees into our business and its practices and operations. It is possible that the
integration process could result in the distraction of our management, the disruption of our historical business or inconsistencies in our operations, services,
standards, controls, procedures and policies, any of which could adversely affect our ability to maintain relationships with customers, vendors and employees
or to fully achieve the anticipated benefits of the Citizens Acquisition.

Continued acquisition activity could expose us to additional risks and future results will suffer if we do not effectively manage our expanded
operations.

We may continue to expand our operations through additional acquisitions and other strategic transactions. In connection with any such
transactions, we may be required to integrate geographically diverse operations, additional employees, and different information technology and
management systems, which may involve complex challenges. Our future success will depend, in part, upon our ability to: manage our expansion
opportunities; integrate new operations into our existing business in an efficient and timely manner; successfully monitor our operations, costs and
regulatory compliance; and develop and maintain other necessary systems, processes and internal controls. We cannot assure you that our expansion or
acquisition initiatives will be successful, or that we will realize their expected operating efficiencies, cost savings, revenue enhancements, synergies or other
benefits. For example, we may be required to integrate widely dispersed operations with different corporate cultures, operating margins, competitive
environments, computer systems, compensation programs, business plans and growth potential, which would likely require significant management time and
attention. This could disrupt our ongoing operations and divert management resources that would otherwise focus on developing our existing business.
Depending upon the circumstances of any particular acquisition, successful integration may depend, in large part, on retaining key personnel who have, for
example, unique experience or business relationships. The loss of key personnel at any business we may acquire could result in a disruption of operations, a
loss of information and business relationships, unanticipated recruitment and training costs, and otherwise diminish anticipated benefits of any such
acquisitions. Acquisitions could also result in our assumption of unknown contingent liabilities, which could be material, expose us to the risk of impaired
inventory and other assets relating to the acquisition, and the risks associated with entering markets in which we have limited or no direct experience. When
financing any acquisitions, we may choose to issue additional shares of our Class A common stock or incur substantial additional indebtedness. Issuance of
additional shares of Class A common stock would dilute the ownership interest of existing stockholders.

Accordingly, any acquisition activity could expose us to significant risks, beyond those associated with operating our existing business, and may
adversely affect our business, financial position and results of operation.

Our business and results of operations are dependent on the availability and skill of subcontractors.

Substantially all of our construction work is done by third-party subcontractors with us acting as the general contractor. Accordingly, the timing and
quality of our construction depend on the availability and skill of our subcontractors. We do not have long-term contractual commitments with any
subcontractors, and there can be no assurance that skilled subcontractors will continue to be available at reasonable rates and in our markets. Certain of the
subcontractors engaged by us are represented by labor unions or are subject to collective bargaining arrangements that require the payment of prevailing
wages that are higher than normally expected on a residential construction site. A strike or other work stoppage involving any of our subcontractors could
also make it difficult for us to retain subcontractors for our construction work. In addition, union activity or a scarcity of skilled labor supply could result in
higher costs to retain our subcontractors. The inability to contract with skilled subcontractors at reasonable costs on a timely basis could have a material
adverse effect on our business, prospects, liquidity, financial condition and results of operations.
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In addition, despite our quality control efforts, we may discover that our subcontractors were engaging in improper construction practices or
installing defective materials in our homes. When we discover these issues, we, generally through our subcontractors, repair the homes in accordance with our
new home warranty and as required by law. We reserve a portion of the sales price of each home we sell to satisfy warranty and other legal obligations to our
home buyers. We establish these reserves based on market practices, our historical experience, and our judgment of the qualitative risks associated with the
types of homes built. However, the cost of satisfying our warranty and other legal obligations in these instances may be significantly higher than our reserves,
and we may be unable to recover the cost of repair from such subcontractors. Regardless of the steps we take, we can in some instances be subject to fines or
other penalties, and our reputation may be adversely affected.

Labor and raw material shortages and price fluctuations could delay or increase the cost of home construction, which could materially and adversely
affect us.

The residential construction industry experiences serious labor and raw material shortages from time to time, including shortages in qualified
tradespeople, and supplies of insulation, drywall, cement, steel and lumber. These labor and raw material shortages can be more severe during periods of
strong demand for housing or during periods following natural disasters that have a significant impact on existing residential and commercial structures.
Certain of our markets have recently begun to exhibit a scarcity of skilled labor relative to increased homebuilding demand in these markets. The cost of
labor and raw materials may also be adversely affected during periods of shortage or high inflation. During the last economic downturn, a large number of
qualified tradespeople went out of business or otherwise exited the market. A reduction in available tradespeople will likely exacerbate labor shortages if
demand for new housing continues to increase. Shortages and price increases could cause delays in and increase our costs of home construction, which in turn
could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, liquidity, financial condition and results of operations.

New and existing laws and regulations or other governmental actions may increase our expenses, limit the number of homes that we can build or delay
completion of our projects.

We are subject to numerous local, state, federal and other statutes, ordinances, rules and regulations concerning zoning, development, building
design, construction and similar matters which impose restrictive zoning and density requirements, the result of which is to limit the number of homes that
can be built within the boundaries of a particular area. Projects that are not entitled may be subjected to periodic delays, changes in use, less intensive
development or elimination of development in certain specific areas due to government regulations. We may also be subject to periodic delays or may be
precluded entirely from developing in certain communities due to building moratoriums or “slow-growth” or “no-growth” initiatives that could be
implemented in the future. Local governments also have broad discretion regarding the imposition of development fees and exactions for projects in their
jurisdiction. Projects for which we have received land use and development entitlements or approvals may still require a variety of other governmental
approvals and permits during the development process and can also be impacted adversely by unforeseen health, safety and welfare issues, which can further
delay these projects or prevent their development. As a result, home sales could decline and costs increase, which could have a material adverse effect on our
business, prospects, liquidity, financial condition and results of operations.

We may be unable to obtain suitable bonding for the development of our housing projects.

We are often required to provide bonds to governmental authorities and others to ensure the completion of our projects and/or in support of
obligations to build community improvements such as roads, sewers, water systems and other utilities. As a result of market conditions, surety providers have
been reluctant to issue new bonds and some providers are requesting credit enhancements (such as guarantees, cash deposits or letters of credit) in order to
maintain existing bonds or to issue new bonds. If we are unable to obtain required bonds in the future for our projects, or if we are required to provide credit
enhancements with respect to our current or future bonds, our business, prospects, liquidity, financial condition and results of operations could be materially
and adversely affected.

We are subject to environmental laws and regulations, which may increase our costs, result in liabilities, limit the areas in which we can build homes
and delay completion of our projects.

We are subject to a variety of local, state, federal and other laws, statutes, ordinances, rules and regulations concerning the environment, hazardous
materials, the discharge of pollutants and human health and safety. The particular environmental requirements which apply to any given site vary according
to multiple factors, including the site’s location, its environmental conditions, the current and former uses of the site, the presence or absence of state-listed or
federal-listed endangered or threatened plants or animals or sensitive habitats, and conditions at nearby properties. We may not identify all of these concerns
during any pre-acquisition or pre-development review of project sites. Environmental requirements and conditions may result in delays, may cause us to
incur substantial compliance and other costs, and can prohibit or severely restrict development and
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homebuilding activity in environmentally sensitive regions or in areas contaminated by others before we commence development. We are also subject to
third-party challenges, such as by environmental groups or neighborhood associations, under environmental laws and regulations governing the permits and
other approvals for our projects and operations. Sometimes regulators from different governmental agencies do not concur on development, remedial
standards or property use restrictions for a project, and the resulting delays or additional costs can be material for a given project.

In addition, in cases where a state-listed or federally-listed endangered or threatened species is involved and related agency rule-making and
litigation are ongoing, the outcome of such rule-making and litigation can be unpredictable and can result in unplanned or unforeseeable restrictions on, or
the prohibition of, development and building activity in identified environmentally sensitive areas. For example, the state- and federally-listed California
Tiger Salamander may be present at our East Garrison property. The U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (“USFWS”) granted permission to take the salamander as a
matter of federal law in October 2005. California, however, did not list this salamander, as a state -threatened species until 2010. We are currently
implementing ongoing management measures for the California Tiger Salamander pursuant to agreements with, and in accordance with an incidental take
authorization from, the USFWS. Subsequent to the state listing, we filed a permit application with the California Department of Fish & Wildlife with respect
to management of the California Tiger Salamander. California Department of Fish & Wildlife has indicated that it intends to issue the 2081 permit in early
2015. However, until received there can be no assurance as to whether or when the California Department of Fish & Wildlife will issue the requested
incidental take permit, or whether any permit terms will be unexpectedly restrictive or costly, conflict with any existing agreement with the USFWS, result in
project delays or require changes to existing development or building plans.

We also own and are developing a project in Washington State known as the Preserve at Tumwater Place (the “Preserve”). We currently expect the
Preserve to have approximately 544 lots, consisting of approximately 188 lots in Divisions 1 and 2, and 356 lots in Divisions 2, 3 and 4. The preliminary
residential subdivision was approved by the City of Tumwater and the Washington State Department of Fish and Wildlife based, in part, on an approved
Habitat Protection Plan for the Mazama pocket gopher. Based on that plan, the Preserve contains a 25-acre, on-site habitat preservation area for the gopher.
The Preserve has recorded a final subdivision for Division 1. We have obtained building permits from the City of Tumwater for some of the Division 1 lots
and are currently building single family homes for sale therein.

Since these approvals, the USFWS adopted a final rule listing gopher as “threatened” under the federal Endangered Species Act and designated
certain areas of Washington State, including land in close proximity to the Preserve, as critical habitat for the gopher. The listing is broad and applies to areas
near critical habitat area, including areas where the gopher may not be present. At this time, the USFWS has not provided guidance as to how USFWS intends
to address ongoing development in light of the rule. However, USFWS has indicated that existing set-asides created under state and local authorities, such as
the on-site habitat preservation area that we have previously established at the Preserve, may not provide sufficient mitigation for the take of the gopher as a
matter of federal law. Accordingly, it is likely that we will be required to implement additional restrictions and requirements at the Preserve. Any such
restrictions or requirements could cause us to incur increased expense at the Preserve or delay or limit our activities there.

We intend to continue to construct homes on Divisions 1 and 2 of the Preserve and are in the process of seeking infrastructure permits for Division 3
of the Preserve. We have been advised that the City of Tumwater intends to continue to issue building permits for the Preserve, however, it is possible that it
may suspend issuing such permits in light of the recent USFWS action. Due to the foregoing, it is possible that our development activity at the Preserve could
be delayed, halted or limited, and that we may incur additional expenses in connection with our activities at the Preserve. In addition, there is a risk of
litigation by the federal government or private litigants due to our ongoing development activities at the Preserve in the absence of additional guidance or
approval from the USFWS. We continue our efforts to seek further guidance from USFWS and the City of Tumwater in light of the listing decision, however
we can provide no assurance as to the timing of receipt of any such guidance or its impact on our activities at the Preserve.

We may be required to pay fines or penalties relating to non-compliance with applicable environmental laws or such laws may increase our costs.

From time to time, the United States Environmental Protection Agency (the “EPA”) and similar federal, state or local agencies review land
developers’ and homebuilders’ compliance with environmental laws and may levy fines and penalties for failure to strictly comply with applicable
environmental laws, including those applicable to control of storm water discharges during construction, or impose additional requirements for future
compliance as a result of past failures. Any such actions taken with respect to us may increase our costs and result in project delays. We expect that
increasingly stringent requirements will be imposed on land developers and homebuilders in the future. We cannot assure you that environmental, health and
safety laws will not change or become more stringent in the future in a manner that could have a material adverse effect on our business. Environmental
regulations can also have an adverse impact on the availability and price of certain raw materials such
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as lumber, and on other building materials, such as paint. California is especially susceptible to restrictive government regulations and environmental laws,
although increasingly Washington State also imposes unique state obligations under environmental laws. For example, California has enacted climate
change legislation which could result in additional costs to achieve energy use or energy efficiency mandates, alter community layouts, meet “green
building” standards, impose carbon or other greenhouse gas reductions or offset obligations, and which could result in other costs or obligations. California
in particular also has adopted stringent and sometimes unique mandates or restrictions on products used in homebuilding, or the materials used in such
products, or on equipment we might use, or on the fuels used in such equipment, and such California mandates or restrictions often increase costs, result in
delays or render certain products or equipment unavailable when needed, or available only at higher costs than originally anticipated.

We may incur costs associated with the cleanup of hazardous or toxic substances or petroleum product releases and we may be liable for related
damages.

Under various environmental laws, current or former owners and operators of real estate, as well as persons that have arranged for the disposal or
treatment of hazardous substances at a site regardless of whether such person owned or operated such site, may be required to investigate and clean up
hazardous or toxic substances or petroleum product releases, and may be held liable to a governmental entity or to third parties for related damages,
including for personal injury or property damage and for investigation and cleanup costs incurred by such parties in connection with the contamination.

Environmental impacts from historical activities have been identified at or under some of the projects we have developed in the past and additional
projects are located on land that was or may have been contaminated by previous use. Our costs of any required removal, investigation or remediation of such
substances or our costs of defending against environmental claims may be substantial, and liability can be retroactive, strict, joint and several and can be
imposed regardless of fault. The presence of such substances, or the failure to remediate such substances properly, may also adversely affect our ability to sell
the land or to borrow using the land as security. For example, a mitigation system may be installed during the construction of a home if a cleanup does not or
cannot remove all contaminants of concern, or to address a naturally occurring condition such as radon or methane. Some buyers may not want to purchase a
home with a mitigation system. In addition, environmental laws, particularly in California, impose notification obligations with respect to environmental
conditions, which may cause some persons, or their financing sources, to view subject parcels as less valuable or impaired. At our East Garrison project,
disclosures in the deed and otherwise to home buyers will be extensive and impose property use restrictions due to prior operations at part of Fort Ord, a
military base and a site listed on the National Priorities List. Extensive remedial and decommissioning actions have been undertaken to convert portions of
Fort Ord to civilian use. In addition to such prior remedial work by others, we will be required to conduct future remediation of asbestos, lead-based paints
and certain wastes. Remediation of hazardous substances or unsafe conditions which had not previously been identified or fully abated, could be required in
the future within our East Garrison project, or within other portions of Fort Ord, including the ground water thereunder. It is possible that any remediation at
our East Garrison project undertaken by us or another party, such as the federal government, could adversely affect the value of this project.

Ownership, leasing or occupation of land and the use of hazardous materials carries potential environmental risks and liabilities.

We are subject to a variety of local, state and federal statutes, rules and regulations concerning land use and the protection of health and the
environment, including those governing discharge of pollutants to soil, water and air, including asbestos, the handling of hazardous materials and the
cleanup of contaminated sites. We may be liable for the costs of removal, investigation or remediation of man-made or natural hazardous or toxic substances
located on, under or in a property currently or formerly owned, leased or occupied by us, whether or not we caused or knew of the pollution.

The particular impact and requirements of environmental laws that apply to any given community vary greatly according to the community site, the
site’s environmental conditions and the present and former uses of the site. We expect that increasingly stringent requirements may be imposed on land
developers and homebuilders in the future. Environmental laws may result in delays, cause us to implement time consuming and expensive compliance
programs and prohibit or severely restrict development in certain environmentally sensitive regions or areas, such as wetlands. Concerns could arise due to
post-acquisition changes in laws or agency policies, or the interpretation thereof.

Furthermore, we could incur substantial costs, including cleanup costs, fines, penalties and other sanctions and damages from third-party claims for
property damage or personal injury, as a result of our failure to comply with, or liabilities under, applicable environmental laws and regulations. In addition,
we are subject to third-party challenges, such as by environmental groups or neighborhood associations, under environmental laws and regulations to the
permits and other
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approvals required for our projects and operations. These matters could adversely affect our business, prospects, liquidity, financial condition and results of
operations.

We may be liable for claims for damages as a result of use of hazardous materials.

As a homebuilding and land development business with a wide variety of historic ownership, development, homebuilding and construction
activities, we could be liable for future claims for damages as a result of the past or present use of hazardous materials, including building materials or fixtures
known or suspected to be hazardous or to contain hazardous materials or due to use of building materials or fixtures which are associated with elevated mold.
Any such claims may adversely affect our business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations. Insurance coverage for such claims may be
limited or non‑existent.

We may suffer uninsured losses or suffer material losses in excess of insurance limits.

We could suffer physical damage to property and liabilities resulting in losses that may not be fully recoverable by insurance. In addition, certain
types of risks, such as personal injury claims, may be, or may become in the future, either uninsurable or not economically insurable, or may not be currently
or in the future covered by our insurance policies or otherwise be subject to significant deductibles or limits. Should an uninsured loss or a loss in excess of
insured limits occur or be subject to deductibles, we could sustain financial loss or lose capital invested in the affected property as well as anticipated future
income from that property.

In addition, we could be liable to repair damage or meet liabilities caused by risks that are uninsured or subject to deductibles. We may be liable for
any debt or other financial obligations related to affected property. Material losses or liabilities in excess of insurance proceeds may occur in the future.

Increases in our cancellation rate could have a negative impact on our home sales revenue and homebuilding margins.

Home order cancellations can result from a number of factors, including declines or slow appreciation in the market value of homes, increases in the
supply of homes available to be purchased, increased competition, higher mortgage interest rates, home buyers’ inability to sell their existing homes, home
buyers’ inability to obtain suitable financing, including providing sufficient down payments, and adverse changes in economic conditions. Upon a home
order cancellation, the escrow deposit is returned to the prospective purchaser (other than with respect to certain design-related deposits, which we retain). An
increase in the level of our home order cancellations, due to stringent lending standards or otherwise, could have a negative impact on our business,
prospects, liquidity, financial condition and results of operations.

We are subject to product liability and warranty claims arising in the ordinary course of business.

As a homebuilder, we are subject to construction defect, product liability and home warranty claims, including moisture intrusion and related claims,
arising in the ordinary course of business. While we maintain general liability insurance and generally seek to require our subcontractors and design
professionals to indemnify us for some portion of the liabilities arising from their work, there can be no assurance that these insurance rights and indemnities
will be collectable or adequate to cover any or all construction defect and warranty claims for which we may be liable. For example, contractual indemnities
can be difficult to enforce, we are often responsible for applicable self-insured retentions (particularly in markets where we include our subcontractors on our
general liability insurance and our ability to seek indemnity for insured claims is significantly limited), certain claims may not be covered by insurance or
may exceed applicable coverage limits, and one or more of our insurance carriers could become insolvent. Further, in the United States, and California in
particular, the coverage offered and the availability of general liability insurance for construction defects is currently limited and is costly. As a result, an
increasing number of our subcontractors may be unable to obtain insurance, particularly in California where we have instituted an “owner controlled
insurance program,” under which subcontractors are effectively insured by us.

For our projects we obtain liability insurance that generally covers subcontractors. If we cannot effectively recover construction defect liabilities and
costs of defense, or if we have self-insured, we may suffer losses. Coverage may be further restricted and become even more costly. Such circumstances could
adversely affect our business, prospects, liquidity, financial condition and results of operations. Further, any product liability or warranty claims made against
us, whether or not they are viable, may lead to negative publicity, which could impact our reputation and our home sales.

In addition, we conduct the substantial portion of our business in California, one of the most highly regulated and litigious jurisdictions in the
United States, which imposes a ten year, strict liability tail on many construction liability claims.
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As a result, our potential losses and expenses due to litigation, new laws and regulations may be greater than those of our competitors who have more limited
California operations.

Our operating performance is subject to risks associated with the real estate industry.

Real estate investments are subject to various risks and fluctuations and cycles in value and demand, many of which are beyond our control. These
events include, but are not limited to:

• adverse changes in international, national or local economic and demographic conditions;
• adverse changes in financial conditions of buyers and sellers of properties, particularly residential homes and land suitable for development

of residential homes;
• competition from other real estate investors with significant capital, including other real estate operating companies and developers and

institutional investment funds;
• reductions in the level of demand for and increases in the supply of land suitable for development;
• fluctuations in interest rates, which could adversely affect our ability, or the ability of home buyers, to obtain financing on favorable terms or

at all;
• unanticipated increases in expenses, including, without limitation, insurance costs, development costs, real estate assessments and other taxes

and costs of compliance with laws, regulations and governmental policies; and
• changes in enforcement of laws, regulations and governmental policies, including, without limitation, health, safety, environmental, zoning

and tax laws, governmental fiscal policies and the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990.
In addition, periods of economic slowdown or recession, rising interest rates or declining demand for real estate, or the public perception that any of

these events may occur, could result in a general decline in the purchase of homes or an increased incidence of home order cancellations. If we cannot
successfully implement our business strategy, our business, prospects, liquidity, financial condition and results of operations will be adversely affected.

Poor relations with the residents of our communities could negatively impact sales, which could cause our revenue or results of operations to decline.

Residents of communities we develop rely on us to resolve issues or disputes that may arise in connection with the operation or development of their
communities. Efforts made by us to resolve these issues or disputes could be deemed unsatisfactory by the affected residents and subsequent actions by these
residents could adversely affect sales or our reputation. In addition, we could be required to make material expenditures related to the settlement of such
issues or disputes or to modify our community development plans, which could adversely affect our results of operations.

If we are unable to develop our communities successfully or within expected timeframes, our results of operations could be adversely affected.

Before a community generates any revenue, time and material expenditures are required to acquire land, obtain development approvals and
construct significant portions of project infrastructure, amenities, model homes and sales facilities. It can take several years from the time we acquire control
of a property to the time we make our first home sale on the site. Delays in the development of communities expose us to the risk of changes in market
conditions for homes. A decline in our ability to develop and market our communities successfully and to generate positive cash flow from these operations
in a timely manner could have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations and on our ability to service our debt and to meet our
working capital requirements.

We depend on key senior management personnel and other experienced employees.

Our success depends to a significant degree upon the contributions of certain key senior management personnel including, but not limited to, Dustin
L. Bogue, our President and Chief Executive Officer, and William J. La Herran, our Chief Financial Officer, each of whom would be difficult to replace.
Although we entered into employment agreements with Messrs. Bogue and La Herran, there is no guarantee that these executives will remain employed by
us. If any of our key senior management personnel were to cease employment with us, our operating results could suffer. Our ability to retain our key senior
management personnel or to attract suitable replacements should any members of our management team leave is dependent on the competitive nature of the
employment market. The loss of services from key senior management personnel or a limitation in their availability could materially and adversely impact
our business, prospects, liquidity, financial condition and results of operations. Further, such a loss could be negatively perceived in the capital markets. We
have not obtained key
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senior management life insurance that would provide us with proceeds in the event of death or disability of any of our key senior management personnel.

Experienced employees in the homebuilding, land acquisition and construction industries are fundamental to our ability to generate, obtain and
manage opportunities. In particular, local knowledge and relationships are critical to our ability to source attractive land acquisition opportunities.
Experienced employees working in the homebuilding and construction industries are highly sought after. Failure to attract and retain such personnel or to
ensure that their experience and knowledge is not lost when they leave the business through retirement, redundancy or otherwise may adversely affect the
standards of our service and may have an adverse impact on our business, prospects, liquidity, financial condition and results of operations. The loss of any of
our key personnel could adversely impact our business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations.

Fluctuations in real estate values may require us to write-down the book value of our real estate assets.

The homebuilding and land development industries are subject to significant variability and fluctuations in real estate values. As a result, we may be
required to write-down the book value of our real estate assets in accordance with U.S. GAAP, and some of those write-downs could be material. Any material
write-downs of assets could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, liquidity, financial condition and results of operations.

Inflation could adversely affect our business and financial results.

Inflation could adversely affect us by increasing the costs of land, raw materials and labor needed to operate our business. If our markets have an
oversupply of homes relative to demand, we may be unable to offset any such increases in costs with corresponding higher sales prices for our homes.
Inflation may also accompany higher interests rates, which could adversely impact potential customers’ ability to obtain financing on favorable terms,
thereby further decreasing demand. If we are unable to raise the prices of our homes to offset the increasing costs of our operations, our margins could
decrease. Furthermore, if we need to lower the price of our homes to meet demand, the value of our land inventory may decrease. Inflation may also raise our
costs of capital and decrease our purchasing power, making it more difficult to maintain sufficient funds to operate our business.

We may become subject to litigation, which could materially and adversely affect us.

We may become subject to litigation, including claims relating to our operations, security offerings and otherwise in the ordinary course of business.
Some of these claims may result in significant defense costs and potentially significant judgments against us, some of which are not, or cannot be, insured
against. We cannot be certain of the ultimate outcomes of any claims that may arise in the future.

Resolution of these types of matters against us may result in our having to pay significant fines, judgments, or settlements, which, if uninsured, or if the fines,
judgments and settlements exceed insured levels, could adversely impact our earnings and cash flows, thereby materially and adversely affecting us. Certain
litigation or the resolution of certain litigation may affect the availability or cost of some of our insurance coverage, which could materially and adversely
impact us, expose us to increased risks that would be uninsured, and materially and adversely impact our ability to attract directors and officers.

A major health and safety incident relating to our business could be costly in terms of potential liabilities and reputational damage.

Building sites are inherently dangerous, and operating in the homebuilding and land development industry poses certain inherent health and safety
risks. Due to health and safety regulatory requirements and the number of projects we work on, health and safety performance is critical to the success of all
areas of our business.

Any failure in health and safety performance may result in penalties for non‑compliance with relevant regulatory requirements or litigation, and a failure that
results in a major or significant health and safety incident is likely to be costly in terms of potential liabilities incurred as a result. Such a failure could
generate significant negative publicity and have a corresponding impact on our reputation, our relationships with relevant regulatory agencies, governmental
authorities and local communities, and our ability to win new business, which in turn could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects,
liquidity, financial condition and results of operations.

Acts of war or terrorism may seriously harm our business.

29



Acts of war, any outbreak or escalation of hostilities between the United States and any foreign power or acts of terrorism may cause disruption to the
U.S. economy, or the local economies of the markets in which we operate, cause shortages of building materials, increase costs associated with obtaining
building materials, result in building code changes that could increase costs of construction, affect job growth and consumer confidence, or cause economic
changes that we cannot anticipate, all of which could reduce demand for our homes and adversely impact our business, prospects, liquidity, financial
condition and results of operations.

Information technology failures and data security breaches could harm our business.

We use information technology for financial and operational management functions to conduct our operations. Any disruption in these systems
could adversely affect our ability to conduct our business. Furthermore, we use information technology, digital telecommunications and other computer
resources to carry out important operational and promotional marketing activities and to maintain our business records. Many of these resources are provided
to us and/or maintained on our behalf by third-party service providers pursuant to agreements that specify to varying degrees certain security and service
level standards. Although we and our service providers employ what we believe are adequate security, disaster recovery and other preventative and corrective
measures, our ability to conduct our business may be impaired if these resources, including our primary websites, are compromised, degraded, damaged or
fail, whether due to a virus or other harmful circumstance, intentional penetration or disruption of our information technology resources by a third party,
natural disaster, hardware or software corruption or failure or error or poor product or vendor/developer selection (including a failure of security controls
incorporated into or applied to such hardware or software), telecommunications system failure, service provider error or failure, intentional or unintentional
personnel actions (including the failure to follow our security protocols), or lost connectivity to our networked resources. A significant and extended
disruption in the functioning of these resources, including our primary websites, could damage our reputation and cause us to lose customers, orders,
deliveries of homes and revenues, result in the unintended and/or unauthorized public disclosure or the misappropriation of proprietary, personal identifying
and confidential information (including information about our buyers and business partners), and require us to incur significant expenses to address and
remediate or otherwise resolve these kinds of issues, expenses that we may not be able to recover in whole or in any part from our service providers or
responsible parties, or their or our insurers. The release of confidential information may also lead to litigation or other proceedings against us by affected
individuals and/or business partners and/or by regulators, and the outcome of such proceedings, which could include penalties or fines and cause
reputational harm, could have a material and adverse effect on our business and consolidated financial statements. In addition, the costs of maintaining
adequate protection against such threats, based on considerations of their evolution, pervasiveness and frequency and/or government-mandated standards or
obligations regarding protective efforts, could be material to our consolidated financial statements in a particular period or over various periods.

Risks Related to our Controlling Stockholder

PICO holds a majority equity interest in our Company and its interests may not be aligned with ours or those of our other investors.

PICO holds 57.2% of the voting power of UCP, Inc. For so long as PICO continues to beneficially own a controlling stake in us, PICO will have the
power to elect and remove all of our directors and to approve any action requiring the majority approval of our stockholders. PICO also has the power to
transfer its controlling stake in our Company. In addition, pursuant to an Investor Rights Agreement that we entered into with PICO, PICO will have the right
to nominate two individuals for election to our board of directors for as long as PICO owns 25% or more of the combined voting power of our outstanding
Class A and Class B common stock and one individual for as long as it owns at least 10% of the combined voting power of our outstanding Class A and
Class B common stock (in each case, excluding any shares of our common stock that are subject to issuance upon the exercise or exchange of rights of
conversion or any options, warrants or other rights to acquire shares); and Messrs. Bogue, La Herran and James W. Fletcher, the President of our Northern
California Division, have agreed to vote all shares of our Class A common stock that they own in favor of such PICO nominees in any election of directors for
as long as PICO owns at least 10% of the combined voting power of our outstanding Class A and Class B common stock. In the event that any board member
nominated by PICO shall for any reason cease to serve as a member of our board of directors during his or her term of office, the resulting vacancy on the
board will be filled by an individual selected by PICO.

PICO’s interests may not be fully aligned with ours and those of our other investors, and this could lead to actions that are not in our or in our other
investors’ best interests. PICO holds all of the outstanding UCP, LLC Series A Units. Because PICO holds its economic interest in our business through UCP,
LLC, rather than through the public company, it may have conflicting interests with holders of shares of our Class A common stock. For example, PICO may
have different tax positions from us which could influence its decisions regarding whether and when we should dispose of assets or incur new or refinance
existing indebtedness, especially in light of the existence of the Tax Receivable Agreement that we entered into with PICO, and
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whether and when we should undergo certain changes of control within the meaning of the Tax Receivable Agreement or terminate the Tax Receivable
Agreement, which would accelerate our obligations thereunder. In addition, the structuring of future transactions may take into consideration these tax or
other considerations even where no similar benefit would accrue to us. In addition, PICO’s significant ownership in us and resulting ability to effectively
control us may discourage someone from making a significant equity investment in us, or could discourage transactions involving a change in control,
including transactions in which you as a holder of shares of our Class A common stock might otherwise receive a premium for our shares over the then-current
market price.

As a "controlled company" within the meaning of the corporate governance rules of the NYSE, we use exemptions from certain corporate governance
requirements. As a result, holders of our Class A common stock may not have the same degree of protection as that afforded to the stockholders of companies
that are subject to all the corporate governance requirements of the NYSE.

We are a "controlled company" within the meaning of the corporate governance rules of the NYSE as a result of the ownership positions and voting
rights of PICO. A "controlled company" is a company of which more than 50% of the voting power is held by an individual, group or another company. More
than 50% of the combined voting power of our outstanding Class A and Class B common stock is held by PICO. As a controlled company, we are entitled to
not comply with certain corporate governance of the NYSE that would otherwise require our board of directors to have a majority of independent directors
and our compensation committee and our nominating and corporate governance committee to be comprised entirely of independent directors, have written
charters addressing such committee's purpose and responsibilities and perform an annual evaluation of such committee. Accordingly, holders of our Class A
common stock do not have the same protection afforded to stockholders of companies that are subject to all of the corporate governance requirements of the
NYSE and the ability of our independent directors to influence our business policies and affairs may be reduced.

As a result of PICO’s relationship with our Company, conflicts of interest may arise with respect to any transactions involving or with PICO or its
affiliates.

John R. Hart, a member of our board of directors, is the President and Chief Executive Officer of PICO and Maxim C. W. Webb, also a member of our
board of directors, is the Chief Financial Officer of PICO. As a result of our relationship with PICO, there may be transactions between us and PICO that could
present an actual or perceived conflict of interest.

These conflicts of interest may lead Messrs. Hart and Webb to recuse themselves from actions of our board of directors with respect to any
transactions involving or with PICO or its affiliates. In addition, Mr. Hart and Mr. Webb will devote only a portion of their business time to their duties with
our board of directors, and they will devote the majority of their time to their duties with PICO and other commitments. PICO or its affiliates may also pursue
transactions in competition with us.

We are party to a Transition Services Agreement with PICO, pursuant to which PICO provides us with accounting, human resources and information
technology functions. Upon its expiration, PICO may be unwilling to renew the agreement or only willing to renew the agreement on less favorable
terms, particularly if PICO ceases to hold a material investment in our Company.

Pursuant to a Transition Services Agreement with PICO, PICO provides us with accounting, human resources and information technology functions.
Upon expiration of this agreement, even if we seek to continue to receive these services from PICO, PICO may be unwilling to renew the agreement or only
willing to renew the agreement on less favorable terms. If this were to happen, it is likely that we would incur increased costs to internalize or subcontract the
functions that were previously provided to us by PICO through the Transition Services Agreement. The initial term of the Transition Services Agreement
expired on July 23, 2014 after which we exercised the right to renew for two ninety day periods. These renewal terms expired on January 23, 2015 and the
agreement will now continue on a month-to-month basis until cancelled by us upon thirty days prior written notice or by PICO upon sixty days prior written
notice.

Risks Related to Our Indebtedness

We have substantial indebtedness, which may exacerbate the adverse effect of any declines in our business, industry or the general economy and
exposes us to the risk of default. We may be unable to service our indebtedness.

As of December 31, 2014, we had approximately $135.5 million of consolidated outstanding debt (including capital lease obligations but excluding
intercompany liabilities). Our organizational documents do not limit the amount of indebtedness we
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may incur, our board of directors may change our target debt levels at any time without the approval of our stockholders or creditors and we may incur
significant additional indebtedness in the future. Our substantial outstanding indebtedness, and the limitations imposed on us by the instruments and
agreements governing out outstanding indebtedness, could have significant adverse consequences, including the following:

•     our cash flow may be insufficient to meet our required principal and interest payments;
•     we may use a substantial portion of our cash flows to make principal and interest payments and we may be unable to obtain additional financing as

needed or on favorable terms, which could, among other things, have a material adverse effect on our ability to complete our development pipeline,
capitalize upon emerging acquisition opportunities, fund working capital or capital expenditures, or meet our other business needs;

•     we may be unable to refinance our indebtedness at maturity or the refinancing terms may be less favorable than the terms of our original
indebtedness;

•     we may be forced to dispose of one or more of our properties, possibly on unfavorable terms or in violation of certain covenants to which we may be
subject;

•     we may be required to maintain certain debt and coverage and other financial ratios at specified levels, which may limit our ability to obtain
additional financing in the future, thereby reducing our financial flexibility to react to changes in our business;

•     our vulnerability to general adverse economic and industry conditions may be increased;
•     approximately $57.3 million of our indebtedness bears interest at variable rates, which exposes us to increased interest expense in a rising interest

rate environment;
•     we may be at a competitive disadvantage relative to our competitors that have less indebtedness;
•     our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and the markets in which we operate may be limited; and
•     we may default on our indebtedness by failure to make required payments or to comply with certain covenants, which could result in an event of

default entitling a creditor to declare all amounts owed to it to be due and payable, and possibly entitling other creditors (due to cross-default or cross-
acceleration provisions) to accelerate the maturity of amounts owed to such other creditors or, if such indebtedness is secured, to foreclose on our
assets that secure such obligation.

The occurrence of any one of these events could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, liquidity, results of operations and/or business.

Our ability to make interest and principal payments on our indebtedness, complete our development pipeline and fund other planned capital
expenditures and expansion efforts (including any strategic acquisitions we may make in the future), will depend on our ability to generate cash. This, to a
certain extent, is subject to general economic, financial, competitive, regulatory and other factors that are beyond our control. We cannot assure you that our
business will generate sufficient cash flow from operations in the future or that future borrowings will be available to us in an amount sufficient to enable us
to service our indebtedness, to refinance our indebtedness when it matures or to fund other liquidity needs. If our cash flows and capital resources are
insufficient to fund our debt service obligations, we may be forced to reduce or delay investments and capital expenditures, or to sell assets, seek additional
capital or restructure or refinance our indebtedness. Our ability to restructure or refinance our debt will depend on the condition of the capital markets and our
financial condition at such time. Any refinancing of our debt could be at higher interest rates and may require us to comply with more onerous covenants,
which could further restrict our business operations. The terms of our existing debt instruments restrict us from adopting some of these alternatives. These
alternative measures may not be successful and may not permit us to meet our scheduled debt service obligations. We cannot assure you that we will be able
to service or refinance our indebtedness on commercially reasonable terms or at all.

The agreements governing our indebtedness, including our indenture, contain various covenants and other provisions which limit management’s
discretion in the operation of our business, reduce our operational flexibility and create default risks.

The agreements governing our existing indebtedness, including the indenture relating to the Senior Notes, contain covenants and other provisions
that impose significant restrictions on us and our subsidiaries. The indenture contains covenants that restrict, among other things, our and our subsidiaries’
ability to:

•     incur or guarantee additional unsecured and secured indebtedness;
•     pay dividends and make certain investments and other restricted payments;
•     acquire unimproved real property;
•     create or incur certain liens;
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•     transfer or sell certain assets; and
•     merge or consolidate with other companies or transfer or sell all or substantially all of our consolidated assets.

These covenants could impair our ability to grow our business, take advantage of attractive business opportunities or successfully compete, and we may
be unable to amend, or obtain a waiver of, any applicable covenant in any given situation.

The indenture also requires, and certain of our and our subsidiaries’ acquisition, construction and development loan agreements require, us to
maintain specified financial measures and ratios and satisfy financial condition tests. Our ability to comply with these ratios or tests may be affected by
events beyond our control, including prevailing economic, financial and industry conditions. See "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations- Liquidity and Capital Resources- Senior Notes.

A breach of any of these covenants or covenants under any other agreements governing our indebtedness or our subsidiaries indebtedness could
result in an event of default. Such a default may allow the creditors, if the agreements so provide, to declare the related debt immediately due and payable, as
well as any other debt to which a cross-acceleration or cross-default provision applies. In addition, lenders may have the right in these circumstances to
terminate any commitments they have to provide further borrowings. Our assets and cash flow may not be sufficient to fully repay borrowings under our
outstanding debt agreements if accelerated upon an event of default. In addition, if we were unable to repay or refinance any secured debt that becomes
accelerated, the lenders could proceed against any assets pledged to secure that debt, including foreclosing on or requiring the sale of our or our subsidiaries’
ownership interests in land parcels (and improvements thereon), and such assets may not be sufficient to repay such debt in full.

Secured indebtedness exposes us to the possibility of seizure of the pledged collateral.

Incurring mortgage and other secured indebtedness increases our risk of loss of our ownership interests in our pledged land parcels or other assets,
because defaults under such indebtedness may result in foreclosure actions initiated by lenders. As of December 31, 2014, we had mortgage indebtedness of
approximately $60.9 million. This debt is secured by project-level real estate (i.e., real estate held in special purpose entities formed to hold the real estate
interests for particular projects).

Access to financing sources may not be available on favorable terms, or at all, which could adversely affect our ability to maximize our returns.

Our access to additional third-party sources of financing will depend, in part, on:

• general market conditions;
• the market’s perception of our growth potential;
• with respect to acquisition and/or development financing, the market’s perception of the value of the land parcels to be acquired and/or

developed;
• our debt levels;
• our expected results of operations;
• our cash flow; and
• the market price of our Class A common stock.

Credit spreads for major sources of capital widened significantly during the U.S. credit crisis as investors demanded a higher risk premium. During
periods of volatility and weakness in the capital and credit markets, potential lenders may be unwilling or unable to provide us with financing that is
attractive to us or may charge us prohibitively high fees in order to obtain financing. Investment returns on our assets and our ability to make acquisitions
could be adversely affected by our inability to secure additional financing on reasonable terms, if at all.

Depending on market conditions at the relevant time, we may have to rely more heavily on additional equity financings or on less efficient forms of
debt financing that require a larger portion of our cash flow from operations, thereby reducing funds available for our operations, future business
opportunities and other purposes. We may not have access to such equity or debt capital on favorable terms at the desired times, or at all.

Failure to hedge effectively against interest rate changes may adversely affect us.

We currently do not hedge against interest rate fluctuations. We may obtain in the future one or more forms of interest rate protection in the form of
swap agreements, interest rate cap contracts or similar agreements to hedge against the possible negative effects of interest rate fluctuations. However, we
cannot assure you that any hedging will adequately relieve the
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adverse effects of interest rate increases or that counterparties under these agreements will honor their obligations thereunder. In addition, we may be subject
to risks of default by hedging counterparties. Adverse economic conditions could also cause the terms on which we borrow to be unfavorable. We could be
required to liquidate one or more of our assets at times which may not permit us to receive an attractive return on our assets in order to meet our debt service
obligations.

Risks Related to Our Organization and Structure

Our only material asset is our interest in UCP, LLC, and we are accordingly dependent upon distributions from UCP, LLC to pay dividends, if any,
taxes and other expenses.

UCP, Inc. is a holding company and has no material assets other than its ownership of membership interests in UCP, LLC. UCP, Inc. has no
independent means of generating revenue other than the operations of UCP, LLC that it owns and controls. We intend to cause UCP, LLC to make
distributions to its members in an amount sufficient to cover all applicable taxes payable and dividends, if any, declared by us, as well as any payments due
under the Tax Receivable Agreement, as described below. Future financing arrangements may contain negative covenants, limiting the ability of our
operating subsidiaries to declare or pay dividends or make distributions. To the extent that UCP, Inc. needs funds, and UCP, LLC and/or its subsidiaries are
restricted from making such distributions under applicable law or regulations, or otherwise unable to provide such funds, for example, due to restrictions
contained in the indenture governing our Senior Notes, certain of our subsidiary level project financings or in future financing arrangements that limit the
ability of our operating subsidiaries to distribute funds, our liquidity and financial condition could be materially harmed.

We are required to pay PICO for a portion of the benefits relating to any additional tax depreciation or amortization deductions we may claim as a
result of tax basis step-ups we receive in connection with future exchanges by PICO of its UCP, LLC Series A Units for shares of our Class A common
stock.

The UCP, LLC Series A Units held by PICO may in the future be exchanged for shares of our Class A common stock. The exchanges may result in
increases in the tax basis of the assets of UCP, LLC that otherwise would not have been available. These increases in tax basis may reduce the amount of tax
that we would otherwise be required to pay in the future, although the IRS may challenge all or part of the tax basis increases, and a court could sustain such a
challenge.

We entered into a Tax Receivable Agreement with PICO that provides for the payment by us to PICO of 85.0% of the amount of cash savings, if any,
in U.S. federal, state and local income tax or franchise tax that we actually realize as a result of any such increases in tax basis (or are deemed to realize in the
case of certain events, as discussed below). Any actual increases in tax basis, as well as the amount and timing of any payments under the Tax Receivable
Agreement, cannot be predicted reliably at this time.

The increase in tax basis, as well as the amount and timing of any payments under this agreement, will vary depending upon a number of factors,
including the timing of exchanges, the price of shares of our Class A common stock at the time of the exchange, the extent to which such exchanges are
taxable, and the amount and timing of our income. As a result of the size of the increases in the tax basis of the tangible and intangible assets of UCP, LLC
attributable to our interest in UCP, LLC, during the expected term of the Tax Receivable Agreement, we expect that the payments that we may make to PICO
could be substantial.

We are not aware of any issue that would cause the IRS to challenge a tax basis increase; however, if the IRS were successful in making such a
challenge, PICO would not reimburse us for any payments that may previously have been made under the Tax Receivable Agreement if it is later determined
that we did not receive the anticipated corresponding tax benefit. As a result, in certain circumstances we could make payments to PICO under the Tax
Receivable Agreement in excess of our cash tax savings. In addition, our ability to achieve benefits from any tax basis increase, and the payments to be made
under the Tax Receivable Agreement, will depend upon a number of factors, as discussed above, including the timing and amount of our future income.

In certain cases, payments by us under the Tax Receivable Agreement may be accelerated and/or significantly exceed the benefits we realize in respect
of the tax attributes subject to the Tax Receivable Agreement.

The Tax Receivable Agreement provides that upon certain changes of control, or if, at any time, we either materially breach our obligations under
the Tax Receivable Agreement or elect an early termination of the Tax Receivable Agreement, our (or our successor’s) obligations with respect to UCP, LLC
Series A Units would be based on certain assumptions, including that (a) all the UCP, LLC Series A Units are deemed exchanged for their fair value, (b) we
would have sufficient taxable income to fully utilize the deductions arising from the increased tax deductions and tax basis and other benefits related to
entering into the
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Tax Receivable Agreement and (c) the subsidiaries of UCP, LLC will sell certain non-amortizable assets (and realize certain related tax benefits) no later than
a specified date. In each of these instances (based on the foregoing assumptions), we would be required to make an immediate payment to the holders of such
UCP, LLC Series A Units equal to the present value of the anticipated future tax benefits (discounted over the applicable amortization and depreciation
periods for the assets the tax bases of which are stepped up (which could be as long as fifteen years in respect of intangibles and goodwill) at a uniform
discount rate equal to LIBOR plus 100 basis points). The benefits would be payable even though, in certain circumstances, no UCP, LLC Series A Units are
actually exchanged at the time of the accelerated payment under the Tax Receivable Agreement, thereby resulting in no corresponding tax basis step up at
the time of such accelerated payment under the Tax Receivable Agreement. Accordingly, payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement may be made years
in advance of the actual realization, if any, of the anticipated future tax benefits and may be significantly greater than the benefits we realize in respect of the
tax attributes subject to the Tax Receivable Agreement. In these situations, our obligations under the Tax Receivable Agreement could have a substantial
negative impact on our liquidity. We may not be able to finance our obligations under the Tax Receivable Agreement and our existing indebtedness may
limit our subsidiaries’ ability to make distributions to us to pay these obligations.

In addition, our obligations under the Tax Receivable Agreement could have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing certain mergers, asset
sales, other forms of business combinations or other changes of control that could be in the best interests of our public stockholders.

We may not be able to realize all or a portion of the tax benefits that are expected to result from exchanges of UCP LLC Series A Units for shares of
our Class A common stock and payments made under the Tax Receivable Agreement itself.

Our ability to benefit from any depreciation or amortization deductions or to realize other tax benefits that we currently expect to be available as a
result of the increases in tax basis created by exchanges of UCP LLC Series A Units for shares of our Class A common stock and our ability to realize certain
other tax benefits attributable to payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement itself, depend on a number of assumptions, including that we earn sufficient
taxable income each year during the period over which such deductions are available and that there are no adverse changes in applicable law or regulations.
If our actual taxable income were insufficient and/or there were adverse changes in applicable law or regulations, we may be unable to realize all or a portion
of these expected benefits and our cash flows and stockholders’ equity could be negatively affected.

In the event we acquire more than 50% of all outstanding units of UCP, LLC, we may become subject to additional state and local real estate taxes
due to a reassessment of the value of our land holdings for California real estate tax purposes. We may also become subject to California and
Washington state and local real estate transfer taxes.

We are subject to state and local real estate taxes in California on an annual basis, which are assessed on the basis of the value of our land holdings
in the relevant counties. Under Article XIIIA of the California Constitution (known as Proposition 13), California real estate taxes are generally based upon a
property’s historic cost (subject to an inflationary increase in value not to exceed 2.0% per year) until the property undergoes a change in ownership or the
entity owning the property undergoes a change in control.

Because we have acquired our lots over time, the values currently used for assessing these real estate taxes (generally, the price we paid for the lots
subject to the allowable inflationary increase in value described in the preceding paragraph) may not fully reflect current market values.

If we acquire more than 50.0% of all outstanding units of UCP, LLC (which might occur, for instance, upon an exchange of UCP, LLC Series A Units
by PICO pursuant to the Exchange Agreement) it may be treated as triggering a “change in ownership” for such real estate tax purposes, which, in turn, will
result in a reassessment of the values of our lots in California for purposes of our annual real estate tax payments. In such case, the values of our California
lots would be reassessed at, and our California real estate taxes would be based on, the then current market value of such lots, which may significantly exceed
the price we paid for such lots plus any previously allowed inflationary increase in value. If such reassessment results in an upward adjustment of the values
of our California lots, our annual California real estate tax payments will increase. In addition, if we acquire more than 50.0% of the units in UCP, LLC, we
may also become subject to one-time California and Washington State and local real estate transfer taxes in respect of our lots in such state. Such additional
tax payments would have a negative impact on our earnings, cash flows and liquidity.

We have a limited operating history and we may not be able to successfully operate our business.
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We began operations in 2004 and expanded our operations significantly after we were acquired by PICO in 2008. Given our limited operating
history, there is limited historical information upon which to evaluate our prospects, including our continued ability to acquire desirable land parcels,
develop such land and market our homes.

In addition, we cannot assure that our past experience will be sufficient to enable us to operate our business successfully or implement our operating policies
and business strategies. Furthermore, we may not be able to generate sufficient operating cash flows to pay our operating expenses or service our existing or
future indebtedness. Investors should not rely upon our past performance, as past performance may not be indicative of our future results.

Termination of the employment agreements with the members of our management team could be costly and prevent a change in control of our
Company.

The employment agreements entered into with our key management team members provide that if their employment with us terminates under certain
circumstances, we may be required to pay them significant amounts of severance compensation, thereby making it costly to terminate their employment.
Furthermore, these provisions could delay or prevent a transaction or a change in control of our Company that might involve a premium paid for shares of our
Class A common stock or otherwise be in the best interests of our stockholders, which could adversely affect the market price of our Class A common stock.

Certain anti-takeover defenses, applicable law, and provisions of our Registration Rights Agreement, Tax Receivable Agreement and Investor Rights
Agreement may limit the ability of a third party to acquire control of us.

Our charter and bylaws and Delaware law contain provisions that may delay or prevent a transaction or a change in control of our Company that
might involve a premium paid for shares of our Class A common stock or otherwise be in the best interests of our stockholders, which could adversely affect
the market price of our Class A common stock. Certain of these provisions are described below.

Selected provisions of our charter and/or bylaws: Our charter and/or bylaws contain anti-takeover provisions that:

• divide our directors into three classes, with the term of one class expiring each year, which could delay a change in our control;
• authorize our board of directors, without further action by the stockholders, to issue up to 50,000,000 shares of preferred stock in one or more

series, and with respect to each series, to fix the number of shares constituting that series and establish the rights and other terms of that series;
• require that actions to be taken by our stockholders may be taken only at an annual or special meeting of our stockholders and not by written

consent;
• specify that special meetings of our stockholders can be called only by our board of directors, the chairman of our board of directors or our

chief executive officer;
• establish advance notice procedures for stockholders to submit nominations of candidates for election to our board of directors and other

proposals to be brought before a stockholders meeting;
• provide that our bylaws may be amended by our board of directors without stockholder approval;
• allow our directors to establish the size of our board of directors by action of our board of directors, subject to a minimum of three members;
• provide that vacancies on our board of directors or newly created directorships resulting from an increase in the number of our directors may

be filled only by a majority of directors then in office, even though less than a quorum;
• do not give the holders of our common stock cumulative voting rights with respect to the election of directors; and
• prohibit us from engaging in certain business combinations with any “interested stockholder” unless specified conditions are satisfied.

Selected provisions of Delaware law: We have opted out of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law (the “DGCL”), which regulates
corporate takeovers. However, our charter contains provisions that are similar to Section 203 of the DGCL. Specifically, our charter provides that we may not
engage in certain “business combinations” with any “interested stockholder” for a three-year period following the time that the person became an interested
stockholder, unless:

• prior to the time that person became an interested stockholder, our board of directors approved either the business combination or the
transaction which resulted in the person becoming an interested stockholder;
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• upon consummation of the transaction which resulted in the person becoming an interested stockholder, the interested stockholder owned at
least 85.0% of the voting stock of the corporation outstanding at the time the transaction commenced, excluding certain shares; or

• at or subsequent to the time the person became an interested stockholder, the business combination is approved by our board of directors and
by the affirmative vote of at least 66 2/3% of the outstanding voting stock which is not owned by the interested stockholder.

Generally, a business combination includes a merger, consolidation, asset or stock sale or other transaction resulting in a financial benefit to the
interested stockholder. Subject to certain exceptions, an interested stockholder is a person who, together with that person’s affiliates and associates, owns, or
within the previous three years owned, 15% or more of our voting stock. However, in the case of our Company, PICO and any of its affiliates and subsidiaries
and any of their permitted transferees receiving 15% or more of our voting stock will not be deemed to be interested stockholders regardless of the percentage
of our voting stock owned by them. This provision could prohibit or delay mergers or other takeover or change in control attempts with respect to us and,
accordingly, may discourage attempts to acquire us.

Registration Rights Agreement, Investor Rights Agreement and Tax Receivable Agreement. We entered into a Registration Rights Agreement, an
Investor Rights Agreement and a Tax Receivable Agreement with PICO. Pursuant to the Registration Rights Agreement and the Investor Rights Agreement,
PICO may require us to file a registration statement with the SEC relating to the offer and sale of any Class A common stock PICO may receive pursuant to the
Exchange Agreement, and PICO has the right to nominate two individuals for election to our board of directors for as long as PICO owns 25.0% or more of
the combined voting power of our outstanding Class A and Class B common stock and one individual for as long as it owns at least 10.0%. In the event that
any board member nominated by PICO shall for any reason cease to serve as a member of our board of directors during his or her term of office, the resulting
vacancy on the board will be filled by an individual selected by PICO. The Tax Receivable Agreement provides that upon certain changes of control, PICO
may be entitled to a significant early termination payment. These agreements could discourage someone from making a significant investment in us or
discourage transactions involving a change in control.

We may change our operational policies, investment guidelines and our business and growth strategies without stockholder approval, which may
subject us to different and more significant risks in the future.

Our board of directors determines our operational policies, investment guidelines and our business and growth strategies. Our board of directors may
make changes to, or approve transactions that deviate from, those policies, guidelines and strategies without a vote of, or notice to, our stockholders. This
could result in us conducting operational matters, making investments or pursuing different business or growth strategies. Under any of these circumstances,
we may expose ourselves to different and more significant risks in the future, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, liquidity,
financial condition and results of operations.

The obligations associated with being a public company require significant resources and management attention.

As a public company with listed equity securities, we must comply with numerous laws, regulations and requirements, including the requirements of
the Exchange Act, certain corporate governance provisions of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, or the “Sarbanes-Oxley Act,” related regulations of the SEC
and requirements of the NYSE. The Exchange Act requires that we file annual, quarterly and current reports with respect to our business and financial
condition. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires, among other things, that we establish and maintain effective internal controls and procedures for financial
reporting.

Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires our management and independent auditors to report annually on the effectiveness of our internal
control over financial reporting. However, we are an “emerging growth company,” as defined in the JOBS Act, and, so for as long as we continue to be an
emerging growth company, we intend to take advantage of certain exemptions from various reporting requirements applicable to other public companies but
not to emerging growth companies, including, but not limited to, not being required to comply with the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404.

Once we are no longer an emerging growth company or, if prior to such date, we opt to no longer take advantage of the applicable exemption, we
will be required to include an opinion from our independent auditors on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting.

These reporting and other compliance obligations place significant demands on our management, administrative, operational and accounting
resources and will cause us to incur significant expenses. We may need to upgrade our systems or create new systems, implement additional financial and
management controls, reporting systems and procedures, create or outsource an internal audit function, and hire additional accounting and finance staff.
Pursuant to the Transition Services Agreement PICO, among other things, provides us with various accounting services. As a public company, PICO has
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significant experience with the accounting requirements applicable to public companies. Upon the expiration of this agreement, we will either need to renew
it, internalize the accounting functions currently provided by PICO or contract with a third party for such services. This could result in increased cost, and no
assurance can be given that we will be able to replicate the services provided to us by PICO. If we are unable to accomplish these objectives in a timely and
effective fashion, our ability to comply with the financial reporting requirements and other rules that apply to reporting companies could be impaired. Any
failure to maintain effective internal control over financial reporting could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, liquidity, financial
condition and results of operations.

If we fail to implement and maintain an effective system of internal controls, we may not be able to accurately determine our financial results or
prevent fraud. As a result, our stockholders could lose confidence in our financial results, which could materially and adversely affect us.

Effective internal controls are necessary for us to provide reliable financial reports and effectively prevent fraud. We may in the future discover areas
of our internal controls that need improvement. We cannot be certain that we will be successful in implementing or maintaining adequate internal control
over our financial reporting and financial processes. Furthermore, as we grow our business, our internal controls will become more complex, and we will
require significantly more resources to ensure our internal controls remain effective. Additionally, the existence of any material weakness or significant
deficiency would require management to devote significant time and incur significant expense to remediate any such material weakness or significant
deficiency and management may not be able to remediate any such material weakness or significant deficiency in a timely manner. The existence of any
material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting could also result in errors in our financial statements that could require us to restate our
financial statements, cause us to fail to meet our reporting obligations and cause stockholders to lose confidence in our reported financial information, all of
which could materially and adversely affect us.

We are an “emerging growth company,” and, as a result of the reduced disclosure and governance requirements applicable to emerging growth
companies, our Class A common stock may be less attractive to investors.

We are an “emerging growth company,” as defined in the JOBS Act, and we are eligible to take advantage of certain exemptions from various
reporting requirements applicable to other public companies but not to emerging growth companies, including, but not limited to, a requirement to present
only two years of audited financial statements, an exemption from the auditor attestation requirement of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, reduced
disclosure about executive compensation arrangements pursuant to the rules applicable to smaller reporting companies and no requirement to seek
non‑binding advisory votes on executive compensation or golden parachute arrangements. We have elected to adopt these reduced disclosure requirements.

We could be an emerging growth company until the last day of the fiscal year following the fifth anniversary of the completion of our IPO, although
a variety of circumstances could cause us to lose that status earlier. We cannot predict if investors will find our Class A common stock less attractive as a
result of our taking advantage of these exemptions. If some investors find our Class A common stock less attractive as a result of our choices, there may be a
less active trading market for our Class A common stock and our stock price may be more volatile.

Any joint venture investments that we make could be adversely affected by our lack of sole decision making authority, our reliance on co-venturers’
financial condition and disputes between us and our co-venturers.

We may co-invest in the future with third parties through partnerships, joint ventures or other entities, acquiring non‑controlling interests in or
sharing responsibility for managing the affairs of a land acquisition and/or a development. In this event, we would not be in a position to exercise sole
decision-making authority regarding the acquisition and/or development, and our investment may be illiquid due to our lack of control. Investments in
partnerships, joint ventures, or other entities may, under certain circumstances, involve risks not present were a third-party not involved, including the
possibility that partners or co-venturers might become bankrupt, fail to fund their share of required capital contributions, make poor business decisions or
block or delay necessary decisions. Partners or co-venturers may have economic or other business interests or goals which are inconsistent with our business
interests or goals, and may be in a position to take actions contrary to our policies or objectives. Such investments may also have the potential risk of
impasses on decisions, such as a sale, because neither we nor the partner or co-venturer would have full control over the partnership or joint venture. Disputes
between us and partners or co-venturers may result in litigation or arbitration that would increase our expenses and prevent our officers and/or directors from
focusing their time and effort on our business. In addition, we may in certain circumstances be liable for the actions of our third-party partners or co-venturers.
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Risks Related to Ownership of Our Class A Common Stock

We do not intend to pay dividends on our Class A common stock for the foreseeable future.

We currently intend to retain our future earnings, if any, to finance the development and expansion of our business and, therefore, do not intend to
pay cash dividends on our Class A common stock for the foreseeable future. Any future determination to pay dividends will be at the discretion of our board
of directors and will depend on our financial condition, results of operations, capital requirements, restrictions contained in the indenture governing our 2017
and any other financing instruments and such other factors as our board of directors deems relevant. Accordingly, investors may need to sell their shares of
our Class A common stock to realize a return on their investment, and they may not be able to sell their shares at or above the price paid for.

Future sales of our Class A common stock or other securities convertible into our Class A common stock could cause the market value of our Class A
common stock to decline and could result in dilution of your shares.

Our board of directors is authorized, without stockholder approval, to cause us to issue additional shares of our Class A common stock or to raise
capital through the issuance of preferred stock (including equity or debt securities convertible into Class A common stock), options, warrants and other
rights, on terms and for consideration as our board of directors in its sole discretion may determine. Sales of substantial amounts of our Class A common stock
could cause the market price of our Class A common stock to decrease significantly. We cannot predict the effect, if any, of future sales of our Class A
common stock, or the availability of our Class A common stock for future sales, on the value of our Class A common stock. Sales of substantial amounts of
our Class A common stock by PICO or another large stockholder or otherwise, or the perception that such sales could occur, may also adversely affect the
market price of our Class A common stock.

Future offerings of debt securities, which would rank senior to our Class A common stock upon our bankruptcy or liquidation, and future offerings of
equity securities that may be senior to our Class A common stock for the purposes of dividend and liquidating distributions, may adversely affect the
market price of our Class A common stock.

In the future, we may attempt to increase our capital resources by making offerings of debt securities or additional offerings of equity securities.
Upon bankruptcy or liquidation, our creditors including holders of our debt securities and shares of preferred stock and lenders with respect to other
borrowings, and holders of any outstanding preferred stock will receive a distribution of our available assets prior to the holders of our Class A common
stock. Additional equity offerings may dilute the holdings of our existing stockholders or reduce the market price of our Class A common stock, or both. Our
preferred stock, if issued, could have a preference on liquidating distributions or a preference on dividend payments or both that could limit our ability to
make a dividend distribution to the holders of our Class A common stock. Our decision to issue securities in any future offering will depend on market
conditions and other factors beyond our control. As a result, we cannot predict or estimate the amount, timing or nature of our future offerings, and Class A
common stock owners bear the risk of our future offerings reducing the market price of our Class A common stock and diluting their ownership interest in our
Company.

Non-U.S. holders may be subject to United States federal income tax on gain realized on the sale or disposition of shares of our Class A common stock.

Because of our holdings in United States real property interests, we believe we are and will remain a “United States real property holding
corporation” for United States federal income tax purposes. As a result, a non‑U.S. holder generally will be subject to United States federal income tax on any
gain realized on a sale or disposition of shares of our Class A common stock unless our Class A common stock is regularly traded on an established securities
market (such as the NYSE) and such non‑U.S. holder did not actually or constructively hold more than 5.0% of our Class A common stock at any time during
the shorter of (a) the five-year period preceding the date of the sale or disposition and (b) the non-U.S. holder’s holding period in such stock. In addition, if
our Class A common stock is not regularly traded on an established securities market, a purchaser of the stock generally will be required to withhold and
remit to the IRS 10.0% of the purchase price. A non‑U.S. holder also will be required to file a United States federal income tax return for any taxable year in
which it realizes a gain from the disposition of our Class A common stock that is subject to United States federal income tax. We believe that our Class A
common stock is regularly traded on an established securities market. However, no assurance can be given in this regard and no assurance can be given that
our Class A common stock will remain regularly traded in the future. Non-U.S. holders should consult their tax advisors concerning the consequences of
disposing of shares of our Class A common stock.

THE FOREGOING FACTORS, INDIVIDUALLY OR IN AGGREGATE, COULD MATERIALLY ADVERSELY AFFECT OUR FINANCIAL CONDITION,
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS, CASH FLOW, LIQUIDITY AND THE MARKET PRICE OF OUR CLASS A COMMON STOCK.
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ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

ITEM 2.  PROPERTIES

Our principal executive offices are located at 99 Almaden Boulevard, Suite 400, San Jose, CA 95113. We also lease office space in Fresno and
Valencia, California; Bellevue, Washington; Charlotte and Raleigh, North Carolina; Myrtle Beach, South Carolina; and Nashville, Tennessee. We believe
that our leased office space is adequate to support our business.

ITEM 3.  LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are from time to time subject to various administrative and legal investigations, claims, and proceedings incidental to our business, including
construction and development matters, environmental and safety matters, labor and employment matters, personal injury claims, contractual disputes and
taxes. We establish reserves for claims and proceeding when it is probable that liabilities exist and where reasonable estimates can be made. We also maintain
insurance that may limit our financial exposure for defense costs, as well as liability, if any, for claims covered by insurance (subject also to deductibles and
self-insurance amounts). While any investigation, claim or proceeding has an element of uncertainty, and we cannot predict or assure the outcome of any
claim or proceedings involving our Company, we believe the outcome of any pending or threatened proceeding (other than those that cannot be assessed due
to their preliminary nature), or all of them combined, will not have material adverse effect on our results of operations, cash flows or financial condition. See
Note 14 to our financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 4.  MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.

PART II

ITEM 5.  MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY
SECURITIES

Our Class A common stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange ("NYSE") under the symbol “UCP.” Our Class A common stock began trading on
the NYSE on July 18, 2013. The following table sets out the quarterly high and low daily sale prices of our Class A common stock since July 18, 2013, as
reported on the NYSE.

 Year Ended December 31, 2013

 High  Low

Third Quarter $ 15.17  $ 12.90
Fourth Quarter $ 15.93  $ 13.60
    

 Year Ended December 31, 2014

 High  Low

First Quarter $ 16.85  $ 14.05
Second Quarter $ 15.08  $ 13.02
Third Quarter $ 14.11  $ 11.83
Fourth Quarter $ 13.79  $ 10.28

On March 10, 2015, there were no holders of record of our Class A common stock and one holder of record of Class B common stock.

There is no public market for our Class B common stock.

The indenture governing our Senior Notes contains certain restrictive covenants, including limitations on payment of dividends. We have not declared
or paid any dividends since our IPO, and we do not expect to pay any dividends in the foreseeable future. Future cash dividends, if any, will depend upon our
financial condition, results of operations, capital requirements, compliance with Delaware law, certain restrictive debt covenants, as well as other factors
considered relevant by our board of directors.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities



Period
Total number of shares

of Class A common
stock purchased

 

Average price paid per share
of Class A common stock

 

Total number of shares of
Class A common stock

purchased as part of publicly
announced plans or

programs*  

Maximum number of shares
of Class A common stock that
may yet be purchased under

the plans or programs

January 1 to 31, 2014 55,214  $ 14.73  55,214   
July 1 to 31, 2014 62,124  $ 12.94  62,124   
 117,338    117,338  190,440

* In January and July, 2014, portions of awards of Class A restricted stock units granted to certain of our officers and other employees vested. The vesting of
these Class A restricted stock units, granted in connection with our successful initial public offering and pursuant to the UCP, Inc. 2013 Long-Term Incentive
Plan (the “LTIP”), resulted in federal and state income tax liabilities for the recipients. As permitted by the terms of the Plan and the award agreements, certain
of our officers elected to surrender to the company portions of the vesting Class A restricted stock units ("RSUs") solely to pay some or all of the associated
taxes. Aggregate shares purchased by the Company totaled 117,338 valued at approximately $1.6 million. The LTIP will automatically expire on the tenth
anniversary of its effective date. The Company’s board of directors may terminate or amend the LTIP at any time, subject to any stockholder approval
required by applicable law, rule or regulation.

Stock Performance Graph

 7/18/2013 9/30/2013 12/31/2013 3/31/2014 6/30/2014 9/30/2014 12/31/2014
UCP, Inc. $ 100 $ 106 $ 105 $ 108 $ 98 $ 85 $ 75
S&P 500 Index 100 100 109 111 116 117 122
S&P Homebuilding Index 100 100 109 107 108 97 112

The above graph compares the cumulative total stockholder return on UCP, Inc.'s Class A common stock against the cumulative total returns of the
Standard and Poor's Corporation Composite 500 Index (the "S&P 500 Index") and the Standard and Poor's Homebuilding Index (the "S&P Homebuilding
Index"). The graph assumes a $100 investment at the close of the market on July 18, 2013, the initial listing of UCP, Inc.'s Class A common stock on the New
York Stock Exchange, in each of UCP, Inc. Class A common stock, the S&P 500 Index and the S&P Homebuilding Index, held through December 31, 2014.
Reinvestment of dividends is assumed in the case of each indexes.

The closing price of UCP, Inc. Class A common stock on the New York Stock Exchange was $10.50 per share on December 31, 2014 and $14.64 per
share on December 31, 2013. The performance of our common stock depicted in the graphs above represents past performance only and is not indicative of
future performance.
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ITEM 6.  SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following table presents certain selected consolidated financial data.  The information set forth below is not necessarily indicative of the results of
future operations and should be read in conjunction with Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations”
and the consolidated financial statements and the related notes thereto included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

We completed our IPO on July 23, 2013. Due to the timing of our IPO, we present herein certain combined consolidated historical financial data for us
and UCP, LLC for periods prior to the IPO. As such the information for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 reflect the financial condition and
results of operations of our predecessor and the information for the year ended December 31, 2013 reflects the financial condition and results of operations of
our predecessor together with us.

 Year Ended December 31,

 2014  2013  2012  2011

 (In thousands, except units and per share data)

Statement of Operations Data:        
Home sales $ 155,417  $ 72,511  $ 14,060  $ 8,285
Cost of home sales 129,577  57,500  9,832  5,621

Homebuilding gross profit 25,840  15,011  4,228  2,664
        

Land sales 32,513  20,215  44,066  15,893
Cost of land sales 25,466  13,820  32,876  17,280

Land sales gross profit 7,047  6,395  11,190  (1,387)
        

Other revenue 3,253  —  —  —
Cost of sales - other revenue 2,828  —  —  —

Other revenue gross profit 425  —  —  —
        

Sales and marketing 13,748  6,647  2,875  1,414
General and administrative 27,406  19,368  10,103  6,464
Other income 121  322  578  34
Net (loss) income $ (7,721)  $ (4,287)  $ 3,018  $ (6,567)

Net loss (Income) attributable to noncontrolling interest $ (2,728)  $ (2,346)  $ 3,018  $ (6,567)

Net loss attributable to shareholders of UCP, Inc. $ (4,993)  $ (1,941)   
Loss per share        

Basic and diluted $ (0.63)  $ (0.25)   
        

Operating Data-Owned Projects:        
Net new home orders 473  205  61  39
New homes delivered 432  196  41  33
Average sales price of homes delivered (in thousands) $ 360  $ 370  $ 343  $ 251
Cancellation rate 8.0%  12.8%  12.9%  13.3%
Average Active Selling Communities  (a) 16  7  3  3
Active Selling Communities at end of period (a) 21  9  4  2
Backlog at end of period, number of homes 91  35  26  6
Backlog at end of period, aggregate sales value (in thousands) $ 32,499  $ 17,121  $ 9,182  $ 1,463

(a) Active Selling Communities as of and for the year ended December 31, 2014 consist of those developments where we have more than 15 homes remaining to sell.
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 As of December 31,

 2014  2013  2012  2011

FINANCIAL CONDITION (In thousands, except per share data)

Cash and cash equivalents $ 42,033  $ 87,503  $ 10,324  $ 2,276
Real estate inventories 321,693  176,848  125,367  121,347
Total assets 377,451  267,320  137,534  125,571
Debt 135,451  30,950  29,112  30,034
Total liabilities 166,184  49,604  35,219  32,579
Total Stockholders’ equity $ 211,267  $ 217,716  $ 102,315  $ 92,992
Total UCP, Inc. stockholders equity $ 87,255  $ 91,254     
Book value per share (1) $ 11.01  $ 11.77     

(1) Book value per share is computed by dividing total UCP, Inc. stockholders’ equity by the net of total shares issued less shares held as treasury shares.

Selected financial data for 2010 is not presented here as the Company is an "Emerging Growth Company" under the JOBS Act.
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ITEM 7.  MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations below presents the Company’s operating results for each of
the three years in the periods ended December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012 as well as its financial condition as of December 31, 2014. Except for the historical
information contained herein, this Annual Report on Form 10-K and other written and oral statements that the Company makes from time to time contain
forward-looking statements, which involve substantial known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other important factors that could cause the actual
results, performance or achievements of results to differ materially from any future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by such
forward-looking statements. See the section of this Annual Report on Form 10-K entitled “Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements.” Among
the factors that could cause actual results to differ materially are those discussed in “Risks Factors” in Item 1A of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. In
addition, the following Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations should be read in connection with the
information presented in the Company’s consolidated financial statements and the related notes to its consolidated financial statements included elsewhere
in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Overview

We are a homebuilder and land developer with land development and entitlement expertise in California, Washington State, North Carolina, South
Carolina and Tennessee. As of December 31, 2014, we owned or controlled (through executed purchase contracts) a total of 4,879 residential lots in our West
reportable segment and 1,489 lots in the Southeast reportable segment. As of December 31, 2014, our property portfolio consisted of 83 communities in 38
cities in our West and Southeast operating segments.

During the year ended December 31, 2014, the overall U.S. housing market continued to show signs of improvement, driven by factors such as
decreasing home inventories, higher affordability and improving employment. We believe that during the prior year and particularly in the second half of
2013, the housing market was affected by interest rate volatility, the partial federal government shutdown and the events leading up to it. Additionally,
seasonal factors had a significant effect on the broader housing market as well as our markets (see “Liquidity and Capital Resources - Seasonality” below).
Individual markets continue to experience varying results, as local home inventories, affordability, and employment factors strongly influence each local
market.

 
 Numerous factors can affect the performance of an individual market, however, we believe that trends in employment, housing inventory, affordability,

interest rates and home prices have a particularly significant impact. We expect that these market trends will continue to have an impact on our operating
performance and community count. Trends in housing inventory, home affordability, employment, interest rates and home prices are the principal factors that
affect our revenues and many of our costs and expenses, for example, when these trends are favorable, we expect our revenues from homebuilding and land
development, as well as our related costs and expenses, to generally increase; conversely, when these trends are negative, we expect our revenue and costs
and expenses to generally decline, although in each case the impact may not be immediate. When trends are favorable, we would expect to increase our
community count by opening additional communities and expanding existing communities; conversely, when these trends are negative, we would expect to
maintain our community count or decrease the pace at which we open additional communities and expand existing communities. Based on our current data
and our near term outlook, we expect to experience continued growth in community count in our existing regional operations, offering the opportunity to
further increase revenues.

Our operations for the year ended December 31, 2014 reflect our continued emphasis on growing our homebuilding operations, as evidenced by an
increase in the number of Active Average Selling Communities ("ASC") from seven during 2013 to sixteen during 2014 (ASC for the 2014 period consists of
those developments where we have more than 15 homes remaining to sell). Our home deliveries increased from 196 in 2013 to 432 in 2014 and our
homebuilding revenue increased by $82.9 million to $155.4 million during 2014, as compared to $72.5 million during 2013. Our backlog at December 31,
2014 of $32.5 million was $15.4 million higher than that at December 31, 2013. Our average selling price ("ASP") of homes decreased to approximately
$360,000 during 2014, as compared to approximately $370,000 during 2013. The decrease in ASP in 2014 from the prior year is mainly attributable to the
change in regional mix of homes sold. Our land development operations due to the broader housing market conditions discussed above also saw a continued
demand for entitled or nearly entitled lots in competitive markets. Land development revenue increased by $12.3 million to $32.5 million for 2014 from
$20.2 million for 2013. The increase in land sale revenue in 2014 when compared to 2013 was an outcome of our overall business plan and our ability to
market and sell specific assets at targeted prices. Other revenue of $3.3 million during the year ended December 31, 2014 was related to construction
management services provided to property owners primarily under “cost plus fee” contracts, services we now provide as a result of the Citizens Acquisition.

Our consolidated net loss was $7.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2014, as compared to a consolidated net loss of $4.3 million for the year
ended December 31, 2013. The increase in net loss in 2014 from the prior year was due mainly to a decrease in
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consolidated gross margin percentage from 23.1% in 2013 to 17.4% in 2014 caused largely by a higher cost basis in homes sold in 2014, a reduction in ASP,
increased personnel cost as we continued to develop our Company, approximately $1.4 million increase in stock-based compensation expenses and
$778,000 of transaction related expenses related to Citizens Acquisition.

Revenue and gross margin for our land development operations tend to be dynamic, as land development revenue is typically driven by discrete
transactions, which are motivated by numerous considerations, while revenue and gross margin for our homebuilding operations tend to be more predictable.

During the year ended December 31, 2014, we identified land investment opportunities that met our underwriting criteria and we increased our total lots
owned and controlled from the prior year by 988 lots to 6,368. On April 10, 2014, we completed the Citizens Acquisition in order to position the Company to
expand its residential homes operations into markets located in North Carolina, South Carolina and Tennessee.

Results of Operations

Year Ended December 31, 2014 Compared to the Year Ended December 31, 2013

Consolidated Financial Data

 Year ended December 31,  Change

 2014  2013  Dollars  %

 (In thousands)   
Revenue:        
Homebuilding $ 155,417  $ 72,511  $ 82,906  114.3 %
Land development 32,513  20,215  12,298  60.8 %
Other revenue 3,253  —  3,253  100.0 %
Total revenue 191,183  92,726  98,457  106.2 %
Cost of Sales:        
Homebuilding 129,577  57,500  72,077  125.4 %
Land development 25,466  13,820  11,646  84.3 %
Other revenue 2,828  —  2,828  100.0 %
Gross margin 33,312  21,406  11,906  55.6 %
Expenses:        
Sales and marketing 13,748  6,647  7,101  106.8 %
General and administrative 27,406  19,368  8,038  41.5 %
Total expenses 41,154  26,015  15,139  58.2 %
Loss from operations (7,842)  (4,609)  (3,233)  70.1 %
Other income 121  322  (201)  (62.4)%
Net loss $ (7,721)  $ (4,287)  $ (3,434)  80.1 %
* Percentages may not add up due to rounding.
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Select Operating Metrics

 Year Ended December 31,   
 2014  2013  Change

Net new home orders (1) 473  205  268
Cancellation rate (2) 8.0%  12.8%  (4.8)%
Average Active Selling Communities during the period (3) (a) 16  7  9

Active Selling Communities at end of period (a)
21  9  12

Backlog (4) (in thousands) $ 32,499  $ 17,121  $ 15,378
Backlog (4) (units) 91  35  56

Average sales price of backlog (in thousands) $ 357  $ 489  (132 )

(1) “Net new home orders” refers to new home sales contracts reduced by the number of sales contracts canceled during the relevant period.
(2) “Cancellation rate” refers to sales contracts canceled divided by sales contracts executed during the relevant period.
(3) “Average Active Selling Communities during the period” refers to the average number of open selling communities at the end of each month during the

period.
(4) “Backlog” refers to homes under sales contracts that have not yet closed at the end of the relevant period. Sales contracts relating to homes in backlog

may be canceled by the purchaser for a number of reasons, such as the prospective purchaser's inability to obtain suitable mortgage financing. Upon a
cancellation, the escrow deposit is returned to the prospective purchaser (other than with respect to certain design-related deposits, which we retain).
Accordingly, backlog may not be indicative of our future revenue.

 
(a) Active Selling Communities as of and for the year ended December 31, 2014 consists of those developments where we have more
than 15 homes remaining to sell.

The increase in net new home orders, backlog (units) and backlog (value) in 2014 as compared to 2013 was primarily due to having an average of
sixteen ASC during the year ended December 31, 2014 (and twenty-one at year end), as compared to an average of seven ASC during the year ended
December 31, 2013 (and nine at year end). ASC as of and for the year ended December 31, 2014 consists of those developments where we have more than 15
homes remaining to sell. The increase in number of selling communities was mainly caused by new communities added as a result of our Citizens
Acquisition.

Our cancellation rate in 2014 decreased to 8.0% compared to 12.8% in 2013. The reduction was due in part to the influence of broader national factors,
such as unease over the partial federal government shutdown and concerns over interest rate volatility, which adversely affected regional consumer
confidence in the prior year. The decrease in our average sales price of backlog at year 2014 compared to 2013 was mainly because in 2013 we were primarily
building and selling new homes in communities with higher average sales prices particularly in Santa Clara and San Benito counties in California, which
generally have higher average home prices than our other selling communities, especially in the Southeast.

 
The number of homes and lots we sell during any period depends upon numerous factors including but not limited to market conditions, demand, and

availability of inventory to meet such demand. The number of homes and lots we have sold on an annual basis has fluctuated from year to year. Accordingly,
it should not be assumed that our historical sales or growth will be maintained in future periods.
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Owned and Controlled Lots

As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, we owned or controlled, pursuant to purchase or option contracts, an aggregate of 6,368 and 5,380 lots, respectively,
as represented in the tables below (excludes home inventory):

 Year Ended December 31,   Increase (Decrease) 

 2014  2013  Lots  %

Lots Owned        
West 4,410  4,030  380  9.4 %
Southeast 1,033  —  1,033  100.0 %

Total 5,443  4,030  1,413  35.1 %
        

Lots Controlled(1)        
West 469  1,350  (881)  (65.3)%
Southeast 456  —  456  100.0 %

Total 925  1,350  (425)  (31.5)%
Total Lots Owned and Controlled(1)

  6,368  5,380  988  18.4 %

(1) Controlled lots are those subject to a purchase or option contract.

Southeast projects were added during 2014 as part of our Citizens Acquisition which added 113 owned and 445 controlled lots to our owned and
controlled lot portfolio. Other than the lots acquired through the Citizens Acquisition, we added 1,300 lots to our owned portfolio, most of which were
purchased from our controlled lots as of December 31, 2013. Moreover, as of December 31, 2014, our controlled lot inventory of 925 consisted of five new
projects. For our controlled lots, we have placed a total of $2.4 million of cash deposits with an aggregate remaining purchase price (net of deposits) of
approximately $49.6 million. Of our 6,368 owned and controlled lots as of December 31, 2014, 1,382 lots were finished, 4,707 were approved with primary
entitlements and 279 lots were unentitled.

Revenue
 

 Year ended December 31,

 2014  2013  Change

 (Dollars in thousands except homes delivered and lots sold)   
Homebuilding        
Revenue $ 155,417  $ 72,511  $ 82,906  114.3 %
Homes delivered (units) 432  196  236  120.4 %
Average selling price $ 360  $ 370  $ (10)  (2.7)%
        
Land development        
Revenue $ 32,513  $ 20,215  $ 12,298  60.8 %
Lots sold (units) 348  253  95  37.5 %
        
Other revenue        
Revenue $ 3,253  $ —  $ 3,253  100.0 %
        

Total revenue $ 191,183  $ 92,726  $ 98,457  106.2 %

 
Total revenue for the year ended December 31, 2014 increased by $98.5 million, or 106.2%, to $191.2 million, as compared to $92.7 million for the

year ended December 31, 2013. The increase in revenue was primarily the result of increased home sales during
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the 2014 period attributable to an increased number of ASC and favorable sales pace at certain of those communities. These factors were favorably impacted
during 2014 in part by a housing recovery in our markets, which contributed to increased demand for homes by home-buyers in many of our markets. The
increase in number of ASC was mainly the result of our Citizens Acquisition.

Homebuilding Revenue
 

Homebuilding revenue for the year ended December 31, 2014 increased by $82.9 million, or 114.3%, to $155.4 million from $72.5 million for the year
ended December 31, 2013. This was primarily the result of an increase in the number of homes sold to 432 during 2014, as compared to 196 homes during
2013. The increase in number of homes sold was mainly caused by higher number of ASC during 2014 when compared to 2013 primarily resulted from our
Citizens Acquisition. Of the 21 ASC as of end of December 31, 2014, 7 were located in the Southeast (ASC as of and for the year ended December 31, 2014
consists of those developments where we have more than 15 homes remaining to sell). The increase in revenue due to an increase in number of homes sold
was partially offset by a decrease in ASP in 2014 to $360,000 from $370,000 during 2013. This decrease in ASP was mainly caused by the change in regional
mix of homes sold. We sold 309 homes in our West operating segment with an ASP of approximately $415,000 and 123 homes in our Southeast operating
segment with an ASP of approximately $220,000. Of the increase in homebuilding revenue during 2014 from the prior year, $87.3 million was related to
increased units delivered offset by a decrease of $4.4 million due to a decrease in ASP.
 

Land Development Revenue

Despite our emphasis on growing our homebuilding operations, we continue to seek and benefit from opportunistic land sales to third party
homebuilders. Land development revenue for the year ended December 31, 2014 increased by $12.3 million, or 60.8%, to $32.5 million, as compared to
$20.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2013. This was primarily the result of an increase in the number of lots sold to 348 during 2014, as compared
to 253 lots during 2013. Of the $12.3 million increase in land development revenue, approximately $7.6 million was due to an increase in number of lots
sold and $4.7 million was due to increase in pricing. Various factors can affect the price of land including the status of land sold (e.g., fully entitled, improved
or unimproved) and housing market conditions in the markets in which the land sales occur. The lots sold during the 2014 period were a mix of improved and
unimproved parcels in the South San Francisco Bay, Puget Sound, and Central Valley areas. The lots sold during the 2013 period were a mix of improved and
unimproved parcels in the South San Francisco Bay and Puget Sound areas.

Other Revenue

Other revenue of $3.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2014 relates to construction management services provided by the Company which
began in April 2014 with the Citizens Acquisition.

Cost of Sales

Home Building Cost of Sales

Cost of sales-homebuilding for the year ended December 31, 2014 increased by $72.1 million, or 125.4%, to $129.6 million, as compared to $57.5
million for the year ended December 31, 2013. Of this increase, $69.1 million was due to the increase in the number of homes sold during 2014 (432 homes
sold in 2014, as compared to 196 homes in 2013), and the remaining $3.0 million was due to the increase in the average cost per home sold during 2014
($300,000 per home in 2014, as compared to $293,000 per home in 2013). The increase in the average cost per home sold in 2014 was primarily attributable
to the regional mix of the homes delivered rather than cost increases associated with projects.

 
Land Development Cost of Sales

Cost of sales-land development for the year ended December 31, 2014 increased by $11.6 million, or 84.3%, to $25.5 million, as compared to $13.8
million for the year ended December 31, 2013. Of this increase, $5.3 million related to the increased number of lots sold and $6.3 million due to an increase
in average cost per lot sold. Various factors can affect the cost of land sales including the status of land sold (e.g., fully entitled, improved or unimproved) and
housing market conditions in the markets in which the land sales occur.
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Gross Margin and Adjusted Gross Margin

 Year ended December 31.

 2014  %  2013  %

 (Dollars in thousands)   
Consolidated Adjusted Gross Margin        
Revenue $ 191,183  100.0%  $ 92,726  100.0%
Cost of sales 157,871  82.6%  71,320  76.9%
Gross margin 33,312  17.4%  21,406  23.1%
Add: interest in cost of sales 2,792  1.5%  1,183  1.3%
Add: impairment and abandonment charges 173  0.1%  309  —%
Adjusted gross margin(1) $ 36,277  19.0%  $ 22,898  24.7%
Consolidated gross margin percentage 17.4%    23.1%   
Consolidated adjusted gross margin percentage(1) 19.0%    24.7%   
        

Homebuilding Adjusted Gross Margin        
Homebuilding revenue $ 155,417  100.0%  $ 72,511  100.0%
Cost of home sales 129,577  83.4%  57,500  79.3%
Homebuilding gross margin 25,840  16.6%  15,011  20.7%
Add: interest in cost of home sales 2,789  1.8%  1,174  1.6%
Add: impairment and abandonment charges —  —%  —  —%
Adjusted homebuilding gross margin(1) $ 28,629  18.4%  $ 16,185  22.3%
Homebuilding gross margin percentage 16.6%    20.7%   
Adjusted homebuilding gross margin percentage(1) 18.4%    22.3%   
        

Land Development Adjusted Gross Margin        
Land development revenue $ 32,513  100.0%  $ 20,215  100.0%
Cost of land development 25,466  78.3%  13,820  68.4%
Land development gross margin 7,047  21.7%  6,395  31.6%
Add: interest in cost of land development 3  —%  9  —%
Add: impairment and abandonment charges 173  0.5%  309  1.6%
Adjusted land development gross margin(1) $ 7,223  22.2%  $ 6,713  33.2%
Land development gross margin percentage 21.7%    31.6%   
Adjusted land development gross margin percentage(1) 22.2%    33.2%   
        

Other Revenue Gross and Adjusted Margin        
Revenue $ 3,253  100.0%  —  —
Cost of revenue 2,828  86.9%  —  —
Other revenue gross and adjusted margin $ 425  13.06%  —  —
Other revenue gross and adjusted margin percentage 13.06%    —   

* Percentages may not add due to rounding. 

(1) Consolidated adjusted gross margin percentage, homebuilding adjusted gross margin percentage and land development adjusted gross margin percentage are non-U.S. GAAP
financial measures. Adjusted gross margin is defined as gross margin plus capitalized interest, impairment and abandonment charges. We use adjusted gross margin
information as a supplemental measure when evaluating our operating performance.
We believe this information is meaningful, because it isolates the impact that leverage and non-cash impairment and abandonment charges have on gross margin. However,
because adjusted gross margin information excludes interest expense and impairment and abandonment charges, all of which have real economic effects and could materially
impact our results, the utility of adjusted gross margin information as a measure of our
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operating performance is limited. In addition, other companies may not calculate gross margin information in the same manner that we do. Accordingly, adjusted gross margin
information should be considered only as a supplement to gross margin information as a measure of our performance. The table above provides a reconciliation of adjusted
gross margin numbers to the most comparable U.S. GAAP financial measure.

Homebuilding gross margin decreased by 4.1% from 20.7% in 2013 to 16.6% in 2014. This was mainly caused by higher cost basis of homes sold in
2014, as compared to the homes sold in prior year, as well as an increase in buyer incentives and higher interest costs from increased borrowings. Our
homebuilding adjusted gross margin percentage decreased by 3.9% during the year ended December 31, 2014 over the prior year comparable period. The
decrease in the adjusted gross margin percentage was also caused by the same factors stated above for gross margin excluding interest cost, a cost not
included in this measure.

The decrease of 9.9% in our land development gross margin and 11.0% of land development adjusted gross margin percentage for the year ended
December 31, 2014, as compared to the same period in 2013, was primarily attributable to higher cost basis in the lots we sold during the 2014 period due to
change in geographical mix of lots sold.

Our other revenue was the result of the commencement of construction management services, which began in April 2014 with the Citizens Acquisition.

 
Sales and Marketing and General and Administrative Expense

Our operating expenses for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 were as follows:
 

   
Change

 As a Percentage of 
Total Revenue  Year Ended December 31,   

 2014  2013  Dollars  %  2014  2013

 (in thousands)       

Sales and marketing $ 13,748  $ 6,647  $ 7,101  106.8%  7.2%  7.2%

General and administrative (“G&A”) 27,406  19,368  8,038  41.5%  14.3%  20.9%

Total sales and marketing and G&A $ 41,154  $ 26,015  $ 15,139  58.2%  21.5%  28.1%
 
* Percentages may not add due to rounding. 

Sales and marketing expense for the year ended December 31, 2014 increased approximately $7.1 million, or 106.8%, to $13.7 million, as compared to
approximately $6.6 million for the comparable 2013 period. The increase in sales and marketing expense was primarily attributable to a 120.4% increase in
the number of homes delivered for the year ended December 31, 2014, as compared to the same period in 2013. As a percentage of total revenue, sales and
marketing expense decreased slightly to 7.2% during the year ended December 31, 2014, as compared to 7.2% for the prior year. The decrease was due to a
higher revenue base in 2014 relative to the increase in sales and marketing costs.

G&A expense for the year ended December 31, 2014 increased approximately $8.0 million, or 41.5%, to $27.4 million, as compared to $19.4 million
for the 2013 period. The increase in G&A expense for the 2014 period as compared to the same period prior year, was largely the result of expenses associated
with becoming a public company in July of 2013 and increased headcount which increased personnel and related costs. Total headcount increased to 173
employees as of December 31, 2014 from 90 employees as of December 31, 2013. Total number of employees as of the end of fiscal year 2014 included 58
employees associated with our Southeast operating segment which was added as part of Citizens Acquisition. Stock-based compensation expense of
approximately $3.6 million was recorded for the year ended December 31, 2014, as compared to $2.2 million for the comparable period in the prior year.
Moreover, approximately $778,000 of transaction costs related to the Citizens Acquisition were included in the results for the year ended December 31,
2014; no such expenses were incurred during the comparable period in the prior year. These were offset by the revision of our estimate of the probable
amount of contingent consideration due to Citizens which reduced G&A by $377,000. As a percentage of total revenue, G&A expense decreased to 14.3%
during the year ended December 31, 2014, as compared to 20.9% for
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the comparable prior year period. The decrease was mainly due to a higher revenue base in 2014 relative to the increase in G&A expense.

During the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, our G&A expenses included approximately $615,000 and $400,000, respectively, of expenses for
certain services under the Transition Services Agreement with PICO. These services included executive management, information technology, legal, finance
and accounting, human resources, risk management, tax and treasury.

Other Income
 

Other income decreased by $201,000 for the year ended December 31, 2014 to $121,000, as compared to $322,000 for the year ended December 31,
2013. This decrease was primarily attributable to $150,000 of income relating to the settlement of a claim we had against a third party during 2013.

 

Net Income/Loss
 

As a result of the foregoing factors, consolidated net loss for the year ended December 31, 2014 was $7.7 million compared to a consolidated net loss of
$4.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2013.
 
    

Year Ended December 31, 2013 Compared to the Year Ended December 31, 2012

Consolidated Financial Data

 Year ended December 31,  Change

 2013  2012  Dollars  %

 (in thousands)   
Revenue:        
Homebuilding $ 72,511  $ 14,060  $ 58,451  415.7 %
Land development 20,215  44,066  (23,851)  (54.1)%
Total revenue 92,726  58,126  34,600  59.5 %
Cost of Sales:        
Homebuilding 57,500  9,832  47,668  484.8 %
Land Development 13,820  32,876  (19,056)  (58.0)%
Gross margin 21,406  15,418  5,988  38.8 %
Expenses:        
Sales and marketing 6,647  2,875  3,772  131.2 %
General and administrative 19,368  10,103  9,265  91.7 %
Total expenses 26,015  12,978  13,037  100.5 %
Income (loss) from operations (4,609)  2,440  (7,049)  (288.9)%
Other income 322  578  (256)  (44.3)%
Net income (loss) $ (4,287)  $ 3,018  $ (7,305)  (242.0)%

* Percentages may not add up due to rounding.
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Select Operating Metrics

 Year Ended December 31,   
 2013  2012  Change

Net new home orders (1) 205  61  144
Cancellation rate (2) 12.8%  12.9%  (0.1)%
Average selling communities during the period (3) 7  3  4

Selling communities at end of period 9  4  5
Backlog (4) (in thousands) $ 17,121  $ 9,182  $ 7,939
Backlog (4) (units) 35  26  9

Average sales price of backlog (in thousands) $ 489  $ 353  $ 136

(1) “Net new home orders” refers to new home sales contracts reduced by the number of sales contracts canceled during the relevant period.
(2) “Cancellation rate” refers to sales contracts canceled divided by sales contracts executed during the relevant period.
(3) “Average selling communities during the period” refers to the average number of open selling communities at the end of each month during the period.
(4) “Backlog” refers to homes under sales contracts that have not yet closed at the end of the relevant period. Sales contracts relating to homes in backlog

may be canceled by the purchaser for a number of reasons, such as the prospective purchaser's inability to obtain suitable mortgage financing. Upon a
cancellation, the escrow deposit is returned to the prospective purchaser (other than with respect to certain design-related deposits, which we retain).
Accordingly, backlog may not be indicative of our future revenue.

The increase as compared to 2012 in net new home orders, backlog (units) and backlog (value) was primarily due to having seven active selling
communities during the year ended December 31, 2013 (and nine at year end), as compared to three active selling communities during the year ended
December 31, 2012 (and four at year end). Additionally, an increase in the average sales price of backlog accounted for approximately $4.8 million of the
$7.9 million increase in backlog (value).
 

Our cancellation rate in 2013 decreased slightly compared to 2012. The increase in our average sales price of backlog at year 2013 compared to 2012
was because in 2013 we were primarily building and selling new homes in communities with higher average sales prices. This trend was started in 2013, when
we began delivering homes in Santa Clara and San Benito counties in California, which have higher average home prices than the Central Valley, California
markets where many of the homes we sold during 2012 were located.

 
Owned and Controlled Lots

As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, we owned or controlled, pursuant to purchase or option contracts, an aggregate of 5,380 and 4,853 lots, respectively,
as represented in the tables below (excludes home inventory):

 

 Year Ended     
 December 31,   Increase (Decrease) 

 2013  2012  Lots  % 

Lots Owned        

  West 4,030  4,162  (132)  (3.2)%
        

Lots Controlled(1)
       

  West 1,350  691  659  95.4 %

    Total Lots Owned and Controlled(1)   5,380  4,853  527  10.9 %

(1) Lots controlled includes lots subject to purchase or option contracts.

52



During 2013, we added nine new projects totaling 479 lots to our owned portfolio, 205 of which were purchased from our controlled lots as of
December 31, 2012. In 2013, we added nine new projects encompassing 1,350 lots to our controlled lots. We placed a total of $3.7 million of cash deposits
on these lots with an aggregate remaining purchase price (net of deposits) of approximately $87.9 million. Of our 5,380 owned and controlled lots as of
December 31, 2013, 1,068 lots were finished, 3,917 were approved with primary entitlements and 395 lots were unentitled.

Revenue

  Year ended December 31,     
  2013  2012  Change

  (in thousands)  %

Homebuilding         
Revenue  $ 72,511  $ 14,060  $ 58,451  415.7 %
Homes delivered (units)  196  41  155  378.0 %
Average selling price  $ 370  $ 343  $ 27  7.9 %
Average cost of sales  $ 293  $ 240  $ 53  22.1 %
         
Land development         
Revenue  $ 20,215  $ 44,066  $ (23,851)  (54.1)%
Lots sold (units)  253  560  (307)  (54.8)%
         

Total revenue  $ 92,726  $ 58,126  $ 34,600  59.5 %

 
Total revenue for the year ended December 31, 2013 increased by $34.6 million, or 59.5%, to $92.7 million, as compared to $58.1 million for the year

ended December 31, 2012. The increase in revenue was primarily the result of increased home sales during 2013 attributable to an increased number of active
selling communities and favorable sales pace at certain of those communities. These factors were favorably impacted during 2013 by a housing recovery in
our markets, which contributed to increased demand for homes by home buyers in many of our markets.

Home Building Revenue
 

Home building revenue for the year ended December 31, 2013 increased by $58.5 million, or 415.7%, to $72.5 million, as compared to $14.1 million
for the year ended December 31, 2012. The increase was primarily the result of an increase in the number of homes sold to 196 during 2013, as compared to
41 homes during 2012, and due to an increase in the average selling price of our homes to approximately $370,000 during 2013, as compared to
approximately $343,000 during 2012. Of this increase, $53.2 million related to increased units delivered and $5.3 million related to an increase in average
selling price. The increase in average selling price during the 2013 period was primarily the result of increased deliveries at communities located in areas
with higher home prices. During the 2013 period, we were selling homes in Santa Clara and San Benito counties of California, that had higher average home
prices than the Central Valley and Monterey markets of California where all of the homes we sold during the 2012 period were located.
 

Land Development Revenue

Land development revenue for the year ended December 31, 2013 decreased by $23.9 million, or 54.1%, to $20.2 million, as compared to $44.1
million for the year ended December 31, 2012. This was primarily the result of a decrease in the number of lots sold to 253 during 2013, as compared to 560
lots during 2012. Of the $23.9 million decline in land development revenue, $24.2 million was due to the decreased number of lots sold, partially offset by a
$0.3 million increase due to pricing. Various factors can affect the price of land, including the status of land sold (e.g., fully entitled, improved or
unimproved) and housing market conditions in the markets in which the land sales occur. The lots sold during the 2013 period were a mix of improved and
unimproved parcels in the South San Francisco Bay and Puget Sound areas. The lots sold during the 2012 period were a mix of improved and unimproved
parcels in the South San Francisco Bay, Puget Sound, and Central Valley markets.

Cost of Sales
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Home Building Cost of Sales

Cost of sales-homebuilding for the year ended December 31, 2013 increased by $47.7 million, or 484.8%, to $57.5 million, as compared to $9.8
million for the year ended December 31, 2012. Of this increase, $37.2 million was due to the increase in the number of homes sold during 2013 (196 homes
sold in 2013, as compared to 41 homes in 2012), and the remaining $10.5 million was due to the increase in the average cost per home sold during 2013
($293,000 per home in 2013, as compared to $240,000 per home in 2012). The increase in the average cost per home sold in 2013 was primarily attributable
to the regional mix of the homes delivered rather than cost increases associated with projects.
 

Land Development Cost of Sales

Cost of sales-land development for the year ended December 31, 2013 decreased by $19.1 million, or 58.0%, to $13.8 million, as compared to $32.9
million for the year ended December 31, 2012. Of this decrease, $18.0 million related to the decreased number of lots sold and the remaining $1.1 million
related to the decrease in average cost per lot sold. Various factors can affect the cost of land sales, including the status of land sold (e.g., fully entitled,
improved or unimproved) and housing market conditions in the markets in which the land sales occur.
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Gross Margin and Adjusted Gross Margin

 Year Ended December 31,

 2013  %  2012  %

 In thousands    In thousands   
Consolidated Adjusted Gross Margin        
Revenue $ 92,726  100.0%  $ 58,126  100.0%
Cost of sales 71,320  76.9%  42,708  73.5%
Gross margin 21,406  23.1%  15,418  26.5%
Add: interest in cost of sales 1,183  1.3%  760  1.3%
Add: impairment and abandonment charges 309  —%  665  1.1%
Adjusted gross margin(1) $ 22,898  24.7%  $ 16,843  29.0%
Consolidated gross margin percentage 23.1%    26.5%   
Consolidated adjusted gross margin percentage(1) 24.7%    29.0%   
        

Homebuilding Adjusted Gross Margin        
Homebuilding revenue $ 72,511  100.0%  $ 14,060  100.0%
Cost of home sales 57,500  79.3%  9,832  69.9%
Homebuilding gross margin 15,011  20.7%  4,228  30.1%
Add: interest in cost of home sales 1,174  1.6%  122  0.9%
Add: impairment and abandonment charges —  —%  —  —%
Adjusted homebuilding gross margin(1) $ 16,185  22.3%  $ 4,350  30.9%
Homebuilding gross margin percentage 20.7%    30.1%   
Adjusted homebuilding gross margin percentage(1) 22.3%    30.9%   
        

Land Development Adjusted Gross Margin        
Land development revenue $ 20,215  100.0%  $ 44,066  100.0%
Cost of land development 13,820  68.4%  32,876  74.6%
Land development gross margin 6,395  31.6%  11,190  25.4%
Add: interest in cost of land development 9  —%  638  1.4%
Add: impairment and abandonment charges 309  1.6%  665  1.5%
Adjusted land development gross margin(1) $ 6,713  33.2%  $ 12,493  28.4%
Land development gross margin percentage 31.6%    25.4%   
Adjusted land development gross margin percentage(1) 33.2%    28.4%   

* Percentages may not add due to rounding. 

(1) Consolidated adjusted gross margin percentage, homebuilding adjusted gross margin percentage and land development adjusted gross margin percentage are non-U.S. GAAP
financial measures. Adjusted gross margin is defined as gross margin plus capitalized interest, impairment and abandonment charges. We use adjusted gross margin
information as a supplemental measure when evaluating our operating performance.
We believe this information is meaningful, because it isolates the impact that leverage and non-cash impairment and abandonment charges have on gross margin. However,
because adjusted gross margin information excludes interest expense and impairment and abandonment charges, all of which have real economic effects and could materially
impact our results, the utility of adjusted gross margin information as a measure of our operating performance is limited. In addition, other companies may not calculate gross
margin information in the same manner that we do. Accordingly, adjusted gross margin information should be considered only as a supplement to gross margin information as
a measure of our performance. The table above provides a reconciliation of adjusted gross margin numbers to the most comparable U.S. GAAP financial measure.

Our homebuilding gross margin percentage decreased by 9.4% during the year ended December 31, 2013 when compared to the prior year. The
decrease was primarily due to higher cost of sales-homebuilding during 2013 over 2012 attributed to the cost basis of
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homes sold during 2013 coupled with higher interest costs. Offsetting a part of the cost basis impact on gross margin was the higher average selling price of
homes sold in 2013 as compared to the prior year. Our homebuilding adjusted gross margin percentage decreased by 8.6% during the year ended December
31, 2013 over the prior year. The decrease in the adjusted gross margin percentage was also impacted by the same factors stated above for gross margin
excluding interest cost, a cost not included in this measure.

The increase in land development gross margin percentage by 6.2% and adjusted gross margin percentage in 2013 by 4.8% was attributed to both a
lower cost basis of land parcels sold coupled with higher average selling prices in 2013 when compared to the prior year. Lastly, the gross margin percentage
increase was also because the interest was lower by $0.6 million and abandonment charges were lower by $0.4 million in 2013 when compared to the prior
year.

 
Sales and Marketing and General and Administrative Expense

We are a growing company and have increased our resources, with a related increase in expenses, to accommodate that growth, however, we do not
expect that our future operating expenses will be directly related to revenue, as we believe we have the opportunity to achieve operational efficiencies in
connection with any future revenue growth.

Our operating expenses for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 were as follows:
 

 Year Ended  
Change

 As a Percentage of 
Total Revenue  December 31,   

 2013  2012  Dollars  %  2013  2012 

 (in thousands)       

Sales and marketing $ 6,647  $ 2,875  $ 3,772  131.2%  7.2%  4.9%

General and administrative (“G&A”) 19,368  10,103  9,265  91.7%  20.9%  17.4%

Total sales and marketing and G&A $ 26,015  $ 12,978  $ 13,037  100.5%  28.1%  22.3%

 
* Percentages may not add due to rounding. 

Sales and marketing expense for the year ended December 31, 2013 increased approximately $3.8 million, or 131.2%, to $6.6 million, as compared to
approximately $2.9 million in 2012. The increase in sales and marketing expenses was primarily attributable to a 378.0% increase in the number of homes
delivered, and a 133.3% increase in the average number of selling communities for the year ended December 31, 2013, as compared to 2012. As a percentage
of total revenue, sales and marketing expenses increased to 7.2% during the year ended December 31, 2013, as compared to 4.9% for the prior year, largely
the result of higher marketing levels, offset in part by a higher revenue base in 2013.

G&A expense for the year ended December 31, 2013 increased $9.3 million, or 91.7%, to $19.4 million, as compared to $10.1 million for 2012. The
increase in G&A expense was primarily attributable to the growth in our homebuilding operation, an increase in headcount to 90 employees from 48
employees, $2.2 million of stock-based compensation, and non-recurring costs related to our IPO of approximately $1.2 million. As a percentage of total
revenue, G&A expense increased to 20.9% for the year ended December 31, 2013, as compared to 17.4% for the same period in 2012. The increase was
largely the result of costs associated with becoming a public company, offset to an extent by a higher revenue base in 2013. Excluding the non-recurring
costs related to our IPO, G&A expense as a percentage of total revenue for the year ended December 31, 2013 was 19.6%.
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During the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, our general and administrative expenses included $0.6 million and $1.2 million, respectively, of
expenses allocated to us by PICO for certain corporate services. In addition, post IPO, we incurred approximately $0.4 million of expense for certain services
under the Transition Services Agreement ("TSA") with PICO. These services included executive management, information technology, legal, finance and
accounting, human resources, risk management, tax and treasury.
 

Other Income
 

Other income decreased by $256,000 for the year ended December 31, 2013 to $322,000, as compared to $578,000 for the year ended December 31,
2012. This decrease was primarily attributable to $200,000 of income relating to an easement we granted to a third party and miscellaneous reimbursements
received mainly from a utility in the amount of $206,000 during 2012, partially offset by $150,000 of income relating to the settlement of a claim we had
against a third party during 2013.

 

Net Income/Loss
 

As a result of the foregoing factors, net loss for the year ended December 31, 2013 was $4.3 million compared to a net income of $3.0 million for the
year ended December 31, 2012.

Reporting Segments

As a result of the Citizens Acquisition in April 2014, the Company evaluated the ongoing management of its homebuilding and land development
operations to ensure that resources were appropriately allocated to maximize its overall results. Based on this evaluation, the Company has identified its
operating activities into two geographical regions and currently have homebuilding reportable segments in the West and Southeast and a land development
reportable segment in the West. As such all segment information for fiscal years 2013 and 2012 has been reclassified and is shown under the West
homebuilding and land development reportable segments. See Note 12 “Segment Information” to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere
in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

The following table presents financial information related to reporting segments for the year indicated (in thousands):

 Revenues  Gross Margin
 2014  2013  2012  2014  2013  2012
Homebuilding                  
     West $ 128,334  $ 72,511  $ 14,060  $ 21,858  17.0%  $ 15,011  20.7%  $ 4,228  30.1%
     Southeast 27,083  —  —  3,982  14.7%  —  —  —  —
         Homebuilding 155,417  72,511  14,060  25,840  16.6%  15,011  20.7%  4,228  30.1%
Land development (a) 32,513  20,215  44,066  7,047  21.7%  6,395  31.6%  11,190  25.4%
Corporate and unallocated
(b) 3,253  —  —  425  13.1%  —  —  —  —
         Total $ 191,183  $ 92,726  $ 58,126  $ 33,312  17.4%  $ 21,406  23.1%  $ 15,418  26.5%

(a) Land development operations for all the periods presented were in the West region.
 
(b) Corporate and unallocated includes revenues from construction management services provided by the Company related to its April 2014 Citizens

Acquisition and is not attributable to the homebuilding and land development operations.
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Homebuilding Operations

The following table presents information concerning revenues, homes delivered and average selling price for the homebuilding operations by our
operating segments:

 
Homebuilding

Revenue  

Percentage of Total
Homebuilding

Revenue  Homes Delivered  
Percentage of Total
Homes Delivered  

Average Selling
Price

 (in thousands)         
2014          
   West $ 128,334  82.57%  309  71.53%  $ 415,320
   Southeast 27,083  17.43%  123  28.47%  220,187
      Total $ 155,417  100%  432  100%  $ 359,762
          

2013          
   West $ 72,511  100%  196  100%  $ 369,954
   Southeast —  —%  —  —%  —
      Total $ 72,511  100%  196  100%  $ 369,954
          

2012          
   West $ 14,060  100%  41  100%  $ 342,927
   Southeast —  —%  —  —%  —
      Total $ 14,060  100%  41  100%  $ 342,927

For the year ended December 31, 2014, as a percentage of total revenue, our West operating segment accounted for approximately 82.57% of our
consolidated homebuilding revenue, compared to our Southeast operating segment which accounted for approximately 17.43% of our consolidated
homebuilding revenue. This was caused mainly by higher number of homes delivered in the West operating segment due partly to its full year operations, as
compared to the Southeast segment which was added during 2014 as a result of our Citizens Acquisition. Moreover, ASP for the homes sold in the West was
higher than in the Southeast. Prior to 2014, all homebuilding revenues were attributed to our West operating segment.
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Land Development Operations

The following table presents a summary of selected financial and operational data for our land development operations where all revenue was
attributed to our West operating segment. There were no land sales in our Southeast segment.

 
Land development

Revenue  Lots sold

 (In thousands)   
2014    
   West $ 32,513  348
   Southeast —  —
      Total $ 32,513  348
    

2013    
   West $ 20,215  253
   Southeast —  —
      Total $ 20,215  253
    

2012    
   West $ 44,066  560
   Southeast —  —
      Total $ 44,066  560
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Our accounting policies are more fully described in Note 2 of the notes to our consolidated financial statements included in Item 8 of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K. As discussed in Note 2, the estimates, assumptions, and judgments involved in the accounting policies described below have the
greatest potential impact on our financial statements, we consider these to be our critical accounting policies:

Real Estate Inventories and Cost of Sales:
 

We capitalize pre-acquisition costs, the purchase price of real estate, development costs and other allocated costs, including interest, during
development and home construction. Applicable costs incurred after development or construction is substantially complete are charged to sales and
marketing or general and administrative as appropriate. Pre-acquisition costs, including non-refundable land deposits, are expensed to cost of sales when we
determine continuation of the related project is not probable.

 
Land, development and other common costs are typically allocated to real estate inventories using the relative-sales-value method. Direct home

construction costs are recorded using the specific identification method. Cost of sales - homebuilding includes the allocation of construction costs of each
home and all applicable land acquisition, real estate development and related common costs based upon the relative-sales-value of the home. Changes to
estimated total development costs subsequent to initial home closings in a community are generally allocated on a relative-sales-value method to remaining
homes in the community. Cost of sales - land development includes land acquisition and development costs, capitalized interest, impairment charges,
abandonment charges for projects that are no longer economically viable, and real estate taxes. Inventory is stated at cost, unless the carrying amount is
determined not to be recoverable, in which case inventory is written down to fair value.

All real estate inventories are classified as held until we commit to a plan to sell the real estate, the real estate can be sold in its present condition, is
being actively marketed for sale, and it is probable that the real estate will be sold within the next twelve months.

Impairment of Real Estate Inventories:

We record an impairment loss when conditions exist where the carrying amount of real estate is not fully recoverable and exceeds its fair value.
Indicators of impairment include, but are not limited to, significant decreases in local housing market values and selling prices of comparable homes,
significant decreases in gross margins and sales absorption rates, costs in excess of budget, and actual or projected cash flow losses. We prepare and analyze
cash flows at the lowest level for which there are identifiable cash flows that are independent of the cash flows of other groups of assets.

If events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may be impaired, such impairment will be measured based upon the difference between
the carrying amount and the fair value of such assets determined using the estimated future discounted cash flows, excluding interest charges, generated from
the use and ultimate disposition of the respective real estate inventories. Such losses, if any, are reported within cost of sales.

When estimating undiscounted future cash flows of our real estate assets, we make various assumptions, including: (i) expected sales prices and sales
incentives to be offered, including the number of homes available on the market, pricing and incentives being offered by us or other builders in other
communities, and future sales price adjustments based on market and economic trends; (ii) expected sales pace and cancellation rates based on local housing
market conditions, competition and historical trends; (iii) costs incurred to date and expected to be incurred, including, but not limited to, land and land
development costs, home construction costs, interest costs, indirect construction costs, and selling and marketing costs; (iv) alternative product offerings that
may be offered that could have an impact on sales pace, sales price and/or building costs; and (v) alternative uses for the property. As of December 31, 2014,
We did not have any real estate assets for which the estimated undiscounted future cash flows were not in excess of their carrying values.

Capitalization of Interest:

We capitalize interest to real estate inventories during the period of development. Interest capitalized as a cost of real estate inventories is included in
cost of sales-homebuilding or cost of sales-land development as related homes or real estate are sold. To the extent our debt exceeds the related asset under
development, we expense that portion of the interest incurred. Qualifying assets include projects that are actively selling or under development.
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Purchase Accounting and Business Combinations:

We recognize separately from goodwill the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed as part of a business combination at their acquisition date fair
values. Goodwill as of the acquisition date is measured as the excess of consideration transferred over the net of the acquisition date fair values of the assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed. While we use our best estimates and assumptions to accurately value assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the
acquisition date as well as contingent consideration, where applicable, our estimates are inherently uncertain and subject to refinement. As a result, during
the measurement period, which may be up to one year from the acquisition date, we record adjustments to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed with the
corresponding offset to goodwill. Upon the conclusion of the measurement period or final determination of the values of assets acquired or liabilities
assumed, whichever comes first, any subsequent adjustments are recorded to our consolidated statements of operations.

Accounting for business combinations requires our management to make significant estimates and assumptions, especially at the acquisition date,
including our estimates for intangible assets, contractual obligations assumed, restructuring liabilities, pre-acquisition contingencies and contingent
consideration, where applicable. Although we believe the assumptions and estimates we have made have been reasonable and appropriate, they are based in
part on historical experience and information obtained from the management of the acquired companies and are inherently uncertain. Moreover,
unanticipated events and circumstances may occur that may affect the accuracy or validity of such assumptions, estimates or actual results.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets:

The purchase price of an acquired company is allocated between the net tangible assets and intangible assets of the acquired business with the residual
purchase price recorded as goodwill. The determination of the value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed involves certain judgments and estimates.
These judgments can include, but are not limited to, the cash flows that an asset is expected to generate in the future and the appropriate weighted average
cost of capital.

Acquired intangible assets with determinable useful lives are amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated remaining useful lives, ranging from
six months to five years, or added to the value of the land when an option intangible is used to purchase the related land, or expensed in the period when the
option is cancelled. Acquired intangible assets with contractual terms are generally amortized over their respective contractual lives. When certain events or
changes in operating conditions occur, an impairment assessment is performed for the intangible assets. Goodwill is not amortized, but is evaluated annually
for impairment, or when indicators of a potential impairment are present. The annual evaluation for impairment of goodwill is based on valuation models that
incorporate assumptions and internal projections of expected future cash flows and operating plans.

The Company tests goodwill for impairment on an annual basis in the fourth quarter and at any other time when events occur or circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount of goodwill may not be recoverable. Circumstances that could trigger an impairment test include, but are not limited to: a
significant adverse change in the business climate or legal factors; an adverse action or assessment by a regulator; change in customer, target market and
strategy; unanticipated competition; loss of key personnel; or the likelihood that a reporting unit or significant portion of a reporting unit will be sold or
otherwise disposed.

An assessment of qualitative factors may be performed to determine whether it is necessary to perform the two-step quantitative goodwill impairment
test. If the result of the qualitative assessment is that it is more likely than not (i.e. > 50% likelihood) that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its
carrying amount, then the quantitative test is required. Otherwise, no further testing is required.

Under the quantitative test, if the carrying amount of the reporting unit goodwill exceeds the implied fair value of that goodwill, an impairment loss is
recorded in the Consolidated Statements of Operations as "Impairment of goodwill." Measurement of the fair value of a reporting unit is based on one or more
of the following fair value measures: amounts at which the unit as a whole could be bought or sold in a current transaction between willing parties; using
present value techniques of estimated future cash flows, or using valuation techniques based on multiples of earnings or revenue, or a similar performance
measure.

As of December 31, 2014, acquired intangibles, including goodwill, relate to the Citizens Acquisition, which was completed on April 10, 2014. See Note
6 “Acquisition” to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for further discussion of intangible assets.
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Segment Reporting:

As a result of the Citizens Acquisition in April 2014, the Company evaluated the ongoing management of its homebuilding and land development
operations to ensure that resources were appropriately allocated to maximize its overall results. Based on this evaluation, the Company has segmented its
operating activities into two geographical regions and currently has homebuilding reportable segments in the West and Southeast and a land development
reportable segment in the West. As such all segment information for fiscal years 2013 and 2012 has been reclassified and is shown under the West
homebuilding and land development reportable segments.

  

Homebuilding, Land Development Sales and Other Revenues Profit Recognition:
 

In accordance with Financial Accounting Standard Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standard Codification Topic 360 (“ASC Topic 360”),
Property, Plant, and Equipment, revenue from home sales and other real estate sales are recorded and any profit is recognized when the respective sales are
closed. Sales are closed when all conditions of escrow are met, title passes to the buyer, appropriate consideration is received and collection of associated
receivables, if any, is reasonably assured and we have no continuing involvement. We do not offer financing to any buyers. Sales price incentives are
accounted for as a reduction of revenues when the sale is recorded. If the earnings process is not complete, the sale and any related profits are deferred for
recognition in future periods. Any profit recorded is based on the calculation of cost of sales, which is dependent on an allocation of costs.

Revenue from providing construction management services is included in other revenues. The property owners fund all project costs incurred by the
Company to build the homes. The Company primarily enters into “cost plus fee” contracts where it charges property owners for all direct and indirect costs
plus a negotiated management fee. The management fee is typically a fixed fee, based on a percentage of the cost or home sales revenue of the project,
depending on the terms of the agreement with the property owners. In accordance with ASC Topic 605, Revenue Recognition, revenues from construction
management services are recognized based upon a cost-to-cost approach in applying the percentage-of-completion method. Under this approach, revenue is
earned in proportion to total costs incurred, divided by total costs expected to be incurred. The total estimated cost plus the management fee represents the
total contract value. The Company recognizes revenue based on the actual costs incurred, plus the portion of the management fee it has earned to date. In the
course of providing construction management services, the Company routinely subcontracts for services and incurs other direct costs on behalf of the
property owners. These costs are included in the Company’s cost of revenue.

Stock-Based Compensation:

Stock-based compensation expense is measured at the grant date based on the fair value of the award and is recognized as expense over the period in
which the awards vest.

Warranty Reserves:
 

Estimated future direct warranty costs are accrued and charged to cost of sales - homebuilding in the period in which the related homebuilding revenue
is recognized. Amounts accrued are based upon estimates of the amount we expect to pay for warranty work. We assess the adequacy of our warranty reserves
on a quarterly basis and adjust the amounts recorded, if necessary. Warranty reserves are included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities in the
consolidated balance sheets.

Income Taxes:
 

Our provision for income tax expense includes federal and state income taxes currently payable and those deferred because of temporary differences
between the income tax and financial reporting bases of the assets and liabilities. The liability method of accounting for income taxes also requires us to
reflect the effect of a tax rate change on accumulated deferred income taxes in income in the period in which the change is enacted.

In assessing the realization of deferred income taxes, we considered whether it is more likely than not that any deferred income tax assets will be
realized. The ultimate realization of deferred income tax assets is dependent upon the generation of sufficient future taxable income during the period in
which temporary differences become deductible. If it is more likely than not that some or all of the deferred income tax assets will not be realized, a valuation
allowance is recorded. We considered many factors when assessing the likelihood of future realization of our deferred tax assets, including recent cumulative
earnings experience by taxing jurisdiction, expectations of future transactions, the carryforward periods available to us for tax reporting purposes and
availability of tax planning strategies. These assumptions require significant judgment about future events. These

62



judgments are consistent with the plans and estimates we use to manage the underlying businesses. In evaluating the objective evidence that historical results
provide, we considered three years of cumulative operating income or loss of the Company and its predecessor.

As a result of the analysis of all available evidence as of December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, we recorded a full valuation allowance on our net
deferred tax assets. Consequently, we reported no income tax benefit for the year ended December 31, 2014 or for the post-IPO period during the year ended
December 31, 2013. No provision for income taxes have been contemplated for the year ended December 31, 2012 because UCP, LLC was an entity
disregarded from PICO during the period. If our assumptions change and we believe that we will be able to realize these deferred tax assets, the tax benefits
relating to any reversal of the valuation allowance on our deferred tax assets will be recognized as a reduction of income tax expense.  If the assumptions do
not change, each period we could record an additional valuation allowance on any increases in the deferred tax assets.

We recognize any uncertain income tax positions on income tax returns at the largest amount that is more-likely-than-not to be sustained upon audit
by the relevant taxing authority.  An uncertain income tax position will not be recognized unless it has a greater than 50% likelihood of being sustained. We
recognize any interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions in income tax expense.

Noncontrolling Interest:

We report the share of our results of operations that are attributable to other owners of our consolidated subsidiaries as noncontrolling interest in the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.  In the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income or loss, the income or loss
attributable to the noncontrolling interest is reported separately as Net Income (Loss) attributable to noncontrolling interest. Moreover the accumulated
income or loss attributable to the noncontrolling interest, along with any changes in ownership of the subsidiary, is reported as a component of total equity. 

RECENTLY ISSUED ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

See Note 2 - “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form
10-K regarding the impact of certain recent accounting pronouncements on our consolidated financial statements.
 

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Our principal uses of capital for the years ended As of December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012 were funding our operating expenses, investing activities
(principally acquiring and developing land, and building homes) and through the date of our IPO, repaying liabilities and capital contributions to PICO. Our
principal sources of liquidity have been cash on hand, cash provided by operations, cash provided by financing activities (such as ordinary course
acquisition, development and construction financing, the issuance and sale of our Senior Notes and other sources of debt financing ) and, through the date of
our IPO, capital contributions from PICO. As of December 31, 2014, we had approximately $42.0 million of cash and cash equivalents.

For the foreseeable future, we expect our principal uses of cash to be similar to what they have been in the past, except we do not expect to repay any
capital contributions to PICO in the future. We anticipate funding future capital requirements in a manner similar to our historical funding, except that we do
not expect to receive any capital contributions from PICO in the future.

We believe that we have access to sufficient capital resources to fund our business for at least the next twelve months. We generally have the ability to
defer future investment activity, such as developing land or building additional homes for sale, until such time as we have adequate capital resources
available to us.

Our funding strategy contemplates the use of debt and equity financing and the reinvestment of cash from operations. We seek to manage our balance
sheet in a manner that provides us with flexibility to access various types of financing, such as equity capital, secured debt and unsecured debt financing. For
example, on October 21, 2014, we completed a private offering of $75 million aggregate principal amount of our Senior Notes. We intend to finance future
acquisitions and developments with the most advantageous source of capital available to us at the time of the transaction, which may include a combination
of common and preferred equity, secured and unsecured corporate level debt, property-level debt and mortgage financing and
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other public, private or bank debt. For a description of our outstanding indebtedness as of December 31, 2014, see Note 8 "Debt" to our consolidated
financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Senior Notes

On October 21, 2014, we completed a private offering of $75.0 million in aggregate principal amount of 8.5% Senior Notes due 2017. The Senior Notes
were issued under an Indenture, dated as of October 21, 2014 (the “Indenture”), by and among us, the guarantors named therein and Wilmington Trust,
National Association, as trustee. The Senior Notes bear interest at 8.5% per annum, payable on March 31, June 30, September 30 and December 31 of each
year. The Senior Notes mature on October 21, 2017, unless earlier redeemed or repurchased.

The Senior Notes are guaranteed on an unsecured senior basis by each of our subsidiaries (the “Subsidiary Guarantors”). The Senior Notes and the
guarantees are our and the Subsidiary Guarantors’ senior unsecured obligations and rank equally in right of payment with all of our and the Subsidiary
Guarantors’ existing and future senior unsecured debt and senior in right of payment to all of our and the Subsidiary Guarantors’ future subordinated debt.
The Senior Notes and the guarantees are effectively subordinated to any of our and the Subsidiary Guarantors’ existing and future secured debt, to the extent
of the value of the assets securing such debt.

We may redeem the Senior Notes, in whole but not in part, at any time at a price equal to 100% of the principal amount, plus accrued and unpaid interest,
plus a “make-whole” premium. Upon the occurrence of a change of control, we must offer to repurchase the Senior Notes for cash at a price equal to 101% of
the principal amount of the Senior Notes to be repurchased plus accrued and unpaid interest to, but excluding, the repurchase date. Under the Indenture, a
“change of control” generally means (i) any person or group of related persons acquires more than 35% of our voting stock or (ii) we transfer all or
substantially all of our consolidated assets to any person or group of related persons, in each case other than PICO and its affiliates.

The Indenture provides for customary “events of default” which could cause, or permit, the acceleration of the Senior Notes. Such events of default
include: (i) a default in any payment of principal or interest on the Senior Notes; (ii) failure to comply with certain covenants contained in the Indenture; (iii)
defaults under certain other indebtedness or the acceleration of certain other indebtedness prior to maturity; (iv) the failure to pay certain final judgments;
and (vi) certain events of bankruptcy or insolvency.

The Indenture limits our and our subsidiaries’ ability to, among other things, incur or guarantee additional unsecured and secured indebtedness
(provided that we may incur indebtedness so long as our ratio of indebtedness to consolidated tangible assets (on a pro forma basis) would be equal to or less
than 45% and provided that the aggregate amount of secured debt may not exceed the greater of $75 million or 30% of our consolidated tangible assets); pay
dividends and make certain investments and other restricted payments; acquire unimproved real property in excess of $75 million per fiscal year or in excess
of $150 million over the term of the Senior Notes, except to the extent funded with subordinated obligations or the proceeds of equity issuances; create or
incur certain liens; transfer or sell certain assets; and merge or consolidate with other companies or transfer or sell all or substantially all of our consolidated
assets.

Additionally, the Indenture requires us to: (i) maintain at least $50 million of consolidated tangible assets not subject to liens securing indebtedness
(the “Minimum Unlevered Asset Pool Test”); (ii) maintain a minimum net worth of at least $175 million (the “Minimum Net Worth Test”); (iii) maintain a
minimum of $15 million of unrestricted cash and/or cash equivalents (the “Minimum Liquidity Test”); and (iv) not permit decreases in the amount of
consolidated tangible assets by more than $25 million in any fiscal year or more than $50 million at any time after the issuance of the Senior Notes (the
“Consolidated Tangible Assets Test”).

The foregoing is only a brief description of the Senior Notes and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the Indenture.

As set forth below, as of December 31, 2014, we were in compliance with each of the Minimum Unlevered Asset Pool Test, the Minimum Net Worth
Test, the Consolidated Tangible Assets Test and the Minimum Liquidity Test. Capitalized terms used in the following table shall have the meanings assigned
thereto in the Indenture.
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As of December 31,

2014  Requirement

 (In thousands)

Minimum Unlevered Asset Pool Test    
Consolidated Tangible Assets $ 363,726   
Consolidated Tangible Assets subject to Liens (1) $ 173,750   
Consolidated Tangible Assets not subject to Liens (1) $ 189,976  ≥ $ 50,000
    

Minimum Net Worth Test    
Consolidated Tangible Assets $ 363,726   
Total Indebtedness $ 135,451   
Net Worth $ 228,275  ≥ $ 175,000
    

Minimum Liquidity Test    
Unrestricted cash and Cash Equivalents $ 42,033  ≥ $ 15,000
    

 (In thousands)

Consolidated Tangible Assets Test   Requirement

Consolidated Tangible Assets as of December 31, 2014 $ 363,726   
Consolidated Tangible Assets as of January 1, 2014 $ 264,351   
Increase in Consolidated Tangible Assets during 2014 (2) $ 99,375  - Δ ≤ $25,000
    

Consolidated Tangible Assets as of December 31, 2014 $ 363,726   
Consolidated Tangible Assets as of October 21, 2014 $ 293,784   
Increase in Consolidated Tangible Assets since October 21, 2014 (2) (a) $ 69,942  - Δ ≤ $50,000

(1) “Liens,” as used in this table, means Liens other than Liens of the type described in clauses (b), (c), (e), (f), (h), (i), (j), (t), (v), (w), (x) and (y) of the definition of
“Permitted Liens” under the Indenture. In general, this excludes certain Liens securing obligations that are not indebtedness for money borrowed.

(2) We may not permit our Consolidated Tangible Assets to decrease by more than $25 million in any fiscal year or more than $50 million in the aggregate at any time
after October 21, 2014 (i.e. the date of issue of the Senior Notes).

(a) Based on Consolidated Tangible Assets as of September 30, 2014, the end of the quarter immediately preceding the issue of the Senior Notes.

In addition, (i) as of December 31, 2014 no Default or Event of Default (as such terms are defined in the Indenture) had occurred under the Indenture;
(ii) all Asset Dispositions (as defined in the Indenture) made under the “Asset Disposition” covenant contained in the Indenture (Section 3.10) during the
three months ended December 31, 2014 were made in compliance with such covenant; and (iii) any Restricted Payments (as defined in the Indenture) made
during the three months ended December 31, 2014 complied in all respects with the requirements of the “Restricted Payments” covenant contained in the
Indenture (Section 3.19).
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 We believe that our leverage ratios provide useful information to the users of our financial statements regarding our financial position and cash and
debt management. The ratio of debt-to-capital and the ratio of net debt-to-capital are calculated as follows (dollars in thousands):

 
At December 31,

 2014  2013

Debt $ 135,451  $ 30,950
Stockholders’ and member's equity 211,267  217,716
Total capital $ 346,718  $ 248,666
Ratio of debt-to-capital 39.1%  12.4%
Debt $ 135,451  $ 30,950
Less: cash and cash equivalents 42,033  87,503
Net debt 93,418  —
Stockholders’ and member's equity 211,267  217,716
Total capital $ 304,685  $ 217,716

Ratio of net debt-to-capital (1) 30.7%  —%

(1) The ratio of net debt-to-capital is computed as the quotient obtained by dividing net debt (which is debt less cash and cash equivalents) by the sum of
net debt plus stockholders’ and member's equity. The most directly comparable U.S. GAAP financial measure is the ratio of debt-to-capital. We believe
the ratio of net debt-to-capital is a relevant financial measure for investors to understand the leverage employed in our operations and as an indicator of
our ability to obtain financing. We reconcile this non-U.S. GAAP financial measure to the ratio of debt-to-capital in the table above. The Company’s
calculation of net debt-to-capital ratio might not be comparable with other issuers or issuers in other industries.

Cash Flows - Year Ended December 31, 2014 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2013

The comparison of cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2014 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2013, is as follows:

• Net cash used in operating activities for 2014 was $130.5 million, representing an increase of $95.6 million over cash used by operations in 2013 of
$34.9 million. The increase was primarily due to an increase of $85.9 million in cash used on real estate inventory purchases and development, an
incremental net loss adjusted for non-cash items of $1.2 million, an increase of $5.5 million in cash used to pay accounts payable and accrued liabilities
and an increase of $2.0 million in cash used on other assets.

 
• The net cash used in investing activities was $15.3 million during 2014, as compared to $619,000 during 2013. The increase was due mainly to

approximately $14.0 million of cash used on the Citizens Acquisition during the second quarter of 2014, an increase of $385,000 in cash used to
purchase fixed assets as well as an increase in restricted cash of $250,000 in 2014.
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• Net cash provided by our financing activities was $100.3 million during 2014, as compared to $112.7 million during 2013, a year over year decrease of
$12.4 million. The $100.3 million cash provided by financing activities during 2014 caused mainly by a net cash provided by our borrowings of $104.5
million including approximately $75.0 million from the Senior Notes. For 2013, the $112.7 million cash provided by financing activities consisted
mainly of $105.5 million received from the completion of our IPO and $12.0 million of net contribution from PICO, offset by a net pay-down of our debt
in the amount of $4.8 million.

Cash Flows - Year Ended December 31, 2013 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2012

The comparison of cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2013 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2012, is as follows:

• Net cash used in operating activities for 2013 was $34.9 million, representing an increase of $43.7 million over cash provided by operations in 2012 of
$8.8 million. The increase was primarily due to a $45.9 million increase in real estate purchases during 2013 and an incremental net loss adjusted for
non-cash items of $5.4 million. These uses of cash were partially offset by a $7.6 million net increase in accounts payable and accrued liabilities over
receivables and other assets.

 
• The net cash used in investing activities was $0.6 million during 2013, as compared to $0.7 million during 2012. The decrease in cash used in 2013

resulted from fewer purchases of fixed assets, such as computer hardware and software and office furniture and equipment.
 
• Net cash provided by our financing activities was $112.7 million during 2013, as compared to cash used of $37,000 during 2012. The increase in cash

provided was overwhelmingly attributed to the proceeds of $105.5 million received from the completion of our IPO. The balance of activity was
primarily a result of (i) an increase of $5.8 million in the net cash contributions we received from PICO, (ii) an increase of $26.2 million from additional
borrowings, and (iii) offset by a cash use of $24.7 million for the repayment of debt.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements and Contractual Obligations
 

In the ordinary course of business, we may enter into purchase or option contracts to procure lots for development and construction of homes or for sale
to third-party homebuilders. We are subject to customary obligations associated with entering into contracts for the purchase of land. These contracts
typically require a cash deposit and the purchase of properties under these contracts is generally contingent upon satisfaction of certain requirements by the
sellers, including obtaining applicable property and development entitlements.
 

We may also utilize purchase or option contracts with land sellers as a method of acquiring land in staged takedowns to help us manage the financial
and market risk associated with land holdings, and to reduce the use of funds from our corporate financing sources. Purchase or option contracts generally
require a non-refundable deposit for the right to acquire lots over a specified period of time at pre-determined prices. We generally have the right to terminate
our obligations under both purchase or option contracts by forfeiting our cash deposit with no further financial responsibility to the land seller.
 

As of December 31, 2014, we had outstanding $2.4 million of cash deposits pertaining to purchase contracts for 925 optioned lots with an aggregate
remaining purchase price of approximately $49.6 million.

Our use of contracts provides us with an option to purchase land which depends on the availability of land sellers willing to enter into option
takedown arrangements, the availability of capital from financial intermediaries to finance the development of land, general housing market conditions and
local market dynamics.

As of December 31, 2014, the Company had approximately $134.5 million of credit available under existing debt obligations to draw upon of which
approximately $87.3 million was available to us. For additional information, see Note 8, “Debt” to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere
in this report.
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We are often required to provide to various municipalities and other government agencies performance bonds to secure the completion of our projects
and/or in support of obligations to build community improvements, such as roads, sewers, water systems and other utilities. As of December 31, 2014 and
2013, we had outstanding surety bonds totaling approximately $38.0 million and $10.3 million, respectively. If any such performance bonds are called, we
would be obligated to reimburse the issuer of the performance bond. We do not believe that a material amount of any currently outstanding performance
bonds will be called. Performance bonds do not have stated expiration dates. Rather, we are released from the performance bonds as the underlying
performance is completed.

Inflation
 

Our business can be adversely impacted by inflation, primarily from higher land, financing, labor, material and construction costs. In addition, inflation
can lead to higher mortgage rates, which can significantly affect the affordability of mortgage financing to home buyers. While we attempt to pass on cost
increases to customers through increased prices, when weak housing market conditions exist, we are often unable to offset cost increases with higher selling
prices.
 
Seasonality
 

Historically, the homebuilding industry experiences seasonal fluctuations in quarterly operating results and capital requirements. We typically
experience the highest new home order activity in spring and summer, although this activity is also highly dependent on the number of active selling
communities, timing of new community openings and other market factors. Since it typically takes four to six months to construct a new home, we generally
deliver more homes in the second half of the year as spring and summer home orders convert to home deliveries. Because of this seasonality, home starts,
construction costs and related cash outflows have historically been highest in the second and third quarters, and the majority of cash receipts from home
deliveries occur during the second half of the year. We expect this seasonal pattern to continue over the long-term, although it may be affected by volatility
in the homebuilding industry. We currently expect the traditional seasonality cycle and its impact on our results to become more prominent if and as the
present housing recovery progresses and the housing markets and homebuilding industry return to a more normal operating environment.
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Aggregate Contractual Obligations:

The following table provides a summary of our contractual cash obligations and other commitments and contingencies as of December 31, 2014 (in
thousands):

 Payments Due by Period

Contractual Obligations
Less than

1 year  1-3 years  3-5 years  
More than

5 years  Total

Debt $ 34,612  $ 121,894  $ —  $ —  $ 156,506
Operating leases 1,097  1,858  1,185  159  4,299

Total $ 35,709  $ 123,752  $ 1,185  $ 159  $ 160,805

We had no liabilities or potential interest for unrecognized tax benefits associated with uncertain tax positions at December 31, 2014.

ITEM 7A.  QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISKS

Market risk includes risks that arise from changes in interest rates, equity prices and other market changes that affect market sensitive instruments.
Our primary market risk exposure is to changes in interest rates on our variable rate debt. As of December 31, 2014, we had approximately $57.3 million of
total variable rate debt outstanding (or 42.3% of total indebtedness) with a weighted average interest rate of 6.56% per annum. If market rates of interest on
our variable rate debt outstanding as of December 31, 2014 were to increase by 1.00%, or 100 basis points, interest expense would decrease future earnings
and cash flows by approximately $573,350 annually. We did not hedge our exposure to changes in interest rates with swaps, forward or option contracts on
interest rates or commodities, or other types of derivative financial instruments during the year ended December 31, 2014. However, we may choose to hedge
our exposure to changes in interest rates with these or other types of instruments in the future if, for example, we incur significant amounts of additional
variable rate debt. We have not entered into and currently do not hold derivatives for trading or speculative purposes.

Our interest rate risk objectives are to limit the impact of interest rate fluctuations on earnings and cash flows and to lower our overall borrowing
costs. In seeking to achieve these objectives, we manage our exposure to fluctuations in market interest rates through the use of fixed rate debt instruments to
the extent that reasonably favorable rates are obtainable.

The following table provides information about our financial instruments that are sensitive to changes in interest rates. For debt obligations
outstanding as of December 31, 2014, the following table presents principal repayments and related weighted average interest rates by contractual maturity
dates (dollars in thousands):

` 2015  2016  2017  Total
 Debt currently at 3.66% —  $ 100  $ 6,984  $ 7,084
 Debt currently at 3.94% $ 18,884  24,371  —  43,255
 Debt currently at 3.75% —  768  —  768
 Debt currently at 4.19% 1,272  —  —  1,272
 Debt currently at 5.00% 3,990  —  —  3,990
 Debt currently at 5.50% —  966  —  966
     Total $ 24,146  $ 26,205  $ 6,984  $ 57,335

The foregoing table reflects indebtedness outstanding as of December 31, 2014 and does not include indebtedness, if any, incurred or repaid after that date.
Our ultimate realized gain or loss with respect to interest rate fluctuations will depend on the exposures that arise during future periods, prevailing interest
rates, and any hedging strategies that we may use at that time.
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Changes in market interest rates impact the fair value of our fixed rate debt, but such changes have no impact on our consolidated financial statements. If
interest rates rise, and our fixed rate debt balance remains constant, we expect the fair value of our debt to decrease. As of December 31, 2014, the estimated
fair value of our fixed rate debt was $91.0 million, which is based on having the same debt service requirements that could have been borrowed at the date
presented, at prevailing current market interest rates.

We performed sensitivity analysis of our assets and liabilities subject to the above risks.  For our debts we analyzed the impact on our financial
statements with a 100 basis point, or 1.00% increase and decrease in interest rates, and determined that the impact on our results of operations and balance
sheet was an increase or decrease of approximately $573,000.  

Actual results may differ from the hypothetical results assumed in this disclosure due to possible actions we may take to mitigate adverse changes in fair
value, and because the fair value of securities may be affected by market conditions.  
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
UCP, Inc.
San Jose, CA

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of UCP, Inc. and subsidiaries (the "Company") as of December 31,
2014 and 2013, and the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income or loss, equity, and cash flows for
each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2014. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the
Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of
material misstatement. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over
financial reporting. Our audits included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Company's internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a
test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of UCP, Inc. and
subsidiaries as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2014, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP
San Diego, California
March 13, 2015
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UCP, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(In thousands, except shares and per share data)
 

 December 31, 2014  December 31, 2013

Assets    
Cash and cash equivalents $ 42,033  $ 87,503
Restricted cash 250  —
Real estate inventories 321,693  176,848
Fixed assets, net 1,571  1,028
Intangible assets, net 586  —
Goodwill 4,223  —
Receivables 1,291  785
Other assets 5,804  1,156

Total assets $ 377,451  $ 267,320

    
Liabilities and equity    
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 30,733  $ 18,654
Notes payable 60,901  30,950
Senior notes, net 74,550  —

Total liabilities 166,184  49,604
    
Commitments and contingencies (Note 14)  
    
Shareholders’ Equity    
Preferred stock, par value $0.01 per share, 50,000,000 authorized, no shares issued and outstanding at December 31,

2014; no shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2013 —  —
Class A common stock, $0.01 par value; 500,000,000 authorized, 7,922,216 issued and outstanding at December 31,

2014; 7,750,000 issued and outstanding at December 31, 2013 79  78
Class B common stock, $0.01 par value; 1,000,000 authorized, 100 issued and outstanding at December 31, 2014;

100 issued and outstanding at December 31, 2013 —  —
Additional paid-in capital 94,110  93,117
Accumulated deficit (6,934)  (1,941)

Total UCP, Inc. stockholders’ equity 87,255  91,254
Noncontrolling interest 124,012  126,462

Total stockholders’ equity 211,267  217,716
Total liabilities and equity $ 377,451  $ 267,320

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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UCP, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME OR LOSS

(In thousands, except shares and per share data)
 

  Year Ended

  
December 31, 

2014  
December 31, 

2013  
December 31, 

2012

REVENUE:       
Homebuilding  $ 155,417  $ 72,511  $ 14,060
Land development  32,513  20,215  44,066
Other revenue  3,253  —  —

Total revenue:  191,183  92,726  58,126
       
COSTS AND EXPENSES:       

        Cost of sales - homebuilding  129,577  57,500  9,832
        Cost of sales - land development  25,466  13,820  32,876
        Cost of sales - other revenue  2,828  —  —
Sales and Marketing  13,748  6,647  2,875
General and Administrative  27,406  19,368  10,103

Total costs and expenses  199,025  97,335  55,686
(Loss) income from operations  (7,842)  (4,609)  2,440
Other Income, net  121  322  578
Net (loss) income before income taxes  (7,721)  (4,287)  3,018
Provision for income taxes  —  —  —
Net (loss) income  $ (7,721)  $ (4,287)  $ 3,018

Net (loss) income attributable to noncontrolling interest  $ (2,728)  $ (2,346)  $ 3,018
Net (loss) income attributable to shareholders of UCP, Inc.  (4,993)  (1,941)  —
Other comprehensive (loss) income, net of tax  —  —  —
Comprehensive (loss) income  $ (7,721)  $ (4,287)  $ 3,018

Comprehensive (loss) income attributable to noncontrolling interest  $ (2,728)  $ (2,346)  $ 3,018

Comprehensive loss attributable to shareholders of UCP, Inc.  $ (4,993)  $ (1,941)  $ —

       

  
December 31, 

2014  

IPO to
December 31, 

2013  
December 31, 

2012

Weighted average common shares:       
Basic and diluted shares outstanding  7,870,269  7,750,000   
       
Basic and diluted loss per share  $ (0.63)  $ (0.25)   

 See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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UCP, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY

(In thousands, except number of shares)

 

UCP, LLC.
and

Subsidiaries  UCP, Inc. Stockholders’ Equity 

 
Member’s

equity  
Shares of Common Stock

Outstanding  Common stock  
Additional

paid-in capital  
Accumulated

Deficit  
Noncontrolling

interest  

Total
stockholders’ /

member’s equity

   Class A  Class B  Class A  Class B         
Balance at December 31, 2011 $ 92,992                 
Member contributions 41,005                 
Repayments of member
contributions (34,700)                 
Net income 3,018                 
Balance at December 31, 2012 102,315                 
Member contribution 37,512                 
Repayments of member
contributions (25,443)                 
Net loss, pre IPO (2,209)                 
Class A - Issuance of common
stock,
net of issuance costs   7,750,000    $ 78    $ 105,376      $ 105,454
Class B - Issuance of common
stock,
net of issuance costs     100    $ —        —
Allocation of Class B issuance to
noncontrolling interest (112,175)          47,394    $ 64,781  112,175
Changes in ownership of
noncontrolling interest           (60,899)    60,899  —
Stock-based compensation
expense           1,246    919  2,165
Net loss, post IPO             $ (1,941)  (137)  (2,078)
Balance at December 31, 2013 —  7,750,000  100  $ 78 —  $ 93,117  $ (1,941)  $ 126,462  $ 217,716

Class A - Issuance of common
stock for RSU's, net   172,216    1    (819)    (801)  (1,619)
Stock-based compensation
expense           1,812    1,753  3,565
Distribution to noncontrolling
interest               (674)  (674)
Net loss             (4,993)  (2,728)  (7,721)
Balance at December 31, 2014 $ —  7,922,216  100  $ 79  $ —  $ 94,110  $ (6,934)  $ 124,012  $ 211,267

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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UCP, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In thousands)

 Year Ended December 31,

 2014  2013  2012

Operating activities:      
Net (loss) income $ (7,721)  $ (4,287)  $ 3,018
Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) income to net cash (used in) provided by operating

activities:      
Stock-based compensation 3,565  2,165  —
Abandonment charges 173  309  665
Depreciation and amortization 599  271  147
Fair value adjustment of contingent consideration (377)  —  —
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:      

Real estate inventories (131,045)  (45,137)  735
Receivables (444)  (542)  641
Other assets (2,293)  (236)  29
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 7,045  12,547  3,562

Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities (130,498)  (34,910) 8,797
Investing activities      

Purchases of fixed assets (1,004)  (619)  (712)
Citizens acquisition (14,006)  —  —
Restricted cash (250)  —  —

Net cash used in investing activities (15,260)  (619)  (712)
Financing activities      

Cash contributions from member —  37,512  41,005
Cash distributions to member —  (25,443)  (34,700)
Distribution - Noncontrolling Interest (674)  —  —
Proceeds from notes payable 78,313  33,637  7,392

    Proceeds from senior notes, net of discount 74,550  —  —
Repayment of notes payable (48,362)  (38,452)  (13,734)
Proceeds from IPO (net of offering costs) —  105,454  —
Debt issuance costs (1,920)  —  —
Repurchase of Class A common stock for settlement of employee withholding taxes (1,619)  —   

Net cash provided by (used in) by financing activities 100,288  112,708  (37)
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (45,470)  77,179  8,048

Cash and cash equivalents – beginning of period 87,503  10,324  2,276
Cash and cash equivalents – end of period $ 42,033  $ 87,503  $ 10,324

      
Supplemental disclosure of noncash transactions      
Debt incurred to acquire real estate inventories $ —  $ 6,653  $ 5,420
Accrued debt issuance costs $ 473  $ —  $ —
Non-cash investing and financing activity      
Exercise of land purchase options acquired with acquisition of business $ 141  $ —  $ —
Fair value of assets acquired from the acquisition of business $ 19,418  $ —  $ —
Cash paid for the acquisition of business $ (14,006)  $ —  $ —
Contingent consideration and liabilities assumed from the acquisition of business $ 5,412  $ —  $ —

Issuance of Class A common stock for vested restricted stock units $ 3,999  $ —  $ —

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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UCP, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND NATURE OF OPERATIONS:

As used in this report, unless the context otherwise requires or indicates, references to “the Company,” and “UCP” refer (1) prior to the July 23, 2013
completion of the initial public offering of Class A common stock, par value $0.01 per share ( “Class A common stock”) of UCP, Inc. (the “IPO”) and related
transactions, to UCP, LLC and its consolidated subsidiaries and (2) after the IPO and related transactions, to UCP, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries
including UCP, LLC. UCP, Inc. had nominal assets and no liabilities, and conducted no operations prior to the completion of the Company’s IPO.
Presentation of the historical results of UCP, Inc. would not be meaningful and accordingly the historical financial information prior to the IPO represents
those of UCP, LLC.

Business Description and Organizational Structure of the Company:

Company’s Business

The Company is a homebuilder and land developer with land acquisition and entitlement expertise in California, Washington State, North Carolina,
South Carolina, and Tennessee.

Company’s History

The Company’s operations began in 2004, and principally focused on acquiring land, entitling and developing it for residential construction, and
selling residential lots to third-party homebuilders. In January 2008, the Company’s business was acquired by PICO Holdings, Inc. (“PICO”), a NASDAQ -
listed, diversified holding company, which allowed the Company to accelerate the development of its business and gain access to a capital partner capable of
funding its growth. In 2010, the Company formed Benchmark Communities, LLC, its wholly owned homebuilding subsidiary, to design, construct and sell
high quality single-family homes. The Company completed its IPO on July 23, 2013 and purchased a 42.3% economic interest in UCP, LLC with the net
proceeds. On April 10, 2014, the Company completed the acquisition of the assets and liabilities of Citizens Homes, Inc. ("Citizens") used in the purchase of
real estate and the construction and marketing of residential homes in North Carolina, South Carolina and Tennessee ("Citizens Acquisition"), pursuant to a
Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated March 25, 2014 between UCP, LLC and Citizens.

Company’s Reorganization and the IPO

UCP, Inc. was incorporated in the State of Delaware on May 7, 2013 as a wholly-owned subsidiary of PICO for the purpose of facilitating the IPO and to
become a holding company owning, as its principal asset, membership interests in UCP, LLC. UCP, LLC is a holding company for the entities that directly or
indirectly own and operate the Company’s business. The net proceeds of $105.5 million from the IPO were used by UCP, Inc. for acquiring the 42.3%
ownership in UCP, LLC.

As of December 31, 2012, the Company's capital structure was comprised solely of PICO's membership interests and the Company did not have any
outstanding shares. During the years ended December 31, 2013 (prior to the completion of the IPO) and 2012, the Company received $37.5 million and $41.0
million, respectively in contributions from PICO. As the Company generated excess cash, primarily from the sale of real estate inventories, it repaid $25.4
million and $34.7 million of the contributions to PICO during the years ended December 31, 2013 (prior to the completion of the IPO), and 2012,
respectively. Subsequent to the IPO in 2013 and through the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company has not received additional contributions from
PICO or repaid any additional contributions to PICO, and does not anticipate receiving additional contributions from PICO or repaying any remaining
contributions to PICO.

Prior to the completion of the IPO, PICO allocated expenses to the Company for certain corporate services and other expenses. The material expenses
allocated were payroll and benefits, which were allocated based on estimated time for the services provided. The service costs allocated included executive
management, information technology, legal, finance and accounting, human resources, risk management, tax and treasury. The total amounts of the expense
allocations from PICO to the Company for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 were $587,000 and $1.2 million, respectively. Of these expenses
$579,000 were payable as of December 31, 2013. These expense allocations are primarily reflected within general and administrative expenses in the
Company's consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income or loss. The Company's management believes the basis on which the expenses
have been allocated is a reasonable reflection of the services
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and other benefits received by the Company during the periods presented, and that the financial statements reflect all of the costs of doing business related to
the Company's operations, including expenses incurred by PICO on the Company's behalf.

Upon completion of the IPO, UCP, Inc. issued 7,750,000 shares of Class A common stock (par value $0.01 per share) at a public offering price of $15.00
per share and received net proceeds of $105.5 million after deducting the underwriting discount and other offering costs. UCP, Inc. invested these net
proceeds into UCP, LLC and acquired UCP, LLC’s newly-issued Series B Units, which represented a 42.3% economic interest in UCP, LLC; PICO, through its
ownership of UCP, LLC Series A Units, retained the remaining 57.7% economic interest in UCP, LLC.

In connection with the IPO, UCP, LLC's Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Operating Agreement (the "Operating Agreement") was
amended and restated to, among other things, designate UCP, Inc. as the sole managing member of UCP, LLC and establish a new series of units (“UCP, LLC
Series B Units”), are held solely by UCP, Inc., and reclassify PICO's units into 10,593,000 UCP, LLC Series A Units (the “UCP, LLC Series A Units”), which
are held solely by PICO (and its permitted transferees). UCP, Inc. purchased 7,750,000 UCP, LLC Series B Units through its investment in UCP, LLC with the
net proceeds from the IPO. The UCP, LLC Series B Units rank on parity with the UCP, LLC Series A Units as to distribution rights and rights upon
liquidation, winding up or dissolution. Subsequent to the IPO and related transactions, as the sole managing member of UCP, LLC, UCP, Inc. operates and
controls all of the business and affairs and consolidates the financial results of UCP, LLC and its subsidiaries. During the year ended December 31, 2014,
UCP, LLC made a distribution of $674,000 to PICO toward its tax liability as required by the Operating Agreement and a pro rata distribution to UCP, Inc.

The amended and restated certificate of incorporation of UCP, Inc. authorizes two classes of common stock: Class A common stock, and Class B common
stock, par value $0.01 per share (“Class B common stock”). Shares of Class A common stock represent 100% of the economic rights of the holders of all
classes of UCP, Inc.'s common stock. Shares of Class B common stock, which are held exclusively by PICO, are not entitled to any dividends paid by, or
rights upon liquidation of, UCP, Inc. PICO holds 100 shares of Class B common stock of UCP, Inc., providing PICO with no economic rights but entitling
PICO, without regard to the number of shares of Class B common stock held by PICO, to one vote on matters presented to stockholders of UCP, Inc. for each
UCP, LLC Series A Unit held by PICO. Holders of the Company’s Class A common stock and Class B common stock will vote together as a single class on all
matters presented to the Company’s stockholders for their vote or approval, except as otherwise required by applicable law. As of December 31, 2014, PICO
held 10,593,000 UCP, LLC Series A Units and 100 shares of Class B common stock, which provided PICO with 57.2% of the aggregate voting power of UCP,
Inc.'s outstanding Class A common stock and Class B common stock, effectively providing PICO with control over the outcome of votes on all matters
requiring approval by the Company’s stockholders.

The Company's charter provides that its board of directors has the authority, without action by the stockholders, to designate and issue up to
50,000,000 shares of preferred stock in one or more classes or series and to fix for each class or series the powers, rights, preferences and privileges of each
series of preferred stock, including dividend rights, conversion rights, voting rights, terms of redemption, liquidation preferences and the number of shares
constituting any class or series, which may be greater than the rights of the holders of the Class A common stock or Class B common stock. The Company has
no present plans to issue any shares of preferred stock.

Exchange Agreement

In connection with the IPO, UCP, Inc. entered into an Exchange Agreement, pursuant to which PICO (and its permitted transferees) have the right to
cause UCP, Inc. to exchange PICO's UCP, LLC Series A Units for shares of UCP, Inc. Class A common stock on a one-for-one basis, subject to equitable
adjustments for stock splits, stock dividends and reclassifications. As of December 31, 2014, giving effect to the Class A common stock that the Company
would issue if PICO were to elect to exchange all of its UCP, LLC Series A Units for shares of Class A common stock, the Company would have 18,515,216
shares of Class A common stock outstanding. In addition, in connection with and subsequent to the IPO, the Company issued an aggregate of 430,333
restricted stock units ("RSUs") in 2013 and 66,561 RSUs and 166,081 stock options ("Options") in 2014 to the members of its management team, other
officers and employees and directors. These RSUs and Options vest at various points in time through 2018. The Company issues Class A common stock on a
one-for-one basis in connection with the vesting of each RSU or exercise of Option. Any UCP, LLC Series A Units being exchanged will be reclassified as
UCP, LLC Series B Units in connection with such exchange. Exchanges by PICO of its UCP, LLC Series A Units for shares of UCP, Inc. Class A common
stock are expected to result, with respect to UCP, Inc., in increases in the tax basis of the assets of UCP, LLC that otherwise would not have been available.
These increases in tax basis may reduce the amount of tax that UCP, Inc. would otherwise be required to pay in the future. These increases in tax basis may
also decrease gains (or increase losses) on future dispositions of certain assets to the extent tax basis is allocated to those assets.
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Tax Receivable Agreement

In connection with the IPO, the Company entered into a tax receivable agreement (“TRA”) with PICO. When PICO sells or exchanges its UCP, LLC
Series A Units for shares of the Company’s Class A common stock, such a sale or exchange by PICO would result in an adjustment to the tax basis of the
assets owned by UCP, LLC at the time of an exchange. An increase in tax basis is expected to increase the Company's depreciation and amortization income
tax deductions and create other tax benefits and therefore may reduce the amount of income tax that the Company would otherwise be required to pay in the
future. Under the TRA, the Company generally is required to pay to PICO 85% of the applicable cash savings in U.S. federal and state income tax that the
Company actually realizes (or is deemed to realize in certain circumstances) as a result of sales or exchanges of the UCP, LLC Series A Units held by PICO for
shares of Class A common stock, leaving the Company with 15% of the benefits of the tax savings. Cash savings in income tax will be computed by
comparing the Company’s actual income tax liability to the amount of income taxes that the Company would have been required to pay had there been no
increase in the tax basis of the tangible and intangible assets of UCP, LLC as a result of the exchanges. If the Company would not have reported taxable
income in a given taxable year had there been no increase in the tax basis of assets as a result of the exchanges, no payment under the TRA for that taxable
year is required because no tax savings will have been realized.

As of December 31, 2014, PICO has not exchanged any of its UCP, LLC Series A Units. Estimating the amount of future payments to be made under the
TRA cannot be done reliably at this time because any increase in tax basis, as well as the amount and timing of any payments, will vary depending on a
number of factors, including:

• the timing of any exchanges of UCP, LLC Series A Units for shares of the Company’s Class A common stock by PICO, as the increase in any tax
deductions will vary depending on the allocation of fair market value to the assets of UCP, LLC at the time of any such exchanges, and this value
allocation may fluctuate over time;

• the price of the Company’s Class A common stock at the time of any exchanges of UCP, LLC Series A Units for shares of the Company’s Class A
common stock (since the increase in the Company’s share of the basis in the assets of UCP, LLC, as well as the corresponding increase in any tax
deductions, will be related to the price of the Company’s Class A common stock at the time of any such exchanges);

• the tax rates in effect at the time the Company uses the increased amortization and depreciation deductions or realize other tax benefits; and

• the amount, character and timing of the Company’s taxable income.

The effects of the TRA on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet if PICO elects to exchange all or a portion of its UCP, LLC Series A Units for the
Company’s Class A common stock are expected to be as follows:
 

• an increase in deferred tax assets for the estimated income tax effects of the increase in the tax basis of the assets owned by UCP, LLC based on
enacted federal, state and local income tax rates at the date of the relevant transaction. To the extent the Company believes that it is more likely than
not that the Company will not realize the full tax benefit represented by the deferred tax asset, the Company will reduce the deferred tax asset with a
valuation allowance;

• the Company may record 85% of the applicable cash tax savings in U.S. federal and state income taxes resulting from the increase in the tax basis of
the UCP, LLC Series A Units and certain other tax benefits related to entering into the TRA, including tax benefits attributable to payments under
the TRA as an increase in a payable due to PICO; and

• an increase to additional paid-in capital equal to the difference between the increase in deferred tax assets and the increase in the liability due to
PICO.

 
The Company has the right to terminate the TRA at any time. In addition, the TRA will terminate early if the Company breaches obligations under the

TRA or upon certain mergers, asset sales, other forms of business combinations or other changes of control. In either case, the Company’s payment
obligations under the TRA would be accelerated and would become due and payable based on certain assumptions, including that (a) all the UCP, LLC
Series A Units are deemed exchanged for their fair value, (b) the Company would have sufficient taxable income to fully utilize the deductions arising from
the increased tax deductions and tax basis and (c) the subsidiaries of UCP, LLC will sell certain nonamortizable assets (and realize certain related tax
benefits) no later than a specified date. In each of these instances, the Company would be required to make an immediate payment to PICO equal to the
present value of the anticipated future tax benefits (discounted over the applicable amortization and depreciation periods for the assets the tax bases of which
are stepped up (which could be as long as fifteen years in respect of intangibles and goodwill) at a discount rate equal to LIBOR plus 100 basis points). The
benefits would be payable even
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though, in certain circumstances, no UCP, LLC Series A Units are actually exchanged at the time of the accelerated payment under the TRA, thereby resulting
in no corresponding tax basis step up at the time of such accelerated payment under the TRA.

Transition Services Agreement and Investor Rights Agreement

UCP, Inc. also entered into a Transition Services Agreement (“TSA”) with PICO, pursuant to which PICO provides certain services to UCP, Inc.,
including, among other things, accounting, human resources and information technology services.

Additionally, pursuant to an Investor Rights Agreement that UCP, Inc. entered into with PICO in connection with the IPO, PICO has the right to
nominate two individuals for election to UCP, Inc.'s board of directors for as long as PICO owns 25% or more of the combined voting power of UCP, Inc.'s
outstanding Class A and Class B common stock and one individual for as long as it owns at least 10% (in each case, excluding shares of any of UCP, Inc.'s
common stock that are subject to issuance upon the exercise or exchange of rights of conversion or any options, warrants or other rights to acquire shares).
However, the Investor Rights Agreement does not entitle PICO to nominate individuals for election to UCP, Inc.'s board of directors if their election would
result in PICO nominees comprising more than two of UCP, Inc.'s directors (for as long as PICO owns 25% or more of the combined voting power of UCP,
Inc.'s outstanding Class A and Class B common stock) or one of UCP, Inc.'s directors (for as long as PICO owns at least 10% of the combined voting power of
UCP, Inc.'s outstanding Class A and Class B common stock).

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES:

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned, majority-owned and controlled
subsidiaries, and have been prepared in accordance with the accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America ("U.S. GAAP"). Inter-
company balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

The consolidated financial statements for the period prior to the completion of the Company’s IPO, which was completed on July 23, 2013, have been
prepared on a stand-alone basis and have been derived from PICO’s consolidated financial statements and accounting records. These stand-alone financial
statements have been prepared using the historical results of operations and assets and liabilities attributed to the Company’s operations.

As an “emerging growth company” as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012, the Company intends to take advantage of certain
temporary exemptions from various reporting requirements, including, but not limited to, not being required to comply with the auditor attestation
requirements of Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in its periodic reports and
proxy statements. The Company could be an emerging growth company until the last day of the fiscal year following the fifth anniversary of the completion
of its IPO, although a variety of circumstances could cause it to lose that status earlier.

Use of Estimates in Preparation of Financial Statements:

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of
revenues and expenses for each reporting period. The significant estimates made in the preparation of the Company’s consolidated financial statements relate
to the assessment of real estate impairments, warranty reserves, income taxes and contingent liabilities. While management believes that the carrying value of
such assets and liabilities are appropriate as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, it is reasonably possible that actual results could differ from the estimates upon
which the carrying values were based.

Related Party Transactions:

In connection with certain financings that occurred prior to the IPO, PICO agreed to indemnify the lenders for any losses they may suffer in connection
with hazardous materials on certain financed properties. Those indemnities are provided in perpetuity.

The Company is often required to provide performance bonds to governmental authorities and others to ensure the completion of its projects. PICO had
guaranteed certain performance bonds with an aggregate amount of $10.3 million as of the
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IPO, but was released from those guarantees subsequent to the IPO. As of December 31, 2012, PICO had guaranteed certain performance bonds with an
aggregate amount of $6.9 million. The Company does not expect PICO to provide additional guarantees, indemnities or any other forms of credit support.

As described above, in connection with the IPO, the Company entered into the Exchange Agreement, Investor Rights Agreement, TSA and TRA with
PICO. The Company also entered into a Registration Rights Agreement with PICO, with respect to the shares of its Class A common stock that it may receive
in exchanges made pursuant to the Exchange Agreement. In connection with the IPO, the amendment and restatement of UCP, LLC's Amended and Restated
Limited Liability Company Operating Agreement was approved by PICO; the sole member of UCP, LLC prior to completion of the IPO.

Under the TSA, the Company incurred $615,000 for administrative support services for the year ended December 31, 2014 and $351,000 for the post IPO
period for the year ended December 31, 2013. The agreement was not in effect during the period prior to the IPO for the year ended December 31, 2013. The
initial term of the TSA expired on July 23, 2014 after which the Company exercised the right to renew for two ninety day periods. These renewal terms
expired on January 23, 2015 and the agreement will now continue on a month-to-month basis until canceled by the Company upon thirty days prior written
notice or by PICO upon sixty days prior written notice. As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, the total amount payable to PICO under the TSA or expense
allocations from PICO prior to the IPO were $757,000 and $579,000, respectively.

Segment Reporting:

As a result of Citizens Acquisition in April 2014, the Company evaluated the ongoing management of its homebuilding and land development
operations to ensure that resources were appropriately allocated to maximize its overall results. Based on this evaluation, the Company has segmented its
operating activities into two geographical regions and currently has homebuilding reportable segments in the West and Southeast and a land development
reportable segment in the West. As such all segment information for fiscal years 2013 and 2012 has been reclassified and is shown under the West
homebuilding and land development reportable segments.

In accordance with the applicable accounting guidance, the Company considered similar economic and other characteristics, including geography,
product types, average selling prices, gross margins, production processes, suppliers, subcontractors, regulatory environments, land acquisition results and
underlying supply and demand in determining its reportable segments.

Cash and Cash Equivalents:

Cash and cash equivalents include highly liquid instruments purchased with original maturities of three months or less.
 

Real Estate Inventories and Cost of Sales:

The Company capitalizes pre-acquisition costs, the purchase price of real estate, development costs and other allocated costs, including interest, during
development and home construction. Applicable costs incurred after development or construction is substantially complete are charged to sales and
marketing or general and administrative, as appropriate. Pre-acquisition costs, including non-refundable land deposits, are expensed to cost of sales when the
Company determines continuation of the related project is not probable.

Land, development and other common costs are typically allocated to real estate inventories using the relative-sales-value method. Direct home
construction costs are recorded using the specific identification method. Cost of sales-homebuilding includes the allocation of construction costs of each
home and all applicable land acquisition, real estate development and related common costs based upon the relative-sales-value of the home. Changes to
estimated total development costs subsequent to initial home closings in a community are generally allocated on a relative-sales-value method to remaining
homes in the community. Cost of sales-land development includes land acquisition and development costs, capitalized interest, impairment charges,
abandonment charges for projects that are no longer economically viable, and real estate taxes. Abandonment charges during the years ended December 31,
2014, 2013 and 2012, were $173,000, $309,000, and $665,000, respectively. Inventory is stated at cost, unless the carrying amount is determined not to be
recoverable, in which case inventory is written down to fair value.
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All real estate inventories are classified as held until the Company commits to a plan to sell the real estate, the real estate can be sold in its present
condition, is being actively marketed for sale, and it is probable that the real estate will be sold within the next twelve months. Completed homes are
included in real estate inventories in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets at the lower of cost or market value.

Impairment of Real Estate Inventories:

The Company records an impairment loss when conditions exist where the carrying amount of real estate is not fully recoverable and exceeds its fair
value. Indicators of impairment include, but are not limited to, significant decreases in local housing market values and selling prices of comparable homes,
significant decreases in gross margins and sales absorption rates, costs in excess of budget, and actual or projected cash flow losses. The Company prepares
and analyzes cash flows at the lowest level for which there are identifiable cash flows that are independent of the cash flows of other groups of assets, which
we have determined as the community level.

If events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may be impaired, such impairment will be measured based upon the difference between the
carrying amount and the fair value of such assets determined using the estimated future discounted cash flows, excluding interest charges, generated from the
use and ultimate disposition of the respective real estate inventories. Such losses, if any, are reported within cost of sales for the period. No such losses were
recorded during the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012.

When estimating undiscounted future cash flows of its real estate assets, the Company makes various assumptions, including: (i) expected sales prices
and sales incentives to be offered, including the number of homes available on the market, pricing and incentives being offered by it or other builders in
other communities, and future sales price adjustments based on market and economic trends; (ii) expected sales pace and cancellation rates based on local
housing market conditions, competition and historical trends; (iii) costs incurred to date and expected to be incurred, including, but not limited to, land and
land development costs, home construction costs, interest costs, indirect construction costs, and selling and marketing costs; (iv) alternative product offerings
that may be offered that could have an impact on sales pace, sales price and/or building costs; and (v) alternative uses for the property.

Capitalization of Interest:

The Company capitalizes interest to real estate inventories during the period of development. Interest capitalized as a cost of real estate inventories is
included in cost of sales-homebuilding or cost of sales-land development as related homes or real estate are sold. To the extent the Company’s debt exceeds
the related asset under development, the Company expenses that portion of the interest incurred. Qualifying assets include projects that are actively under
development.

Purchase Accounting and Business Combinations:

Assets acquired and the liabilities assumed as part of a business combination are recognized separately from goodwill at their acquisition date fair
values. Goodwill as of the acquisition date is measured as the excess of consideration transferred over the net of the acquisition date fair values of the assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed. Estimates and assumptions are used to accurately value assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date as
well as contingent consideration, where applicable. Management may refine these estimates during the measurement period which may be up to one year
from the acquisition date. As a result, during the measurement period, the Company records adjustments to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed with
the corresponding offset to goodwill. Upon the conclusion of the measurement period or final determination of the values of assets acquired or liabilities
assumed, whichever comes first, any subsequent adjustments are recorded to the Company's consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive
income or loss. During the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company recorded a fair value adjustment of $377,000 reducing the estimated contingent
consideration related to the Citizens acquisition.

Accounting for business combinations requires our management to make significant estimates and assumptions, especially at the acquisition date
including our estimates for intangible assets, contractual obligations assumed, restructuring liabilities, pre-acquisition contingencies and contingent
consideration, where applicable.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets:

The purchase price of an acquired company is allocated between the net tangible assets and intangible assets of the acquired business with the residual
purchase price recorded as goodwill. The determination of the value of the assets acquired
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and liabilities assumed involves certain judgments and estimates. These judgments can include, but are not limited to, the cash flows that an asset is expected
to generate in the future and the appropriate weighted average cost of capital.

Acquired intangible assets with determinable useful lives are amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated remaining useful lives, ranging from
six months to five years, or added to the value of the land when an option intangible is used to purchase the related land, or expensed in the period when the
option is cancelled. Acquired intangible assets with contractual terms are generally amortized over their respective contractual lives. When certain events or
changes in operating conditions occur, an impairment assessment is performed for the intangible assets. Goodwill is not amortized, but is evaluated annually
for impairment, or when indicators of a potential impairment are present. The annual evaluation for impairment of goodwill is based on valuation models that
incorporate assumptions and internal projections of expected future cash flows and operating plans.

The Company tests goodwill for impairment on an annual basis in the fourth quarter and at any other time when events occur or circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount of goodwill may not be recoverable. Circumstances that could trigger an impairment test include, but are not limited to: a
significant adverse change in the business climate or legal factors; an adverse action or assessment by a regulator; change in customer, target market or
strategy; unanticipated competition; loss of key personnel; or the likelihood that a reporting unit or significant portion of a reporting unit will be sold or
otherwise disposed.

An assessment of qualitative factors is performed to determine whether it is necessary to perform the two-step quantitative goodwill impairment test. If
the result of the qualitative assessment is that it is more likely than not (i.e. > 50% likelihood) that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying
amount, then the quantitative test is required. Otherwise, no further testing is required.

Under the quantitative test, if the carrying amount of the reporting unit goodwill exceeds the implied fair value of that goodwill, an impairment loss is
recorded in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income or loss as "Impairment of goodwill." Measurement of the fair value of a
reporting unit is based on one or more of the following fair value measures: amounts at which the unit as a whole could be bought or sold in a current
transaction between willing parties; using present value techniques of estimated future cash flows; or using valuation techniques based on multiples of
earnings or revenue, or a similar performance measure.

As of December 31, 2014, acquired intangibles, including goodwill, relate to the Citizens Acquisition, which was completed on April 10, 2014. See Note
6 “Acquisition” for further discussion of goodwill and intangible assets.

Fixed Assets, Net:

Fixed assets are carried at cost, net of accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives
of the assets.  Computer software and hardware are depreciated over three years, office furniture and fixtures are depreciated over seven years, vehicles are
depreciated over five years and leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorter of their useful life or lease term and range from one to three
years. Maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred, while significant improvements are capitalized. Depreciation expense is included in
general and administrative expenses, and gains or losses on the sale of fixed assets are included in other income.

Receivables:

Receivables include amounts due from buyers for homes sold and from utility companies for reimbursement of costs. At December 31, 2014, and 2013,
the Company had no allowance for doubtful accounts recorded.
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Other Assets:

The detail of other assets is set forth below (in thousands):

 December 31, 2014  December 31, 2013

Customer deposits in escrow $ 503  $ 350
Prepaid expenses 3,129  441
Other deposits 336  365
Other $ 1,836  $ —
   Total $ 5,804  $ 1,156

Homebuilding, Land Development Sales and Other Revenues Profit Recognition:
 

In accordance with Financial Accounting Standard Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standard Codification ("ASC") Topic 360, Property, Plant, and
Equipment, revenue from home sales and other real estate sales are recorded and any profit is recognized when the respective sales are closed. Sales are closed
when all conditions of escrow are met, title passes to the buyer, appropriate consideration is received and collection of associated receivables, if any, is
reasonably assured and the Company has no continuing involvement. The Company does not offer financing to any buyers. Sales price incentives are
accounted for as a reduction of revenues when the sale is recorded. If the earnings process is not complete, the sale and any related profits are deferred for
recognition in future periods. Any profit recorded is based on the calculation of cost of sales, which is dependent on an allocation of costs.

In addition to homebuilding and land development, with the completion of the Citizens Acquisition, the Company now provides construction
management services pursuant to which it builds homes on behalf of property owners. Revenue from providing these services is included in other revenues in
the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income or loss. The property owners fund all project costs incurred by the Company to build the
homes. The Company primarily enters into “cost plus fee” contracts where it charges property owners for all direct and indirect costs plus a negotiated
management fee. The management fee is typically a fixed fee, based on a percentage of the cost or home sales revenue of the project, depending on the terms
of the agreement with the property owners. In accordance with ASC Topic 605, Revenue Recognition, revenues from construction management services are
recognized based upon a cost-to-cost approach in applying the percentage-of-completion method. Under this approach, revenue is earned in proportion to
total costs incurred, divided by total costs expected to be incurred. The total estimated cost plus the management fee represents the total contract value. The
Company recognizes revenue based on the actual costs incurred, plus the portion of the management fee it has earned to date. In the course of providing
construction management services, the Company routinely subcontracts for services and incurs other direct costs on behalf of the property owners. These
costs are included in the Company’s cost of revenue in the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income or loss.

Stock-Based Compensation:

Stock-based compensation expense is measured at the grant date based on the fair value of the award and is recognized as expense over the period in
which the awards vest in accordance with ASC 718, Compensation - Stock Compensation. The Company has issued 496,894 RSUs and 166,081 Options
under the Long-Term Incentive Plan ("LTIP") through the year ended December 31, 2014. See Note 10 for a description of the RSUs and the LTIP.

Warranty Reserves:
 

Estimated future direct warranty costs are accrued and charged to cost of sales-homebuilding in the period in which the related homebuilding revenue is
recognized. Amounts accrued are based upon estimates of the amount the Company expects to pay for warranty work. The Company assesses the adequacy of
its warranty reserves on a quarterly basis and adjusts the amounts recorded, if necessary. Warranty reserves are included in accounts payable and accrued
liabilities in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.
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Changes in warranty reserves are detailed in the table set forth below (in thousands):

 December 31, 2014  December 31, 2013

Warranty reserves, beginning of period $ 608  $ 141
Warranty reserves accrued 1,128  487
Warranty expenditures/ back charges (227)  (20)
Warranty reserves, end of period $ 1,509  $ 608

Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities:

The Company enters into purchase and option agreements for the purchase of real estate as part of the normal course of business. These purchase and
option agreements enable the Company to acquire real estate at one or more future dates at pre-determined prices. The Company believes these acquisition
structures reduce its financial risk associated with real estate acquisitions and holdings and allow the Company to better manage its cash position.

Based on the provisions of the relevant accounting guidance, the Company concluded that when it enters into a purchase agreement to acquire real
estate from an entity, a variable interest entity (“VIE”), may be created. The Company evaluates all option and purchase agreements for real estate to
determine whether they are a VIE. The applicable accounting guidance requires that for each VIE, the Company assess whether it is the primary beneficiary
and, if it is, the Company consolidates the VIE in its consolidated financial statements in accordance with ASC Topic 810 - Consolidations, and would
reflect such assets and liabilities as “Real estate inventories not owned.”

In order to determine if the Company is the primary beneficiary, it must first assess whether it has the ability to control the activities of the VIE that most
significantly impact its economic performance. Such activities include, but are not limited to; the ability to determine the budget and scope of land
development work, if any; the ability to control financing decisions for the VIE; the ability to acquire additional land into the VIE or dispose of land in the
VIE not under contract with us; and the ability to change or amend the existing option contract with the VIE. If the Company is not determined to control
such activities, the Company is not considered the primary beneficiary of the VIE. If the Company does have the ability to control such activities, the
Company will continue its analysis by determining if it is also expected to absorb a potentially significant amount of the VIE’s losses or, if no party absorbs
the majority of such losses, if the Company will benefit from a potentially significant amount of the VIE’s expected gains.

In substantially all cases, creditors of the entities with which the Company have option agreements have no recourse against the Company and the
maximum exposure to loss on the applicable option or purchase agreements is limited to non-refundable option deposits and any capitalized pre-acquisition
costs. Some of the Company’s option or purchase deposits may be refundable to the Company if certain contractual conditions are not performed by the party
selling the lots. The Company did not consolidate any land under option irrespective of whether a VIE was or was not present at December 31, 2014 or 2013.

Price Participation Interests:
 

Certain land purchase contracts and other agreements include provisions for additional payments to the land sellers. These additional payments are
contingent on certain future outcomes, such as, selling homes above a certain preset price or achieving an internal rate of return above a certain preset level.
These additional payments, if triggered, are accounted for as cost of sale, when they become due; however, they are neither fully determinable, nor due, until
the transfer of title to the buyer is complete. Accordingly, no liability is recorded until the sale is complete.

Income Taxes:
 

The Company’s provision for income tax expense includes federal and state income taxes currently payable and those deferred because of temporary
differences between the income tax and financial reporting bases of the assets and liabilities.  The liability method of accounting for income taxes also
requires the Company to reflect the effect of a tax rate change on accumulated deferred income taxes in income in the period in which the change is enacted.
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In assessing the realization of deferred income taxes, the Company considered whether it is more likely than not that any deferred income tax assets will
be realized.  The ultimate realization of deferred income tax assets is dependent upon the generation of sufficient future taxable income during the period in
which temporary differences become deductible.  If it is more likely than not that some or all of the deferred income tax assets will not be realized, a valuation
allowance is recorded. The Company considered many factors when assessing the likelihood of future realization of its deferred tax assets, including recent
cumulative earnings experience by taxing jurisdiction, expectations of future transactions, the carryforward periods available to the Company for tax
reporting purposes and availability of tax planning strategies. These assumptions require significant judgment about future events. These judgments are
consistent with the plans and estimates that the Company uses to manage the underlying businesses.  In evaluating the objective evidence that historical
results provide, the Company considered three years of cumulative operating income or loss of the Company and its predecessor.

As a result of the analysis of all available evidence as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Company recorded a full valuation allowance on its net
deferred tax assets. Consequently, the Company reported no income tax benefit for the year ended December 31, 2014 or 2013. If the Company’s assumptions
change and the Company believes that it will be able to realize these deferred tax assets, the tax benefits relating to any reversal of the valuation allowance
on deferred tax assets will be recognized as a reduction of income tax expense.  If the assumptions do not change, each period the Company could record an
additional valuation allowance on any increases in the deferred tax assets.

The Company recognizes any uncertain income tax positions on income tax returns at the largest amount that is more-likely-than-not to be sustained
upon audit by the relevant taxing authority. An uncertain income tax position will not be recognized unless it has a greater than 50% likelihood of being
sustained. The Company recognizes any interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions in income tax expense.

The Company prior to the IPO was a limited liability company which was treated as an entity that was disregarded from its owner for income tax
purposes and was subject to certain minimal taxes and fees. However, income taxes on taxable income or losses realized by the Company were the obligation
of PICO.

Noncontrolling Interest:

The Company reports the share of the results of operations that are attributable to other owners of its consolidated subsidiaries that are less than wholly-
owned, as noncontrolling interest in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. In the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive
income or loss, the income or loss attributable to the noncontrolling interest is reported separately, and the accumulated income or loss attributable to the
noncontrolling interest, along with any changes in ownership or adjustments of the subsidiary, is reported as a component of total equity.  For the year ended
December 31, 2013, the noncontrolling interest reported in the consolidated financial statements includes PICO’s share of 100% of the loss related to UCP,
LLC prior to the completion of the IPO, and 57.7% of UCP, LLC’s loss subsequent to the completion of the IPO. For the year ended December 31, 2014, the
noncontrolling interest reported in the consolidated financial statements includes PICO's share of 57.2% of the loss related to UCP, LLC. Noncontrolling
interest reported in the consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 was adjusted for $3.1 million and $1.8 million
respectively of general and administrative expenses that were attributable directly to UCP, Inc. activities and, accordingly, have been allocated to UCP, Inc. -
see Note 13.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards:

Other than as described below, no new accounting pronouncement issued or effective during the fiscal year has had or is expected to have a material
impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

In July 2013, FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2013-11, “Income Taxes (Topic 740): Presentation of an Unrecognized Tax Benefit When
a Net Operating Loss Carryforward, a Similar Tax Loss, or a Tax Credit Carryforward Exists (a consensus of the FASB Emerging Issues Task Force)” (“ASU
2013-11”), which states that an unrecognized tax benefit, or a portion of an unrecognized tax benefit, should be presented in the financial statements as a
reduction to a deferred tax asset for a net operating loss carryforward, a similar tax loss, or a tax credit carryforward, except as follows. To the extent a net
operating loss carryforward, a similar tax loss, or a tax credit carryforward is not available at the reporting date under the tax law of the applicable jurisdiction
to settle any additional income taxes that would result from the disallowance of a tax position or the tax law of the applicable jurisdiction does not require
the entity to use, and the entity does not intend to use, the deferred
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tax asset for such purpose, the unrecognized tax benefit should be presented in the financial statements as a liability and should not be combined with
deferred tax assets. ASU 2013-11 applies to all entities that have unrecognized tax benefits when a net operating loss carryforward, a similar tax loss, or a tax
credit carryforward exists at the reporting date. The amendments in ASU 2013-11 are effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those years,
beginning after December 15, 2013. Early adoption is permitted. The amendments should be applied prospectively to all unrecognized tax benefits that exist
at the effective date. Retrospective application is permitted. The adoption of this guidance did not have a material effect on our consolidated financial
statements.

In April 2014, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2014-08, “Presentation of Financial Statements (Topic 205) and Property, Plant and
Equipment (Topic 360): Reporting Discontinued Operations and Disclosures of Disposals of Components of an Entity” (“ASU 2014-08”), which raises the
threshold for a disposal to qualify as a discontinued operation and requires new disclosures of both discontinued operations and certain other disposals that
do not meet the new definition of a discontinued operation. It also allows an entity to present a discontinued operation even when it has continuing cash
flows and significant continuing involvement with the disposed component. The amendments in ASU 2014-08 are effective prospectively for disposals (or
classifications as held for sale) of components of an entity that occur within annual periods beginning on or after December 15, 2014, and interim periods
within those years. Early adoption is permitted but only for disposals (or classifications as held for sale) that have not been reported in financial statements
previously issued or available for issuance. We believe the adoption of this guidance will not have a material effect on our consolidated financial statements.
 

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“ASU 2014-09”), which provides guidance for revenue
recognition. ASU 2014-09 affects any entity that either enters into contracts with customers to transfer goods or services or enters into contracts for the
transfer of non-financial assets and supersedes the revenue recognition requirements in Topic 605, “Revenue Recognition,” and most industry-specific
guidance. This ASU also supersedes some cost guidance included in Subtopic 605-35, “Revenue Recognition-Construction-Type and Production-Type
Contracts.” The standard’s core principle is that a company will recognize revenue when it transfers promised goods or services to customers in an amount
that reflects the consideration to which a company expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. In doing so, companies will need to use
more judgment and make more estimates than under today’s guidance. These may include identifying performance obligations in the contract, estimating the
amount of variable consideration to include in the transaction price and allocating the transaction price to each separate performance obligation. ASU 2014-
09 is effective for the Company beginning November 1, 2017 and at that time the Company may adopt the new standard under the full retrospective
approach or the modified retrospective approach. Early adoption is not permitted. We are currently evaluating the method and impact the adoption of ASU
2014-09 will have on the Company’s consolidated financial statements and disclosures.

In June 2014, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2014-11, “Transfers and Servicing (Topic 860): Repurchase-to-Maturity Transactions,
Repurchase Financings, and Disclosures” (“ASU 2014-11”), which requires repurchase-to-maturity transactions to be accounted for as secured borrowings,
eliminates existing accounting guidance for repurchase financing arrangements, and expands disclosure requirements related to certain transfers of financial
assets. ASU 2014-11 is effective for public entities for the first interim or annual period beginning after December 15, 2014. Early adoption is not permitted.
We believe the adoption of this guidance will not have a material effect on our consolidated financial statements.

In June 2014, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2014-12, “Compensation - Stock Compensation (Topic 718): Accounting for Share-
Based Payments When the Terms of an Award Provide That a Performance Target Could Be Achieved after the Requisite Service Period” (“ASU 2014-12”).
The amendments in ASU 2014-12 require that a performance target that affects vesting and that could be achieved after the requisite service period be treated
as a performance condition. A reporting entity should apply existing guidance in ASC 718, as it relates to awards with performance conditions that affect
vesting to account for such awards. The amendments in ASU 2014-12 are effective for annual periods and interim periods within those annual periods
beginning after December 15, 2015. Early adoption is permitted. Entities may apply the amendments in ASU 2014-12 either: (a) prospectively to all awards
granted or modified after the effective date; or (b) retrospectively to all awards with performance targets that are outstanding as of the beginning of the
earliest annual period presented in the financial statements and to all new or modified awards thereafter. We believe the adoption of this guidance will not
have a material effect on our consolidated financial statements.

In August 2014, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2014-15, “Presentation of Financial Statements — Going Concern (Subtopic 205-
40): Disclosure of Uncertainties about an Entity’s Ability to Continue as a Going Concern” (“ASU 2014-15”), which requires management to evaluate, in
connection with preparing financial statements for each annual and interim reporting period, whether there are conditions or events, considered in the
aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about an entity’s ability to continue as a going concern within one year after the date that the financial statements are
issued (or within one year after the date that the financial statements are available to be issued when applicable) and provide related disclosures. ASU 2014-
15 is effective for the annual period ending after December 15, 2016, and for annual
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and interim periods thereafter. Early adoption is permitted. We believe the adoption of this guidance will not have a material effect on our consolidated
financial statements.

3. Loss per share

Basic loss per share of Class A common stock is computed by dividing net loss attributable to UCP, Inc. earnings by the weighted average number of
shares of Class A common stock outstanding during the period. Diluted loss per share of Class A common stock is computed similarly to basic earnings or
loss per share except the weighted average shares outstanding are increased to include additional shares from the assumed exercise of any Class A common
stock equivalents using the treasury stock method, if dilutive. The Company’s RSUs and Options are considered Class A common stock equivalents for this
purpose. No incremental common stock equivalents were included in calculating diluted loss per share because such inclusion would be anti-dilutive given
the net loss attributable to UCP, Inc.’s Class A common stockholders for the year ended December 31, 2014 and for the period subsequent to the IPO for the
year ended December 31, 2013.

 

All losses prior to and up to the IPO were entirely allocable to noncontrolling interest. Consequently, only the loss allocable to UCP, Inc. from the period
subsequent to the IPO is included in the net loss attributable to the stockholders of Class A common stock for the year ended December 31, 2013. Basic and
diluted net loss per share of Class A common stock for the year ended December 31, 2014 and for the period from IPO to December 31, 2013 have been
computed as follows (in thousands, except number of shares and per share amounts):

 
For the Year Ended
December 31, 2014  

IPO to December 31,
2013

Numerator    
Net loss attributable to UCP, Inc. $ (4,993)  $ (1,941)
    
Denominator    
Weighted average shares of Class A common stock outstanding - basic and diluted 7,870,269  7,750,000
    
Net loss per share of Class A common stock - basic and diluted $ (0.63)  $ (0.25)

4. Real Estate Inventories

Real estate inventories consisted of the following (in thousands):

 December 31, 2014  December 31, 2013

Deposits and pre-acquisition costs $ 2,955  $ 4,517
Land held and land under development 235,809  117,808
Homes completed or under construction 70,804  46,639
Model homes 12,125  7,884

           Total $ 321,693  $ 176,848

Model homes and homes completed or under construction include all costs associated with home construction, including land, development, indirect
costs, permits and fees, and vertical construction. Land under development includes costs incurred during site development, such as land, development,
indirect costs and permits. As of December 31, 2014, the Company had $2.4 million of deposits pertaining to land purchase contracts for 925 lots with an
aggregate purchase price of approximately $49.6 million, net of deposits. As of December 31, 2013, the Company had $3.7 million of deposits pertaining to
land purchase contracts for 1,350 lots with an aggregate purchase price of approximately $87.9 million, net of deposits. At December 31, 2014 and 2013, the
Company had completed homes included in inventories of $28.8 million and $8.6 million, respectively.
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Interest Capitalization:
 

Interest is capitalized on real estate inventories during development. Interest capitalized is included in cost of sales in the Company's consolidated
statement of operations and comprehensive income or loss as related sales are recognized. For the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, interest
incurred of $3.8 million, $2.9 million, and $1.9 million, respectively, was capitalized in each respective period. Amounts capitalized to home inventory and
land inventory were as follows (in thousands): 

 December 31,

 2014  2013  2012

Interest expense capitalized as cost of home inventory $ 3,176  $ 2,259  $ 369
Interest expense capitalized as cost of land inventory 577  642  1,580

Total interest expense capitalized 3,753  2,901  1,949
Previously capitalized interest expense included in cost of sales - homebuilding (2,789)  (1,174)  (122)
Previously capitalized interest expense included in cost of sales - land development (3)  (9)  (638)

Net activity of capitalized interest 961  1,718  1,189
Capitalized interest expense in beginning inventory 6,338  4,620  3,431
Capitalized interest expense in ending inventory $ 7,299  $ 6,338  $ 4,620

5. Fixed Assets, Net

Fixed assets consisted of the following (in thousands): 

 December 31, 2014  December 31, 2013

Computer hardware and software $ 1,698  $ 1,118
Office furniture and equipment and leasehold improvements 763  337
Vehicles 79  79
   Total 2,540  1,534
Accumulated depreciation (969)  (506)
   Fixed assets, net $ 1,571  $ 1,028

Depreciation expense for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 was $463,000, $271,000 and $147,000, respectively, and is recorded in
general and administrative expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income or loss.

6. Acquisition

On April 10, 2014, the Company completed the acquisition of the assets and liabilities of Citizens Homes, Inc. ("Citizens") pursuant to a Purchase and
Sale Agreement, dated March 25, 2014 between UCP, LLC and Citizens. Citizens is active in the purchase of real estate and the construction and marketing
of residential homes in North Carolina, South Carolina and Tennessee. Accordingly, the results of Citizens are included in the Company’s consolidated
financial statements from the date of the acquisition. For the year ended December 31, 2014, the revenues and net income attributable to Citizens were $30.3
million and $1.4 million, respectively. Net income attributable to Citizens does not include an allocation of corporate costs. The Citizens Acquisition
provides increased scale and presence in established markets with immediate revenue opportunities through an established backlog. Additional synergies are
expected in the areas of purchasing leverage and integrating the best practices in operational effectiveness.

The Citizens Acquisition was accounted for as an acquisition of an ongoing business in accordance with ASC Topic 805 - Business Combinations
(“ASC 805”), where the Company was treated as the acquirer and the acquired assets and assumed liabilities were recorded by the Company at their
preliminary estimated fair values. The total purchase price of the assets
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acquired and assumed liabilities included: real estate inventory; architectural plans; deposits; trade name and land option intangibles; fixed assets; and
accounts payable. The acquisition date estimated fair value of the consideration transferred totaled $17.9 million, which consisted of the following (in
thousands):

Cash $ 14,006
Contingent consideration 3,902
  Total $ 17,908

The contingent consideration arrangement requires the Company to pay up to a maximum of $6.0 million of additional consideration based upon the
newly acquired Citizens’ business achievement of various pre-tax net income performance milestones (“performance milestones”) over a five year period
commencing on April 1, 2014. Payout calculations are made based on calendar year performance except for the 6th payout calculation which will be
calculated based on the achievement of performance milestones from January 1, 2019 through March 25, 2019. Payouts are to be made on an annual basis.
The potential undiscounted amount of all future payments that the Company could be required to make under the contingent consideration arrangement is
between $0 and $6 million. The fair value of the contingent consideration of $3.9 million was estimated based on applying the income approach and a
weighted probability of achievement of the performance milestones. The estimated fair value of the contingent consideration was calculated by using a
Monte Carlo simulation. The measurement is based on significant inputs that are not observable in the market, which ASC Topic 820 - Fair Value
Measurements, refers to as Level 3 inputs. Key assumptions include: (1) forecast adjusted net income over the contingent consideration period; (2) risk-
adjusted discount rate reflecting the risk inherent in the forecast adjusted net income; (3) risk-free interest rates; (4) volatility of adjusted net income; and (5)
the Company’s credit spread. The risk adjusted discount rate for adjusted net income was 15.7% plus the applicable risk-free rate resulting in a combined
discount rate ranging from 15.8% to 17% over the contingent consideration period. The Company’s volatility rate of 28.2% and a credit spread of 3.11%
were applied to forecast adjusted net income over the contingent consideration period.
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The following table summarizes the calculation of the estimated fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date (in
thousands):

 
Preliminary Amounts Previously Recorded

as of the Acquisition Date  
Measurement Period

Adjustments  
Adjusted Total as of

Acquisition Date

Assets acquired      
Accounts receivable $ 62  $ —  $ 62
Prepaids and other current assets 409  —  409
Real estate inventories 13,832  —  13,832
Deposits 26  —  26
Fixed assets 3  —  3
Architectural plans 170  —  170
Trademark/Trade name 180  (70)  110
Land options 583  —  583

Total assets acquired $ 15,265  $ (70)  $ 15,195
     —
Liabilities assumed     —

Customer deposits $ (27)  $ —  $ (27)
Deferred revenue (111)  —  (111)
Accounts payable (1,470)  98  (1,372)

Total liabilities assumed (1,608)  98  (1,510)
     —
Total net identifiable assets acquired 13,657  28  13,685
Goodwill 4,993  (770)  4,223
Total estimated fair value $ 18,650  $ (742)  $ 17,908

The acquired assets and assumed liabilities were recorded by the Company at their initial estimated fair values. The Company estimated fair values with
the assistance of preliminary appraisals or valuations performed by independent third party specialists, discounted cash flow analysis, and other estimates
made by management. To the extent the consideration transferred exceeded the fair value of net assets acquired; such excess was assigned to goodwill. All
goodwill has been attributed to our Southeast homebuilding reporting segment. During the fourth quarter of 2014, the Company finalized its acquisition
accounting for Citizens based on facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date by recording measurement period adjustments to reduce
contingent consideration, trademark and trade name intangibles and accounts payable, resulting in a reduction to goodwill of $770,000.

Accounts receivables, other assets, fixed assets and accounts payable, and accrued and other liabilities were generally stated at historical carrying values
given the short-term nature of these assets and liabilities in accordance with ASC 805.

The Company determined the fair value of real estate inventory on a lot-by-lot basis primarily using a combination of market comparable land
transactions, where available, and discounted cash flow models. These estimated cash flows are significantly impacted by estimates related to expected
average home selling prices and sales incentives, expected sales pace and cancellation rates, expected land development and construction timelines, and
anticipated land development, construction, and overhead costs.
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The following table outlines the key assumptions used to determine the fair value of real estate inventory.

Real Estate Inventories - Methodology and Significant Input Assumptions
  

Method Home comparable sales and discounted cash flow models
Home comparable range of base price per square foot $ 77- $118 per square foot
Average discount rate applied 15%
Range of builder profit margin 18%-24%
Builder profit margin applied 20%

The fair values for acquired intangible assets were recorded based on management's assessment of valuations performed by independent valuation
specialists. The $170,000 of intangible architectural plan assets will generally be amortized over five years and the $110,000 of trademark and trade name
intangibles was amortized over a six month period. The $583,000 of land option intangibles will be added to the value of the land when the option is used to
purchase the related land. If cancelled, a land option intangible will be expensed in the period in which such option is cancelled.

As of the acquisition date, goodwill largely consisted of the expected economic value attributable to the assembled workforce relating to the Citizens
Acquisition as well as estimated economic value attributable to expected synergies resulting from the acquisition.

During the fourth quarter of 2014, the Company revised its estimate of the probable amount of contingent consideration due to Citizens based on lower
projections for various pretax performance milestones required to earn the contingent consideration through the end of the contingent consideration period.
As a result, the Company reduced the contingent consideration liability and general and administrative expense in the accompanying consolidated balance
sheet and statement of operations and comprehensive income or loss by $377,000 to reflect the reduction in estimated contingent consideration liability.

Acquisition related costs directly related to the Citizens Acquisition, totaled approximately $778,000 for the year ended December 31, 2014, which are
included in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss within general and administrative expenses. Such costs were expensed in the
period incurred.

Three former employees of Citizens who are now employees of the Company have minority interests in land and general contracting operations that are
either under option or contract with Citizens which were disclosed, and approved by the Company as part of the Citizens Acquisition. During the year ended
December 31, 2014, the Company purchased approximately $7.9 million of land pursuant to these options or contracts.

Pro Forma Unaudited Financial Information

The pro forma unaudited financial information in the table below summarizes the results of operations of the Company as though the Citizens
Acquisition was completed as of January 1, 2013. The pro forma unaudited financial information for all periods presented includes additional amortization
charges from acquired intangible assets (certain of which are preliminary). The pro forma results do not reflect any cost savings, operating synergies or
revenue enhancements that the Company may achieve as a result of the acquisition, the costs to integrate the operations of the assets acquired in the Citizens
Acquisition, or the expenditures necessary to achieve these cost savings, operating synergies and revenue enhancements. Certain other adjustments,
including those related to conforming accounting policies and adjusting acquired real estate inventory to fair value, have not been reflected in the
supplemental pro forma operating results due to the impracticability of estimating such impacts.

The pro forma unaudited financial information as presented below is for informational purposes only and is not indicative of the results of operations
that would have been achieved if the acquisition was completed as of January 1, 2013, or indicative of the results that will be attained in the future.

91



(In thousands, except per share data) Year Ended

 December 31, 2014  December 31, 2013

  
Total revenues $ 201,785  $ 129,970
Net Income (loss) (7,338)  (5,304)
Comprehensive loss attributable to stockholders of UCP, Inc. (4,832)  (1,924)
Net loss per share - basic and diluted $ (0.61)  $ (0.25)

Pro forma earnings for the year ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 were adjusted to exclude and include approximately $778,000, respectively, of
acquisition costs related to Citizens Acquisition.

Intangible Assets

Other purchased intangible assets consisted of the following (in thousands): 

 December 31, 2014  December 31, 2013

 
Gross Carrying

Amount
Accumulated

Amortization(Use)
Net Carrying

Value  
Gross Carrying

Amount
Accumulated

Amortization (Use)
Net Carrying

Value

Architectural plans $ 170 $ (26) $ 144  $ — $ — $ —
Land option 583 (141) 442  — — —
Trademarks and trade names 110 (110) —  — — —
 $ 863 $ (277) $ 586  $ — $ — $ —
 

Amortization expense for the year ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 related to the architectural plans and trademarks and trade names intangibles was
approximately $136,000 and $0, respectively. The amortization period related to the architectural plans intangible is approximately 4.2 years. Amortization
expense is recorded in general and administrative expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss.
Additionally, land options of $141,000 were used to purchase land and were capitalized to real estate inventories during the year ended December 31, 2014.
Future estimated amortization expense related to the architectural plans intangibles over the next five years is as follows (in thousands):

 December 31,
2015 $ 34
2016 34
2017 34
2018 34
2019 8
Total $ 144

7. Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities consisted of the following (in thousands): 
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 December 31, 2014  December 31, 2013

Accrued expenses $ 22,281  $ 14,162
Contingent consideration for acquisition 3,525  —
Accounts payable 1,975  2,118
Accrued payroll liabilities 1,443  1,766
Warranty reserves (Note 2) 1,509  608
   Total $ 30,733  $ 18,654

8. Notes payable and Senior notes

The Company enters into acquisition, development and construction debt agreements to purchase and develop real estate inventories and for the
construction of homes, which are secured primarily by the underlying real estate. Certain of the loans are funded in full at the initial loan closing and others
are revolving facilities under which the Company may borrow, repay and redraw up to a specified amount during the term of the loan. Acquisition debts are
due at various dates but are generally repaid when lots are released from the loans based upon a specific release price, as defined in each respective loan
agreement, or the loans are refinanced at current prevailing rates. The construction and development debt is required to be repaid with proceeds from home
closings based upon a specific release price, as defined in each respective loan agreement. Certain of the construction and development debt agreements
include provisions that require minimum loan-to-value ratios. During the term of the loan, the lender may require the Company to obtain a third-party written
appraisal of the underlying real estate collateral. If the appraised fair value of the collateral securing the loan is below the specified minimum, the Company
may be required to make principal payments in order to maintain the required loan-to-value ratios. As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, the lenders have not
requested, and the Company has not obtained, any such appraisals. As of December 31, 2014, the Company had approximately $134.5 million available in
loan commitments to draw upon, of which approximately $87.3 million was available to us. At December 31, 2014 and 2013, the weighted average interest
rate on the Company’s outstanding debt was 6.56% and 4.7%, respectively. Interest rates charged under variable rate debt are based on LIBOR or Prime rate
indexes plus a margin rate ranging from 0.25% to 5.00%.

On October 21, 2014, the Company completed the private offering of $75.0 million in aggregate principal amount of 8.5% Senior Notes due 2017 (the
“Senior Notes”). The net proceeds from the offering were approximately $72.5 million, after paying the debt issuance costs and offering expenses. The net
proceeds from the offering were used for general corporate purposes, including to provide financing for the construction of homes, acquisition of entitled
land, development of lots and working capital.

The Senior Notes were issued under an Indenture, dated as of October 21, 2014 (the “Indenture”). The Company agreed to pay 8.5% interest per annum
on the principal amount of the Senior Notes, payable March 31, June 30, September 30 and December 31 of each year, commencing December 31, 2014.
Interest accrues on the Senior Notes from October 21, 2014, and the first interest payment date was December 31, 2014. The Senior Notes mature on October
21, 2017, unless earlier redeemed or repurchased.

The Senior Notes are guaranteed on an unsecured senior basis by each of the Company’s subsidiaries (the “Subsidiary Guarantors”). The Senior Notes
and the guarantees are the Company’s and the Subsidiary Guarantors’ senior unsecured obligations and rank equally in right of payment with all of the
Company’s and the Subsidiary Guarantors’ existing and future senior unsecured debt and senior in right of payment to all of the Company’s and the
Subsidiary Guarantors’ future subordinated debt. The Senior Notes and the guarantees are effectively subordinated to any of the Company’s and the
Subsidiary Guarantors’ existing and future secured debt, to the extent of the value of the assets securing such debt.

The Company may redeem the Senior Notes, in whole but not in part, at a price equal to 100% of the principal amount, plus accrued and unpaid interest,
plus a “make-whole” premium. Upon the occurrence of a change of control, the Company must offer to repurchase the Senior Notes for cash at a price equal to
101% of the principal amount of the Senior Notes to be repurchased plus accrued and unpaid interest to, but excluding, the repurchase date. Under the
Indenture, a “change of control” generally means (i) any person or group of related persons acquires more than 35% of the voting stock of the Company or (ii)
the Company transfers all or substantially all of its consolidated assets to any person or group of related persons, in each case other than PICO Holdings, Inc.
and its affiliates.
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The Indenture provides for customary “events of default” which could cause, or permit, the acceleration of the Senior Notes. Such events of default
include (i) a default by any payment of principal or interest; (ii) failure to comply with certain covenants contained in the Indenture; (iii) defaults in failure to
pay certain other indebtedness or the acceleration of certain other indebtedness prior to maturity; (iv) the failure to pay certain final judgments; and (vi)
certain events of bankruptcy or insolvency.

The Indenture limits the Company’s and its subsidiaries’ ability to, among other things, incur or guarantee additional unsecured and secured
indebtedness (provided that the Company may incur indebtedness so long as the Company’s ratio of indebtedness to consolidated tangible assets (on a pro
forma basis) would be equal to or less than 45% and provided that the aggregate amount of secured debt may not exceed the greater of $75 million or 30% of
the Company’s consolidated tangible assets); pay dividends and make certain investments and other restricted payments; acquire unimproved real property
in excess of $75 million per fiscal year or in excess of $150 million over the term of the Senior Notes, except to the extent funded with subordinated
obligations or the proceeds of equity issuances; create or incur certain liens; transfer or sell certain assets; and merge or consolidate with other companies or
transfer or sell all or substantially all of the Company’s consolidated assets. Additionally, the Indenture requires the Company to maintain at least $50
million of consolidated tangible assets not subject to liens securing indebtedness; maintain a minimum net worth of $175 million; maintain a minimum of
$15 million of unrestricted cash and/or cash equivalents; and not permit decreases in the amount of consolidated tangible assets by more than $25 million in
any fiscal year or more than $50 million at any time after the issuance of the Senior Notes.

As of December 31, 2014, we were in compliance with the applicable covenants under the Indenture.

Notes payable and Senior notes consisted of the following (in thousands):

 December 31, 2014  December 31, 2013

  Variable Interest Rate:    
Interest rate of 3.94% to 4.19%, payments due through 2014 $ —  $ 3,535
Interest rate of 3.94% to 4.19%, payments due through 2015 20,156  13,772
Interest rates of 3.66% to 3.94%, payments due through 2016 25,239  —
Interest rate of 3.66%, payments due through 2017 6,984  —
Interest rate of 5%, payments due through 2015 3,990  6,018
Interest rate of 5.5%, payments due through 2016 966  —
    

  Fixed Interest Rate:    
Interest rate of 5%, payments due from 2014 —  425
Interest rate of 5%, payments due through 2015 1,962  5,048
Interest rate of 6.5%, payments due through 2036 —  548
Interest rate of 10%, payments due through 2014 —  1,604
Interest rate of 10%, payments due through 2017 1,604  —
  Total construction and development debt 60,901  30,950
  Senior notes 74,550  —
Total debt $ 135,451  $ 30,950

The Company has reclassified the presentation of prior periods debt balances to be consistent with the presentation of debt balances as of December
31, 2014.
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The Company's future minimum debt repayments are as follows (in thousands):

Year ending December 31,  
2015 $ 26,108
2016 26,205
2017 83,138
Thereafter —
Total $ 135,451
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9. Fair Value Disclosures
 

The accounting guidance regarding fair value disclosures defines fair value as the price that would be received for selling an asset or the price paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.

The Company determines the fair values of its financial instruments based on the fair value hierarchy established in accordance with ASC Topic 820 -
Fair Value Measurements, which requires an entity to maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs when measuring
fair value. The classification of a financial asset or liability within the hierarchy is based upon the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement. The fair value hierarchy prioritizes the inputs into three levels that may be used to measure fair value:

• Level 1—Quoted prices for identical instruments in active markets

• Level 2—Quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets; quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are inactive; and
model-derived valuations in which all significant inputs and significant value drivers are observable in active markets at measurement date

• Level 3—Valuations derived from techniques where one or more significant inputs or significant value drivers are unobservable in active markets
at measurement date

Estimated Fair Value of Financial Instruments Not Carried at Fair Value:

As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, the fair values of cash and cash equivalents, accounts payable and receivable approximated their carrying values
because of the short-term nature of these assets or liabilities. The estimated fair value of the Company’s debt is based on cash flow models discounted at
current market interest rates for similar instruments, which are based on Level 3 inputs. There were no transfers between fair value hierarchy levels during the
years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013.

The following presents the carrying value and fair value of the Company’s financial instruments which are not carried at fair value (in thousands):

 December 31, 2014  December 31, 2013

 
Carrying
Amount  

Estimated Fair
 Value  

Carrying
Amount  

Estimated Fair
 Value

Financial liabilities:        
Notes payable $ 60,901  $ 62,976  $ 30,950  $ 32,044
Senior notes 74,550  87,167  —  —
Total debt $ 135,451  $ 150,143  $ 30,950  $ 32,044

Estimated Fair Value of Contingent Consideration

The contingent consideration arrangement relating to Citizens Acquisition requires the Company to pay up to a maximum of $6.0 million of additional
consideration based on achievement of performance milestones over a five year period. The estimated fair value of the contingent consideration of $3.5
million as of December 31, 2014 was estimated based on applying the income approach and a weighted probability of achieving the performance milestones.
See Note 6 for a description of the level 3 inputs used in determining fair value of contingent consideration.

Non-Financial Fair Value Measurements

Non-financial assets and liabilities include items such as inventory and long lived assets that are measured at fair value when acquired and resulting from
impairment, if deemed necessary. See Note 6 for a discussion of the non-financial measurements applied to the Citizens Acquisition. There were no other non-
financial fair value measurements during the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013.
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10. Stock-Based Compensation

The LTIP was adopted in July 2013 and provides for the grant of equity-based awards, including options to purchase shares of Class A common stock,
Class A stock appreciation rights, Class A restricted stock, Class A restricted stock units and performance awards. The LTIP will automatically expire on the
tenth anniversary of its effective date. The Company’s board of directors may terminate or amend the LTIP at any time, subject to any stockholder approval
required by applicable law, rule or regulation.

The number of shares of the Company’s Class A common stock that may be issued under the LTIP is 1,834,300 shares. To the extent that shares of the
Company’s Class A common stock subject to an outstanding option, stock appreciation right, stock award or performance award granted under the LTIP are
not issued or delivered by reason of the expiration, termination, cancellation or forfeiture of such award or the settlement of such award in cash, then such
shares of the Company’s Class A common stock generally shall again be available under the LTIP, subject to certain exceptions.

During the year ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Company granted an aggregate of 66,561 and 430,333 RSUs respectively to certain of its
employees and members of its board of directors under the LTIP. During the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company also granted 166,081 Options to
certain of its employees under the LTIP. No Options were granted during the year ended December 31, 2013. The RSUs and Options granted to the
Company’s employees during the year ended December 31, 2014 are subject to the following vesting schedule: a) ten percent will vest on the first
anniversary of the grant date, b) twenty percent will vest on the second anniversary of the grant date, c) thirty percent will vest on the third anniversary of the
grant date and d) forty percent will vest on the fourth anniversary of the grant date. The RSUs granted to certain members of the Company’s board of directors
will vest on the first anniversary of the grant date. The RSUs granted to the Company’s employees during the year ended December 31, 2013 are subject to
the following vesting schedule: a) one-third vested on December 31, 2013, b) one-third vested on the first anniversary of the grant date and c) one-third will
vest on the second anniversary of the grant date. The RSUs granted to certain members of the Company’s board of directors vested on the first anniversary of
the grant date. During the year ended December 31, 2014, 148,778 RSUs and no Options vested and 16,898 RSUs and 16,476 Options were forfeited. During
the year ended December 31, 2013, 140,778 RSUs vested and no RSUs were forfeited. The grant-date fair value of the RSUs and Options granted during the
period ended December 31, 2014 was $2.3 million.

During the year ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Company recognized $3.6 million and $2.2 million, respectively, as stock-based compensation
expense, which is included in general and administrative expense in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income or
loss. No stock-based compensation awards were outstanding during 2012, accordingly, no stock-based compensation expense was recognized for the year
ended December 31, 2012.

A summary of RSU activity is as follows:

Outstanding and unvested at January 1, 2013 —
Granted 430,333
Vested (140,778)

Outstanding and unvested at December 31, 2013 289,555
     Granted 66,561
      Vested (148,778)
      Forfeited (16,898)
Outstanding and unvested at December 31, 2014 190,440
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The following table summarizes the Options activity for the year ended December 31, 2014:

 Shares  

Weighted
Average

Exercise Price  

Weighted
Average

Remaining
Contractual

Term (in years)  

Aggregate
Intrinsic Value

(in
thousands)(1)

Outstanding at December 31, 2013 —  —  —  —
Options granted 166,081  $ 16.20  9.16  —
Options exercised —  —  —  —
Options forfeited (16,476)  —  —  —
Outstanding at December 31, 2014 149,605  $ 16.20  9.16  —

(1) The aggregate intrinsic value is calculated as the amount by which the fair value of the underlying stock exceeds the exercise price of the Option. The
fair value of the Company’s Class A common stock as of December 31, 2014 was $10.50 per share.

The Company used the Black-Scholes option pricing model to determine the fair value of Options. The assumptions used to estimate the fair value of
Options granted during the year ended December 31, 2014 were as follows:

Expected term 6.5 years
Expected volatility % 53.46%
Risk free interest rate % 1.81%
Dividend yield % —
    

Unrecognized compensation cost for RSUs and Options issued under the LTIP was $2.7 million (net of estimated forfeitures) as of December 31, 2014.
Approximately $1.8 million of the unrecognized compensation costs are related to RSUs and $923,000 are related to Options. The expense is expected to be
recognized over a weighted average period of 1.5 years for the RSUs and 3.2 years for the Options.
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11. Income Taxes:

The Company was incorporated in the State of Delaware during May 2013 as a wholly-owned subsidiary of PICO for the purpose of facilitating the IPO,
which occurred in July 2013, and to become a holding company owning, as its principal asset, membership interests in UCP, LLC. UCP, LLC is a holding
company for the entities that directly or indirectly own and operate the Company’s business. Prior to July 2013 UCP, LLC was a "disregarded entity" for
federal and state income tax purposes.

Because of the Company's current year loss and the full valuation allowance against the deferred tax assets, there was no provision for federal or state
income taxes for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013.

A reconciliation of income tax computed at the statutory federal income tax rate to the provision (benefit) for income taxes included in the
accompanying statements of operations and comprehensive loss is as follows for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013:

 2014  2013

Income tax (benefit) provision at federal statutory rate 35 %  35 %
State income tax, net of federal benefit — %  2 %
Non-benefited losses from valuation allowance (22)%  (17)%
Noncontrolling interest (12)%  (19)%
Other permanent items (1)%  (1)%
Effective tax rate — %  — %

Total deferred tax assets and liabilities consist of the following as of December 31, 2014 and 2013 (in thousands):

 2014  2013

Deferred tax assets:    
Net operating loss and tax credit carry forwards $ 3,317  $ 1,689
Outside basis difference in partnership 5,192  5,061
Other 83  —
Valuation allowance (8,592)  (6,750)
  Net deferred tax assets $ —  $ —

The Company had deferred tax assets at December 31, 2014 and 2013 of approximately $8.6 million and $6.8 million, respectively, relating principally
to net operating losses and the deductible temporary differences attributable to the Company’s investment in UCP, LLC. In assessing the recoverability of
deferred tax assets, management considers whether it is more likely than not that the assets will be realized.  The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is
dependent upon the generation of sufficient future taxable income during the periods in which those temporary differences become deductible.

The Company has considered the following possible sources of taxable income when assessing the realization of its deferred tax assets: (1) future
reversals of existing taxable temporary differences; (2) taxable income in prior carryback years; (3) future taxable income exclusive of reversing temporary
differences and carryforwards; and (4) tax planning strategies. Based upon the assessment of these possible sources of taxable income, there is not sufficient
positive evidence to enable the Company to conclude that the benefits of its deferred tax assets will be realized. Therefore, the Company has recorded a full
valuation allowance against its deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2014 and 2013. As the Citizens Acquisition was a purchase of assets for federal income
tax purposes, acquired intangibles and goodwill are also deductible for tax purposes.

As of December 31, 2014, the Company recorded a valuation allowance of approximately $8.6 million. The Company will continue to assess the
recoverability of its deferred tax assets and the need for a valuation allowance on an ongoing basis. In making this assessment, management is required to
consider all available positive and negative evidence to determine, whether, it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will
be realized in future periods.

At December 31, 2014, the Company had net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $7.4 million for federal income tax purposes and $8.0
million for state income tax purposes.  The net operating loss carryforwards, if not utilized, will begin to
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expire in 2033 and 2029 for federal and state purposes, respectively. At December 31, 2014 the Company had general business credit carryforwards of
approximately $300,000 for federal income tax purposes that, if not utilized, will begin to expire in 2033.

 

Measurement of uncertain tax positions is based on judgment regarding the largest amount that is greater than 50% likely of being realized upon the
ultimate settlement with a taxing authority.  As a result of the implementation of this guidance, the Company has not identified any uncertain tax positions
and accordingly, has no unrecognized tax benefits as of the tax year ended December 31, 2014.

The Company recognizes interest and/or penalties related to uncertain tax positions in income tax expense. There were no accrued interest or penalties
associated with any unrecognized tax benefits as of December 31, 2014 or 2013.

The Company does not expect any material adjustment to its reserves within the next twelve months. The Company is subject to taxation in the U.S. and
various state jurisdictions.  The Company’s tax years starting from 2013 remain open in various tax jurisdictions. There are no ongoing examinations by
taxing authorities at this time.  

 
12. Segment Information
 

Through the third quarter of 2014 the Company reported our results under two reportable segments, homebuilding and land development which are
also our core operations. Subsequent to the Citizens Acquisition, during the fourth quarter of 2014, the Company segmented its operating activities into two
geographical regions and currently has homebuilding reportable segments in the West and Southeast and a land development reportable segment in the West.
As such all homebuilding financial information for fiscal years 2013 and 2012 is shown under the West reportable segments.

Segment State
Homebuilding  
   West California, Washington
   Southeast North Carolina, South Carolina, Tennessee
Land development California, Washington

Each reportable segment includes real estate of similar economic characteristics, including similar historical and expected future long-term gross
margin percentages, product types, geography, production processes and methods of distribution.

The reportable segments follow the same accounting policies as the consolidated financial statements described in Note 2. Operating results of each
reportable segment are not necessarily indicative of the results that would have been achieved had the reportable segment been an independent, stand-alone
entity during the periods presented.
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Financial information relating to reportable segments is as follows (in thousands): 

 Revenues  Gross Margin

 2014  2013  2012  2014  2013  2012

Homebuilding            
     West $ 128,334  $ 72,511  $ 14,060  $ 21,858  $ 15,011  $ 4,228
     Southeast 27,083  —  —  3,982  —  —
         Homebuilding 155,417  72,511  14,060  25,840  15,011  4,228
Land development (a) 32,513  20,215  44,066  7,047  6,395  11,190
Corporate and unallocated (b) 3,253  —  —  425  —  —
         Total $ 191,183  $ 92,726  $ 58,126  $ 33,312  $ 21,406  $ 15,418

(a) Land development operations for all the periods presented were in the West region.

(b) Corporate and unallocated includes revenues from construction management services which relates to our Citizens Acquisition and is not attributable
to the homebuilding and land development operations.

Reconciliation to net (loss) income

 2014  2013  2012

Gross margin $ 33,312  $ 21,406  $ 15,418
Sales and marketing 13,748  6,647  2,875
General and administrative 27,406  19,368  10,103
(Loss) income from operations (7,842)  (4,609)  2,440
Other income, net 121  322  578
Net (loss) income $ (7,721)  $ (4,287)  $ 3,018

Total assets for each of our reportable and geographic segments at December 31, 2014 and 2013, are shown in the table below (amounts in thousands):

 December 31

 2014  2013

Homebuilding    
      West $ 218,902  $ 108,594
      Southeast 47,004  —
         Homebuilding 265,906  108,594
Land development (c) 55,787  68,254
Corporate and unallocated (d) 55,758  90,472
         Total $ 377,451  $ 267,320

(c) Land development operations for all the periods presented were in the West region.

(d) Corporate and unallocated assets primarily include cash and cash equivalents which are maintained centrally and used according to the cash flow
requirements of all reportable segments.

The Company evaluates the performance of the operating segments based upon gross margin. “Gross Margin” is defined as operating revenues less
cost of sales (cost of construction and acquisition, interest, abandonment, impairment and other cost of sales related expenses). Corporate sales, general and
administrative expense and other non-recurring gains or losses are
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reflected within overall corporate expenses as this constitutes the Company’s primary business objective - supporting all segments. Corporate expenses are
not particularly identifiable to any one segment.

13. Noncontrolling interest

Prior to the completion of the IPO and related transactions on July 23, 2013, UCP, LLC was a wholly owned subsidiary of PICO. As of December 31,
2014, the Company holds approximately 42.8% economic interest in UCP, LLC and is its sole managing member. As of December 31, 2013, the Company's
economic interest in UCP, LLC was 42.3%. In accordance with applicable accounting guidance, these transactions are accounted for at historical cost which
resulted in recording an initial carrying value for the noncontrolling interest of $125.7 million and a $782,000 increase in members’ equity during the year
ended December 31, 2013. As of December 31, 2014, the noncontrolling interest balance was $124.0 million as compared to $126.5 million as
of December 31, 2013.

The carrying value and ending balance of the noncontrolling interest at December 31, 2014 and 2013 was calculated as follows (in thousands):

 
December 31,

2014  
December 31,

2013

Beginning balance $ 126,462  $ 125,680
Loss attributable to noncontrolling interest (2,728)  (137)
Stock-based compensation related to noncontrolling interest 1,753  919
Stock repurchase related to noncontrolling interest (801)  —
Distribution to noncontrolling interest (674)  —
Ending balance $ 124,012  $ 126,462

14. Commitments and Contingencies
 

Lawsuits, claims and proceedings have been or may be instituted or asserted against the Company in the normal course of business, including actions
brought on behalf of various classes of claimants. The Company is also subject to local, state and federal laws and regulations related to land development
activities, home construction standards, sales practices, employment practices and environmental protection. As a result, the Company is subject to periodic
examinations or inquiries by agencies administering these laws and regulations. 

The Company records a reserve for potential legal claims and regulatory matters when they are probable of occurring and a potential loss is reasonably
estimable. The accrual for these matters is based on facts and circumstances specific to each matter and the Company revises these estimates when necessary. 

In view of the inherent difficulty of predicting outcomes of legal claims and related contingencies, the Company generally cannot predict their ultimate
resolution, related timing or any eventual loss. If the evaluations indicate loss contingencies that could be material are not probable, but are reasonably
possible, disclosure of the nature with an estimate of possible range of losses or a statement that such loss is not reasonably estimable is made. The Company
is not involved in any material litigation nor, to the Company's knowledge, is any material litigation threatened against it. At December 31,
2014 and December 31, 2013, the Company did not have any accruals for asserted or unasserted matters.

The Company is evaluating the impact of recent regulatory action under the federal Endangered Species Act on a project that it is developing in
Washington State. Recent regulatory action involving the listing of a certain species of gopher as “threatened” under the federal Endangered Species Act
may adversely affect this project, for example by imposing new restrictions and requirements on our activities there and possibly delaying, halting or
limiting, our development activities. However, an estimate of the amount of impact cannot be made as there is not enough information to do so due to the
lack of clarity regarding any restrictions that may be imposed on our development activities or other remedial measures that we may be
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required to take. Accordingly, no liability has been recorded at December 31, 2014. The Company will continue to assess the impact of this regulatory action
and will record any future liability as additional information becomes available. 

The Company obtains surety bonds from third parties in the normal course of business to ensure completion of certain infrastructure improvements at its
projects. The beneficiaries of the bonds are various municipalities. As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Company had outstanding surety bonds
totaling $38.0 million and $10.3 million, respectively. In the event that any such surety bond issued by a third party is called because the required
improvements are not completed, the Company could be obligated to reimburse the issuer of the bond.

        
The Company leases some of its offices under non-cancelable operating leases that expire at various dates through 2020.  Rent expense for the years

ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, for office space was $1.1 million, $541,000 and $270,000, respectively.

Future minimum payments under all operating leases for the years ending December 31 are as follows (in thousands):

2015 $ 1,097
2016 944
2017 914
2018 826
2019 359
2020 and thereafter 159
Total $ 4,299

15. Incentive Compensation Plan and Employee Benefits

Incentive Compensation Plan
 

Certain employees of the Company are eligible to receive an annual incentive compensation award based on various performance measures. The
incentive compensation plan is discretionary.  For the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, compensation of $255,000, $913,000 and $200,000
was earned under this plan, respectively. The 2014, 2013 and 2012 incentive compensation was paid in cash. The incentive award is recorded within general
and administrative expenses in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income or loss.

Employee Benefits

The Company maintains a 401(k) defined contribution plan, covering substantially all employees of the Company.  Matching contributions are based on
a percentage of employee compensation.  In addition, the Company may make a discretionary profit sharing contribution at the end of the fiscal year within
limits established by the Employee Retirement Income Securities Act.  Total contribution expense to the plan for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013,
and 2012 was $556,000, $403,000 and $305,000, respectively.
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16. Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

The following tables present certain unaudited consolidated quarterly financial information for each of the four fiscal quarters in the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013.  This quarterly information has been prepared on the same basis as the audited consolidated financial statements
and includes all adjustments, consisting only of normal recurring adjustments, necessary for a fair presentation of the information for the periods
presented.  The results for these quarterly periods are not necessarily indicative of the operating results for a full year or any future period.

 Three Months Ended

 
March 31, 

2014  
June 30,

2014  
September 30,

2014  
December 31,

2014

 (Unaudited)
 (Dollars in thousands, except per share data)

Homebuilding revenue $ 25,446  $ 50,010  $ 35,086  $ 44,875
Land development revenue 174  12,075  20,264  —
Other revenue —  1,518  400  1,335
    Total revenue 25,620  63,603  55,750  46,210
Gross margin – homebuilding 4,646  8,934  5,241  7,019
Gross margin – land development 28  2,834  4,185  —
Gross margin- other revenue —  189  48  188
    Gross margin 4,674  11,957  9,474  7,207
        
Sales and marketing expenses 2,556  3,765  3,486  3,941
General and administrative expenses 6,271  6,909  6,737  7,489
  Total expenses 8,827  10,674  10,223  11,430
Other income 73  13  17  18
Net (loss) income $ (4,080)  $ 1,296  $ (732)  $ (4,205)

Net (loss) income attributable to stockholders of UCP, Inc. $ (2,496)  $ 179  $ (666)  $ (2,010)

Net (loss) income per common share:        
Basic $ (0.32)  $ 0.02  $ (0.08)  $ (0.25)
Diluted $ (0.32)  $ 0.02  $ (0.08)  $ (0.25)
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 Three Months Ended

 March 31, 2013  
June 30,

2013  
September 30,

2013  
December 31,

2013

 (Unaudited)
 (Dollars in thousands, except per share data)

Homebuilding revenue $ 4,333  $ 20,907  $ 21,369  $ 25,902
Land development revenue 7,470  6,815  2,250  3,680
    Total revenue 11,803  27,722  23,619  29,582
Gross margin – homebuilding 873  4,425  4,811  4,902
Gross margin – land development 2,890  1,679  817  1,009
    Gross margin 3,763  6,104  5,628  5,911
Sales and marketing expenses 1,132  2,099  1,516  1,900
General and administrative expenses 3,480  5,326  4,503  6,059
  Total expenses 4,612  7,425  6,019  7,959
Other income 39 224 55 4
Net loss $ (810)  $ (1,097)  $ (336)  $ (2,044)

Net loss attributable to stockholders of UCP, Inc. $ —  $ —  $ (15)  $ (1,926)

Net loss per common share:        
Basic and diluted     $ —  $ (0.25)

ITEM 9.  CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A.  CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures.  The Company maintains disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the
Exchange Act) designed to provide reasonable assurance that the information required to be disclosed by the Company in the reports that it files or submits
under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms.  

These include controls and procedures designed to ensure that this information is accumulated and communicated to the Company’s management,
including its Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.  Management, with
the participation of the Chief Executive and Chief Financial Officers, evaluated the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures as of
December 31, 2014.  Based on this evaluation, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that the Company’s
disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of December 31, 2014 at the reasonable assurance level.

Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal
control over financial reporting. Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the SEC, internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under
the supervision of, the Company's principal executive and principal financial officer and effected by the Company's board of directors, management and
other personnel, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with U.S. GAAP and includes those policies and procedures that:

Pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the
Company;
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Provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP,
and that receipts and expenditures of the Company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the
Company; and

Provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the Company's assets that
could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Management performed an assessment of the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2014, utilizing
the criteria described in the “Internal Control - Integrated Framework” issued in 2013 by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission. The objective of this assessment was to determine whether the Company's internal control over financial reporting was effective as of
December 31, 2014. Based on this assessment, management has determined that the Company's internal control over financial reporting was effective as of
December 31, 2014.

Management's assessment of and conclusion on the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting did not include the internal controls of
Citizens, an entity of which we acquired 100% of the assets in April, 2014 and constituted 14.1% of our total assets, 15.9% of our total revenues and 18.9%
of our comprehensive net loss as of and for the year ended December 31, 2014. Due to the timing of the acquisition management did not assess the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting at Citizens.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting.  

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f)) during the quarter ended
December 31, 2014 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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ITEM 9B.  OTHER INFORMATION

None.

PART III

ITEM 10.  DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The information required by this item will be set forth in the sections entitled “Proposal 1-Election of Directors,” “Corporate Governance” and
“Executive Officers” in our definitive Proxy Statement for our 2015 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and is incorporated herein by reference.

Our Board of Directors has adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that applies to our directors, officers and employees. The Code of
Business Conduct and Ethics is designed to deter wrongdoing and promote the following, among other matters:

• honest and ethical conduct, including the ethical handling of actual or apparent conflicts of interest;

• full, fair, accurate, timely and understandable disclosure in our communications with and reports to our stockholders, including reports filed

with the SEC, and other public communications;

• compliance with applicable governmental laws, rules and regulations;

• prompt internal reporting of violations of the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics to appropriate persons; and

• accountability for adherence to the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics.

Any substantive amendment to or waiver of the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics particularly applicable to or directed at our directors or
executive officers will be disclosed in a Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC within four business days of such action and on the Company’s
website for a period of not less than 12 months. A copy of the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics is available on our website at
www.unioncommunityllc.com.

ITEM 11.  EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this item will be set forth in the sections entitled “Corporate Governance,” “2014 Executive Compensation” and “2014
Director Compensation” in our definitive Proxy Statement for our 2015 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 12.  SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT, AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by this item will be set forth in the sections entitled “Beneficial Ownership of Our Common Stock” and “Equity
Compensation Plan Information” in our definitive Proxy Statement for our 2015 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 13.  CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTORS' INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this item will be set forth in the section entitled “Corporate Governance” in our definitive Proxy Statement for our 2015
Annual Meeting of Stockholders and is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 14.  PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES
     

The information required by this item will be set forth in the section entitled “Proposal 2-Ratification of Selection of Independent Registered Public
Accounting Firm” in our definitive Proxy Statement for our 2015 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and is incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV

ITEM 15.  EXHIBITS, AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

The following is a list of documents filed as a part of this report

(a)(1)    Financial Statements Included herein at pages 74 through 107.

(a)(2)    Financial Statement Schedules
 

Schedules are omitted as the required information is not present or is not present in amounts sufficient to require submission of the schedule, or because
the information required is included in the consolidated financial statements or notes thereto.

(a)(3)    Exhibits

The Exhibit Index attached hereto is hereby incorporated by reference to the Item.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Date: March 16, 2015 UCP, Inc.
 
 
By:  /s/ Dustin L. Bogue

Dustin L. Bogue
Chief Executive Officer
President and Director

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the
registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date
   

/s/ Michael C. Cortney Chairman of the Board of Directors March 16, 2015
Michael C. Cortney   
   

/s/ Dustin L. Bogue Chief Executive Officer, President and Director March 16, 2015
Dustin L. Bogue (Principal Executive Officer)  
   

/s/ William J. La Herran Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer March 16, 2015
William J. La Herran (Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)  
   

/s/ John R. Hart Director March 16, 2015
John R. Hart   
   

/s/ Peter H. Lori Director March 16, 2015
Peter H. Lori   
   

/s/ Maxim C. W. Webb Director March 16, 2015
Maxim C. W. Webb   
   

/s/ Kathleen R. Wade Director March 16, 2015
Kathleen R. Wade   
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UCP, INC.

ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K
December 31, 2014

INDEX OF EXHIBITS

Exhibit
Number

Exhibit
Description

3.1
 

Amended & Restated Certificate of Incorporation of UCP, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2014 (filed May 12, 2014))

3.2
 

Amended and Restated Bylaws of UCP, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
for the quarter ended March 31, 2014 (filed May 12, 2014))

4.1
 

Specimen Class A Common Stock Certificate of UCP, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Form S-1/A (filed
May 21, 2013))

4.2
 

Investor Rights Agreement between PICO Holdings, Inc. and UCP, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2014 (filed May 12, 2014))

4.3
 

Indenture, dated October 21, 2014, among UCP, Inc., the subsidiaries of the Company signatory thereto and Wilmington Trust, National
Association, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (filed October 23, 2014))

4.4 Form of 8.5% Notes due 2017 (included in Exhibit 4.3)
10.1*

 
UCP, Inc. 2013 Long-Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
for the quarter ended March 31, 2014 (filed May 12, 2014))

10.2*
 

Registration Rights Agreement between UCP, Inc. and PICO Holdings, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2014 (filed May 12, 2014))

10.3*
 

Employment Agreement between UCP, Inc. and Dustin L. Bogue (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2014 (filed May 12, 2014))

10.4*
 

Employment Agreement between UCP, Inc. and William J. La Herran (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2014 (filed May 12, 2014))

10.7
 

Transition Services Agreement between PICO Holdings, Inc. and UCP, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Company’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2014 (filed May 12, 2014))

10.8
 

Tax Receivable Agreement among UCP, Inc., UCP, LLC and PICO Holdings, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2014 (filed May 12, 2014))

10.9
 

Exchange Agreement among UCP, Inc., UCP, LLC and PICO Holdings, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the Company’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2014 (filed May 12, 2014))

10.10
 

Second Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Operating Agreement of UCP, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.9 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2014 (filed May 12, 2014))

10.11
 

Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated as of March 25, 2014, between UCP, LLC and Citizens Homes, Inc. (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.10 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2014 (filed May 12, 2014))

10.12*
 

UCP, Inc. 2014 Short-Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K
(filed May 16, 2014))

21.1 List of subsidiaries of UCP, Inc.
23.1 Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP on UCP, Inc.
31.1

 
Certification of Dustin L. Bogue, Chief Executive Officer, pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

31.2
 

Certification of William J. La Herran, Chief Financial Officer, pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
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32.1
 

Certification of Dustin L. Bogue, Chief Executive Officer, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.2
 

Certification of William J. La Herran, Chief Financial Officer, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

101.INS XBRL Instance Document
101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

 * Management compensatory plan or arrangement

111



Exhibit 21.1

UCP, Inc.  
  

List of Subsidiaries  
  

Company Name Country/State of Incorporation/Formation
UCP, LLC Delaware
Benchmark Builders North Carolina, LLC Delaware
Benchmark Clovis I, LLC Delaware
Benchmark Communities, LLC Delaware
Benchmark Harlan Ranch, LLC Delaware
Benchmark Madera I, LLC Delaware
Benchmark Soledad I, LLC Delaware
Benchmark West Dunne, LLC Delaware
BMC Almaden San Jose, LLC Delaware
BMC Carnation, LLC Delaware
BMC Cornerstone Ripon II, LLC Delaware
BMC Babbs Creek Gilroy, LLC Delaware
BMC East Garrison, LLC Delaware
BMC EG Bungalow, LLC Delaware
BMC EG Courtyard, LLC Delaware
BMC EG Garden, LLC Delaware
BMC EG Grove, LLC Delaware
BMC EG Towns, LLC Delaware
BMC EG Village, LLC Delaware
BMC Freestone, LLC Delaware
BMC Heights, LLC Delaware
BMC HP, LLC Delaware
BMC Meadowood II, LLC Delaware
BMC MCITO, LLC Delaware
BMC Realty Advisors, Inc. California
BMC Red Hawk, LLC Delaware
BMC Pine Ridge, LLC Delaware
BMC Promise Way, LLC Delaware
BMC Rancho Etiwanda, LLC Delaware
BMC Sagewood, LLC Delaware
BMC Sagewood 40’s, LLC Delaware
BMC Sagewood 60’s, LLC Delaware
BMC Shields Locan, LLC Delaware
BMC Stein, LLC Delaware
BMC Touchstone, LLC Delaware
BMC Willow Brook, LLC Delaware

BMC WP, LLC Delaware
BMCH California, LLC Delaware
BMCH North Carolina, LLC Delaware
BMCH South Carolina, LLC Delaware
BMCH Tennessee, LLC Delaware



Exhibit 21.1

Builders BMC, Inc. Delaware
Fresno Land and Cattle Company, LLC Delaware
UCP Barclay II, LLC Delaware
UCP Barclay III, LLC Delaware
UCP Brandywine, LLC Delaware
UCP Chateau Grove, LLC Delaware
UCP Cochrane Morgan Hill, LLC Delaware
UCP Creekside Galt, LLC Delaware
UCP East Garrison, LLC Delaware
UCP Hillcrest Hollister, LLC Delaware
UCP Jackson Tower, LLC Delaware
UCP Jovita, LLC Delaware
UCP Kerman, LLC Delaware
UCP Meadowood, LLC Delaware
UCP Meadowood III, LLC Delaware
UCP Montecito, LLC Delaware
UCP Monterey Morgan Hill, LLC Delaware
UCP Poulsbo, LLC Delaware
UCP Quail Run, LLC Delaware
UCP Sagewood, LLC Delaware
UCP Santa Ana Hollister, LLC Delaware
UCP Soledad, LLC Delaware
UCP Tapestry, LLC Delaware
UCP Willow Brook, LLC Delaware



Exhibit 23.1
 

 
 CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference in this Registration Statement No. 333-190077 on Form S-8 and Registration Statement No. 333-197919 on
Form S-3 of our report dated March 13, 2015, relating to the consolidated financial statements of UCP, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company") appearing in
the Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2014.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

San Diego, California

March 13, 2015



EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION BY CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a)

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Dustin L. Bogue, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of UCP, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the

circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the periods covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of

operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and

15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material

information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which

this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal controls over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide

reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and then preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally

accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure

controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's

fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial

reporting; and



5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the

audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect

the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date:  March 16, 2015

/s/ Dustin L. Bogue

Dustin L. Bogue

President and Chief Executive Officer



EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION BY CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a)

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, William La Herran, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of UCP, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the

circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the periods covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of

operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and

15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material

information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which

this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal controls over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide

reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and then preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally

accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure

controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's

fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial

reporting; and



5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the

audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect

the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date:  March 16, 2015

/s/ William J. La Herran

William J. La Herran

Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer



EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION BY CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350

(SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002)

In connection with the Annual Report of UCP, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2014, as filed with the

Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Dustin L. Bogue, President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify,

pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to the best of my knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date:  March 16, 2015

/s/ Dustin L. Bogue

Dustin L. Bogue

President and Chief Executive Officer



EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION BY CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350

(SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002)

In connection with the Annual Report of UCP, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2014, as filed with the

Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, William J. La Herran, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to

18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to the best of my knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date:  March 16, 2015

/s/ William J. La Herran

William J. La Herran

Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
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